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Mission

To provide sustainable and 

innovative waste management 

solutions that exceed stakeholder 

expectations.

Vision

To be the leading integrated waste 

management company in Africa 

and be considered amongst the 

best in the world.
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Our Report
The purpose of the Integrated Annual Report is to 
promote accountability to stakeholders and communities 
for decisions taken by Pikitup. The Integrated Annual 
Report also sets out Pikitup’s objectives, strategies and 
risks and demonstrates the impact of and value Pikitup’s 
activities has created for its stakeholders and the broader 
environment, and, importantly, what stakeholders should 
expect from Pikitup going forward in relation to the 
implementation of its strategies and creating value for 
its stakeholders.

Report structure 
As a municipal entity, the National Treasury’s Municipal 
Finance Management Act (MFMA) Annual Report 
Circular 63 requires that Pikitup adopt the following 
format for the Integrated Annual Report: 

•	 Chapter	1:	Leadership	and	corporate	profile	

•	 Chapter	2:	Governance	

•	 Chapter	3:	Service	delivery	performance

•	 Chapter	4:	Organisational	development	performance	

•	 Chapter	5:	Financial	performance	

•	 Chapter	6:	Auditor-General’s	findings

Scope and boundary
This Integrated Annual Report Covers Pikitup’s economic, 
environmental, social and technical performance during 
the 2014/15 financial year spanning 1 July 2014 to 
30 June 2015. Unless otherwise stated, the figures and 
commentary included in the report apply to the whole 
municipal entity. 

The report reflects our performance against the financial 
and non-financial issues most critical to the organisation. 
These are encapsulated in our material themes: waste 
minimisation; extracting value from waste; service 
delivery; and financial sustainability (our material themes 
are discussed on page 17).

Frameworks
Pikitup takes its reporting guidance from the following 
regulations, codes and frameworks:

•	 Section	46(1)	on	the	Municipal	Systems	Act	(MSA)	

•	 Municipal	Finance	Management	Act	(MFMA)

•	 Public	Finance	Management	Act	(PFMA)	

•	 Millennium	Development	Goals	(MDG)

•	 Sustainable	Development	Goals	(SDG)

•	 Joburg	2040	Growth	and	Development	Strategy	(GDS)

•	 2012/16	Integrated	Development	Plan	(IDP)

•	 Generally	Recognised	Accounting	Practice	(GRAP)

•	 International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRS)	

•	 King	III	Code	on	Corporate	Governance	(King	III)	

•	 International	Integrated	Reporting	Council’s	(IIRC)	
International <IR> Framework

•	 The	Global	Reporting	Initiative	(GRI)	G4	Framework

Our reporting journey
Now into our second year of integrated reporting, we 
believe this report represents our continued efforts 
to improve the quality of our disclosure as well as the 
robustness of our management of key sustainability 
issues. We recognise that room for improvement exists 
and plan to build on the progress made in future years. 
To this end, we welcome feedback which can be sent to 
www.pikitup.co.za
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Assurance
The report contains Pikitup’s audited annual financial statements, the audit of Pikitup’s predetermined outcomes or 
organisational key performance indicators, and the Auditor-General of South Africa’s report. The report was assessed 
by Group Governance and rated to ascertain whether minimum disclosure requirements were adhered to in terms of 
the following: 

INTERNATIONAL INTEGRATED REPORTING COUNCIL’S 
(IIRC) INTERNATIONAL <IR> FRAMEWORK

MFMA: CIRCULAR 63 ANNUAL REPORTING REqUIREMENTS 

Organisational overview and external environment Statements from:

– The Member of the Mayoral Committee

– The Chairperson of the Board

Governance Governance:

– Governance structures

– Intergovernmental relations

– Public accountability participation

– Supply chain management, by-laws, oversight committees

– Risk management

– Anti-corruption and fraud

– Disclosure of financial interests

– Councillors and committee

Business model Service delivery 

Risks and opportunities Organisational development performance 

Strategy and resource allocation Financial performance

Performance Appendices; annual financial statements 

Outlook

Basis of preparation and presentation

All recommendations were considered and the necessary changes were affected, where possible. In addition, the Audit 
Committee reviewed the Integrated Annual Report to ensure reliability, completeness and materiality of information. 
The mitigation strategies on the assessment and outcomes of the entity’s 2014/15 Integrated Annual Report in terms of 
the Integrated Reporting and MFMA Circular 63 has been included as part of this report (refer to Section 4, Commitment 
by the Board of Directors of Chapter 6 – Auditor-General’s Findings).

The entity will continue to refine its approach in future integrated annual reports to further align with international 
reporting standards and to promote consistency and accountability with respect to its role in creating and sustaining 
value for all citizens of the City of Johannesburg (CoJ). 
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Corporate Profile and Overview

Who are we
Pikitup Johannesburg (SOC) Limited (Pikitup) was 
established in 2000 as an independent municipal entity, 
wholly owned by the City of Johannesburg (CoJ). In terms 
of the service delivery agreement with CoJ, Pikitup 
is mandated to provide sustainable integrated waste 
management services to all residential areas (formal and 
informal) and businesses in CoJ. 

It services the entire 1 625 km² that is CoJ, collecting 
and disposing of the 1.6 million tons of domestic waste 
generated in 2014/15 by 4.4 million citizens. The mandate 
includes the provision of services to ensure the overall 
cleanliness of CoJ’s streets (9 000 kilometres), open spaces, 
and certain public areas. It also offers commercial services 
to 17 000 businesses in the city. 

Pikitup continues to deliver on its mandate to provide 
sustainable integrated waste management services whilst 
introducing a shift towards addressing the imperatives 
of the Growth and Development Strategy (GDS 2040), 
the Integrated Waste Management Policy, and the 
National Waste Management Strategy. As such, Pikitup 
seeks to reduce the waste stream going to landfills, while 
extracting maximum value from the waste stream at all 
stages of collection and disposal. This shift is discussed in 
the Changing Course section of the report (page 6). 

What guides our business
Vision
To be the leading integrated waste management company 
in Africa and be considered amongst the best in the world.

Mission
To provide sustainable and innovative waste management 
solutions that exceed stakeholder expectations.

Values

VALUES DESCRIPTION

Exceptional service ethics Putting the customer first, thereby achieving the highest customer satisfaction index 

Environmental consciousness Being environmental activists and a sought-after group of people

Respect for human dignity Trust, integrity and respect for each other’s culture, religion and beliefs

Good corporate citizenship Loyalty towards Pikitup, colleagues, the community and the country at large

Unity of purpose Teamwork, perseverance, embracing change, determination, exceptional commitment 
and relationship building

Results-driven Understanding Pikitup’s strategy and its objectives and relating it to areas where 
efforts should be focused

Innovative Providing innovative waste solutions by providing systems and technologies that 
require the innovative thinking of specialists in the field of waste management. All 
Pikitup employees should think innovatively to achieve quality which needs to be 
achieved at work

Continuous improvement Maintaining a competitive edge over our competitors by continuously improving our 
business processes in waste management solutions and ourselves

Strategic goals
•	 Shift	towards	integrated	waste	management	and	waste	minimisation

•	 Grow	the	contribution	of	the	waste	sector	in	the	green	economy

•	 Promoting	and	ensuring	the	effective	delivery	of	waste	services

•	 Build	an	effective	and	efficient	waste	management	company
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Corporate Profile and Overview continued

Company structure
Pikitup provides two categories of services: council services and commercial operations:

COUNCIL SERVICES COMMERCIAL OPERATIONS

CoJ mandated services: In terms of the Constitution the 
municipality has sole mandate to collect domestic waste 
from residents and this is paid through tariffs. Residents 
cannot choose to use another service provider for 
domestic waste collection.

Where we service businesses (competing with other 
private companies) or where there are opportunities to 
collect revenue through other mechanisms.

•	 Collection	and	disposal	of	domestic	waste

•	 Street	cleaning	–	lane	flushing,	general	area	cleaning

•	 Management	of	litter	bins

•	 	Collection	of	illegally	dumped	waste	(this	alone	costs	CoJ	
R80 million per annum)

•	 	Collection	and	disposal	of	animal	carcasses	found	in	a	
public places

•	 Operation	of	garden	sites

•	 Operation	and	management	of	landfill	sites

•	 Cleaning	of	informal	settlements

•	 Recycling	activities

•	 Bulk	collection	services

•	 Dailies	–	collection	of	putrescible	food	waste

•	 Services	for	special	events

•	 	Private	operators	pay	disposal	fees	for	waste	disposal	at	
Pikitup’s landfill sites

Scale of operations
Pikitup owns and operates 12 waste management depots 
strategically located across CoJ’s seven regions. It manages 
42 garden sites, one compost plant, one incinerator, 
four operational landfill sites, and two closed landfill sites 
in CoJ. In addition, some waste is disposed at two privately 
owned landfill sites (Mooiplaats and Chloorkop). 
All landfill sites comply with permit requirements and 
are licensed by the national Department of Water Affairs 
and Forestry.

The customer base consists of 1 016 919 domestic 
customers, 1 785 business round collected refuse (RCR) 
customers, 1 065 Bulk service customers, 705 Dailies, 
522 institutions and several compost customers.

Changing course
Pikitup’s approach to changing course is informed by the 
Polokwane Declaration of zero waste to landfill sites, 
and the Joburg Growth and Development Strategy 2040 
(GDS 2040) paradigm, which responds to the global, 
national and regional challenges of climate change, 
resource constraints, the triple challenge of poverty, 
unemployment, and inequality, as well as improving 
the overall governance and compliance environment in 
the company. 
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This new course requires increased focus on activities 
that will lead to waste minimisation and waste diverted 
away from landfill sites. A paradigm shift is needed to 
understand that waste is not “rubbish”, but a resource 
or a raw material. This requires a “full cycle” approach to 
waste management, with waste products becoming input 
materials to other value chains. It focuses on improved 
modes of collection, infrastructure, recycling and 
production partnerships and aims to change behaviour 
and create awareness.

Pikitup will take leadership in changing course, however, 
the public’s participation in waste minimisation initiatives 
is key to the programme’s success. Pikitup will commit to 
implementing separation at source projects across CoJ, 
however, communities will also need to be mobilised to 
sort waste at a household level in order to reduce waste. 
Pikitup have developed the following tactical points in 
order to commence the changing course programme:

•	 Do	away	with	the	culture	of	abundance	–	change	the	
way we do things within the constraints of limited 
resources

•	 Increase	productivity	–	doing	more	with	less	and	
managing our resources effectively, including landfill 
airspace, human capital, budget, and others

•	 Develop	measurable	output	indicators,	which	address	
the desired outcomes in the GDS 2040

•	 Utilise	an	integrated	approach	to	ensure	co-ordination	
of programmes and to work towards greater impact, 
working with all departments and entities within CoJ 
with various responsibilities

•	 Stabilise	the	economic	base	of	Pikitup	to	prepare	for	
long-term financial viability

•	 Take	specific	actions	to	address	the	current	deficit

•	 Implement	the	remodelling	programme	of	Pikitup,	in	
order to align with the changing course

2015 performance highlights

IndICAtOR
2014/15 

target
2014/15 

Performance

Financial

Commercial revenue collection (% revenue collected from actual billed) 85% 102%

Capital budget spent R147 million R135 million

Social

Procurement spent on BEE and women-owned companies as a % of total procurement 75% 83%

Number of community members employed through EPWP programme 400 1 474 

Number of new jobs created through co-operatives established 200 450

Disabling injury frequency rate (DIFR) ratio 0.8 0.04

Environmental

Tons of dry waste diverted through the Separation@Source project (paper, plastic, 
glass, cans)

30 000 20 808

Tons of green waste diverted through composting 40 000 35 148

Tons of builder’s rubble diverted 20 000 25 059
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Foreword by the Member of the Mayoral Committee
As a Member of the 
Mayoral Committee 
responsible for 
the Environment, 
Infrastructure and Services 
Department, I have 
to stress that today’s 
increasingly resource-
constrained world requires 
us to collectively safeguard 
the environment and 
manage potential 
environmental impacts 
in order to become 
a sustainable society. 
I therefore would like 

to applaud Pikitup in ensuring that within this financial 
year, the delivery of waste management services to the 
communities and businesses within CoJ is done so in the 
interest of protecting the environment and leaving a 
sustainable legacy for future generations.

I want to commend Pikitup for honouring the Mayoral 
Priorities by performing exceptionally well during the 
14/15 financial year. Pikitup in partnership with various 
departments and entities in CoJ as well as private 
institutions, successfully carried out a Clean-up Day which 
aimed to rid CoJ of illegal dumping hotspots and to 
promote a Clean City vision for a litter-free Johannesburg, 
with an aesthetically attractive environment and with 
effective waste removal services. Pikitup also hosted 
the Waste Summit during the year where government, 
business, academic institutions and private sector, 
amongst others, shared ideas and proposed solutions to 
address the challenges in the waste sector. This is to be 
done in partnership with business, civil society and labour.

The business of managing wastes used to be 
straightforward a generation ago; Pikitup simply 
collected, transported and disposed waste. Today, Pikitup 
is reinventing its business model and reconsidering the 
nature of waste management itself as the company 
has gone through a period of being an unsustainable 
business, both financially and in terms of operational 
inefficiencies. I would therefore like to encourage Pikitup, 
especially the Chairperson of the Board, Managing 
Director and the entire Executive team, to stay focused on 
the goal at hand and keep the staff motivated at all times 
during this process and in these economic trying times. 

During my tenure as Member of the Mayoral Committee 
for the Environment, Infrastructure and Services 
Department, and beyond 2040, I would like you, our 
Waste Sector stakeholder and decision-maker across 

all sectors (including business and civil society), to 
reflect on the Joburg 2040 GDS Outcome 2 which reads 
as follows: “Provide a resilient, liveable, sustainable 
urban environment – underpinned by infrastructure 
supportive of a low-carbon economy. CoJ plans to lead 
in the establishment of sustainable and eco-efficient 
infrastructure solutions (e.g. housing, eco-mobility, 
energy, water, waste, sanitation and information and 
communications technology), to create a landscape that 
is liveable, environmentally resilient, sustainable, and 
supportive of low-carbon economy initiatives.”

You will agree with me that in terms of waste 
management in CoJ, Outcome 2 of the Joburg 2040 
GDS compels us for the next five years to ensure that all 
formal and informal areas continue to be provided with 
adequate, reliable and uninterrupted waste collection 
services, implement programmes that will ensure a clean 
city which is litter free and free of illegal dumping, 
develop and implement comprehensive demand side 
management and climate change mitigation, plan for CoJ 
of the future, and ensure that Pikitup is kept financially 
stable and operationally sustainable. I look forward to 
leading the very excellent team of very experienced 
Pikitup staff which is committed to good customer service 
and efficient service delivery in the next five years. I am 
excited, honoured and would like to encourage you to 
intensify your search for cleaner waste-based energy 
producing technologies, increase your landfill-gas-to-
energy capacity, strengthen CoJ’s commitment to recycling 
by intensifying your separation at source programme, 
investigate feasibility of both organics and material 
recovery facilities, reduce emissions by increasing the 
efficiency of your fleet, and invest in greener technologies 
for managing our waste. 

From the Pikitup remodelling project, I am certain that 
the residents of Johannesburg have already joined 
me in looking forward to a Pikitup that has made the 
transition to a company which has moved its strategy in 
the upstream of the waste management hierarchy, where 
prioritising waste avoidance and minimisation, practicing 
segregation, implementing safe waste transportation, 
cleaner waste treatment, and disposal as a last resort and 
in an integrated manner, is the norm for managing all 
forms of waste handled by the company.

Councillor t Mfikoe
Member of the Mayoral Committee for the Environment, 
Infrastructure and Services Department

Councillor 
Matshidiso Mfikoe
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Chairperson’s Foreword
The Board of Pikitup 
envisages a future in 
which the company, with 
the active participation of 
organised labour, business 
and civil society, delivers 
on the expectation to 
move from 93% disposal 
of waste to landfill to 
just 7% by 2040 through 
source reduction, recycling 
and composting and 
conversions technologies.

There has been significant 
improvement in the 

performance of the company in the 2014/15 financial 
year.  Not only has waste diverted from landfills increased 
by 160% and landfill compliance improved to 90.5% 
compared to the previous reporting period, but the 
company is now solvent. A change in doubtful debt policy 
and a consequent restatement of financial position for 
the period ending 30 June 2014, has the effect that the 
company was solvent for 2013/14 as well as for 2014/15. 
The company has accordingly reported an operating 
surplus for the period under review.

Another notable achievement has been the rapid 
implementation of the new Jozi@Work programme, 
launched in March 2015, a flagship project that changes 
the way the City does business, reducing poverty, inequality 
and unemployment. Seventeen co-operatives have been 
established, creating 350 jobs giving effect to diversion 
of waste from landfill site through separation of waste at 
source. New phases of the Jozi@Work programme will be 
implemented in the 2015/16 financial year.

The most critical factor in dealing with waste is human 
behaviour. The City is faced with a formidable challenge. 
It is simply not sustainable to continue generating and 
disposing of waste to the four landfill sites operated 
by Pikitup, which are rapidly nearing the end of their 

lifespans. Waste is generated in the workplace and in our 
homes. It requires a massive commitment from the public 
at large, business and community formations to behave 
responsibly. This requires a paradigm shift to cognisance 
of the waste generated and the associated obligation to 
actively participate in separation at source, so that waste 
is reused and recycled, and to dispose of residual waste 
in a responsible and environmentally sustainable manner. 
This will be a key intervention area going forward.

A shareholder compact has been signed between the 
Board and the Executive Mayor, Councillor Parks Tau, 
which sets out key performance measures and indicators 
to be attained in the next financial year. This compact is 
the basis for the performance of the company guided by 
the political leadership of Councillor Matshidiso Mfikoe, 
the Member of the Mayoral Committee for Environment 
and Infrastructure Services. The Board extends its 
appreciation and thanks to Councillor Mfikoe for her 
guidance during the year under review.

The Board also extends its appreciation to the 
City Manager and his office, the former Board 
Chairperson, Dr Nomonde Mabaya, the Board Secretary, 
Mr Francois Dekker, and Mr Suren Maharaj and 
Mr Jonathan Thekiso who acted as Managing Directors for 
periods of the year under review.

Last but not least, the Board congratulates and thanks the 
Managing Director, Ms Amanda Nair, the management 
team and all employees of Pikitup for their dedication and 
commitment to delivering on the mission of Pikitup “to 
provide sustainable and innovative waste management 
solutions that exceed stakeholder expectations” and 
the vision of “being the leading integrated waste 
management company in South Africa”.

dr P Hanekom 
Chairperson: Pikitup Board

dr Patricia Hanekom
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Managing Director’s Report
While the challenges 
to the organisation in 
the first half of the year 
have been arduous and 
our major consideration 
was financial stability, 
we have not lost sight of 
our obligation to provide 
a quality service to our 
customers. We remain 
committed to improving 
the services we provide 
our customers. In addition 
our efforts to ensure waste 
is minimised have received 
major attention and 

improvements have been noted. To achieve this objective 
we need to ensure focus and changing behaviour of 
residents and ensuring the infrastructure and collection 
systems are in place.

During the period under review Pikitup saw a number 
of achievements and challenges. In line with CoJ’s 
Growth and Development Strategy (GDS), our long-
term Waste Minimisation Plan (WMSP) will guide the 
focus of waste minimisation from the households 
as the new business model requires the prevention, 
avoidance and minimisation of waste. We are therefore 
implementing various interventions already and will 
continue to do so with renewed focus. In addition to 
the Separation@Source programme, we have started 
the implementation of various technological solutions, 
implementation of builder’s rubble crusher plants and 
partnerships to divert green waste. Particular focus will be 
placed on ensuring that more residents participate in the 
recycling programme at home and therefore we are able 
to increase diversion of dry waste. 

In creating value from waste, Pikitup implemented its 
Jozi@Work programme to utilise community structures 

in the delivery of services and therefore create jobs and 
entrepreneurs in the sector. Pikitup’s focus will change 
to ensure services are rendered effectively, we provide 
the necessary infrastructure, support is rendered to 
the co-operatives and ensure more opportunities for 
participation in all the waste streams.

We are very pleased with the financial results in the 
2014/15 financial year as it is a clear indication that our 
cost-saving and efficiency measures are having the desired 
impact. The focus for future years would be to sustain and 
grow the financial position of the company. Although a 
lot more still needs to be done to address the operational 
efficiencies of the organisation, we are confident that we 
are on the right track. There are still many areas in the 
business where we believe that we can improve, but the 
team is energetic and we are working to improve these 
areas. 

Our staff members remain a key contributor to our 
endeavours to put service delivery top on our agenda. 
In this quest, we will continue to engage with organised 
labour in a constructive manner, to ensure that we 
continue to uphold the ideals of unfettered service 
delivery to all the citizens of this world-class African city. 
Targeted roadshows and communication with all staff 
took place during the year to reiterate our vision and 
focus and to ensure all Pikitup members work collectively 
towards the goals and objectives.

We look forward to collaborating with various 
stakeholders as well as the community at large, to ensure 
that our vision is realised.

Ms A nair
Managing Director

Ms Amanda nair
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Mayoral Priorities
As a municipal-owned entity, we align ourselves to the Mayoral Priorities of CoJ (our shareholder). There are Priority 
Implementation Plans (PIPs) developed for each of the priorities. These priorities are then also included in the IDP for 
CoJ. The contributions made to the various Mayoral Priorities are included in the Business Plan of the organisation and 
various key performance areas are developed for each. The ten Mayoral Priorities are depicted in the table below:

table 1.1: Mayoral Priorities

COJ PRIORITIES 
IN 2014/15 OVERVIEW PIKITUP CONTRIBUTION

Financial 
Sustainability and 
Resilience

The intention is the prioritisation of 
CoJ’s financial position to ensure that 
finances are at all times sustained so 
that CoJ has the resilience to recover 
easily and immediately from unexpected, 
unfavourable occurrences that may have a 
severe impact on CoJ’s operations.

•	 	Pikitup	has	developed	a	Financial	Recovery	plan	
with the aim to break even within three years. The 
plan addresses increased revenue through improved 
customer management and billing, additional 
commercial services and clients, as well as cost 
reduction measures such as fleet optimisation and 
reduction in overtime costs

•	 	Activities	to	ensure	data	integrity,	accurate	billing	
and revenue collection

•	 	Pikitup	strengthening	relationship	with	the	Revenue	
Department and is managing the collection of 
revenue

Sustainable Human 
Settlements

The key objective is to address spatial 
inequality and create the material 
conditions for economic growth with an 
emphasis on strengthening the inclusive 
nature of entrepreneurial, middle/
working-class and marginalised economic 
activity. This is defined by:

•	 Accessibility

•	 Integrated	living	spaces

•	 Economic	opportunities

•	 Range	of	housing	options

•	 Social	and	open	space	amenities

•	 Social	cohesion

•	 	A	range	of	services	are	provided	in	areas	to	ensure	
a clean living environment to residents and all users 
of CoJ infrastructure. Various levels of services are 
provided in formal residential areas, hostels as well 
as informal settlements

•	 	Illegal	dumping	impacts	on	the	liveability	and	open	
spaces in an area. A programme has been developed 
to clean illegal dumping spots

•	 	Education	and	awareness	campaigns	to	ensure	all	
citizens are aware of the impact of illegal dumping 
and littering on the environment and is informed 
about the responsible disposal of all waste

•	 	Waste	management	standards	and	norms	will	be	
developed to be included in the CoJ’s published 
Green Book to be used as guideline in all new 
developments
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Mayoral Priorities continued

COJ PRIORITIES 
IN 2014/15 OVERVIEW PIKITUP CONTRIBUTION

Engaged Active 
Citizenry

The strategic intent of the programme is to 
ensure that citizens of Johannesburg take 
an active role in their communities, are 
engaged as members of a community and 
participate as involved members of society.

•	 	Through	the	Separation@Source	programme	
communities are encouraged to participate in waste 
management

•	 	Concentrated	effort	to	be	placed	on	awareness	
creation and education to increase participation 
rates

•	 	Various	clean-up	campaigns	were	implemented	
in partnership with communities and other 
organisations, to raise awareness and change the 
behaviour of citizens

•	 	Other	projects	such	as	Eco	Rangers	and	Food	for	
Waste are also aimed at citizen involvement

•	 	Using	garden	sites	for	waste	minimisation	(provide	
facilities for green waste, e-waste, oil and tyres) in 
order to make waste minimisation accessible to all 
residents

•	 	Pikitup	to	develop	and	implement	an	application	to	
be used for residents to report incidents of illegal 
dumping

SMME and 
Entrepreneur 
development and 
Support

The key objective is to address poverty 
and, in particular, income inequality 
through identifying key success areas and 
factors for entrepreneurial support and 
SMME development, identifying both 
governance and facilitating interventions 
which will optimise the development of 
the entrepreneurial and middle class.

•	 	Developmental	Service	Delivery	approach	to	use	
expertise and skills in the community to assist in 
meeting service delivery challenges – community-
based contractors to take responsibility for waste 
management

•	 	Jozi@Work	model	is	aimed	to	use	the	co-operatives	
to collect waste and recyclables from residents as 
well as street cleaning and illegal dumping

•	 	Separation@Source	project	is	developed	to	establish	
and facilitate co-operatives to participate in 
recycling activities. This is part of the changing 
paradigm to create value from waste

Food Security The key objective of this programme is to 
address poverty and income inequality. CoJ 
recognises the need for immediate poverty 
alleviation measures (focusing on the poor 
and vulnerable) and poverty eradication 
in the long term to ensure self-reliant 
communities.

•	 	Waste	Exchange	Programme	(Food	for	Waste)	
provides food parcels to community in exchange 
for cleaning illegal dumping spots, but will be 
sustainable as these spots are then converted into 
food gardens that can service the community as well 
as commercial sale of products

Smart City Building a Smart City will result in:

•	 	Economic	development	and	creation	of	
jobs

•	 	Promoting	resource	efficiency	and	
mitigating climate change

•	 	Providing	a	greater	place	to	live	and	
work

•	 Running	the	CoJ	more	effectively

•	 Supporting	communities

•	 	Usage	of	digital	technologies	for	better	
connectivity, user experience, and 
improved service delivery

•	 	Implementation	of	various	technologies	that	
will assist with data collection and result in 
improved services, improved billing and improved 
performance monitoring such as infrared, RFIDs, 
GPS, etc.

•	 	Improved	communication	between	head	office	and	
depots through broadband

•	 	Sharepoint	implementation	to	collate	and	manage	
business information required in decision-making 
and to ensure deficiencies are timeously detected 
and addressed
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COJ PRIORITIES 
IN 2014/15 OVERVIEW PIKITUP CONTRIBUTION

Resource 
Sustainability

Economic growth is strongly interrelated 
with the demand for water, electricity, 
liquid fuel and mining. Managing 
limited natural resources as well as the 
consequences of using these natural 
resources and de-linking economic growth 
from natural resource extraction is 
therefore important.

•	 	Minimisation	Strategy	to	divert	waste	from	landfills	
(reduce, reuse, recycle and reclaim)

•	 Separation@Source	to	use	waste	as	resource

•	 Green	waste	and	composting

•	 	Landfill	sites	are	used	for	Landfill	Gas	Extraction	
projects and potential Waste to Energy project 
(EISD)

•	 	Proper	management	of	landfill	sites	also	reduce	the	
risk of environmental impact related to disposal of 
waste

Investment 
Attraction, 
Retention and 
Expansion

Promote investment in the area to 
ensure economic growth, innovation 
and technological advances. Make CoJ 
attractive as a destination and facilitate 
local industries to become globally 
competitive.

•	 	New	technologies	provide	investment	opportunities,	
such as Waste to Energy, Landfill Gas Extraction and 
Biotech plants

•	 	A	clean	environment	also	attracts	tourists	and	
investors

Green Economy New opportunities exist in the sector 
to build an economy based on green 
initiatives. There are opportunities for 
manufacturing, innovation, jobs, etc. The 
economic structure should change and 
respond to the needs of the economy 
to more resource resilient practices and 
products in order for demand to meet 
supply.

•	 Development	of	Green	Waste	Strategy

•	 	Green	waste	and	composting	using	communities	
and co-operatives

•	 	Separation@Source	–	developing	a	recycling	
economy in CoJ

•	 	Buy-back	centres	and	sorting	facilities	to	be	
established

•	 	Various	opportunities	to	be	created	for	the	reuse	of	
materials

Safe City The objective is the creation of a safe, 
secure and resilient City that protects and 
serves, builds and empowers communities.

•	 	Enforcement	of	waste	by-laws	with	JMPD,	
Environmental Health and the Environmental 
Management Inspectors (established at EISD)

•	 Infrastructure	Development

13
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Strategic Goals
Pikitup is committed to continually improving its 
performance and to attaining its vision “to be the leading 
integrated waste management company in Africa and be 
considered amongst the best in the world”. To this end, 
Pikitup has identified the following four goals, based 
on the CoJ Mayoral Priorities (pages 11 to 13) and our 
Material Issues (page 17):

1. Shift towards integrated waste management and 
waste minimisation

2. Grow the contribution of the waste sector in the 
green economy

3. Promoting and ensuring the effective delivery of 
waste services

4. Build an effective and efficient waste management 
company

The table below shows the objectives, projects and 
initiatives in place to meet these strategic goals. It also 
shows the key performance indicators (KPIs) in place to 
measure and manage performance against these goals. 

table 1.2

GOAL ExPLANATION OBJECTIVE ExPLANATION PROJECTS KPI
PAGE 
REFERENCE

Goal 1: 
Shift towards 
integrated 
waste 
management 
and waste 
minimisation

Targets have been 
determined to reduce 
waste to landfills in order 
to reduce greenhouse 
gas emissions and to 
protect the environment. 
The aim is to increase 
airspace without adding 
new infrastructure 
such as landfill sites. It 
is necessary to identify 
various initiatives that will 
assist to create the shift 
to a different paradigm 
for waste management. 
Projects should consider 
the entire waste value 
chain and target reduction 
in generation as well 
as alternative disposal 
methods.

Objective 1.1: 
To ensure 
that waste to 
landfills are 
minimised

Objective 1.2: 
To ensure 
appropriate 
infrastructure 
is developed 
to dispose of 
waste in a 
sustainable 
manner

Various projects are to be 
implemented to minimise 
waste to landfill. The 
ultimate aim is to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions 
as well as increase 
airspace.

The new model of 
operations require 
different infrastructure 
needs such as buy-back 
centres, composting 
facilities and others. The 
necessary infrastructure 
needs to be developed. 
In addition, there may 
be new technologies to 
be implemented such 
as Waste-to-Energy and 
Landfill Gas Extraction. 
Additional technologies 
may be identified related 
to the various waste 
streams.

Reduce, reuse, recycle 
and reclaim projects:

• Composting

•	 	Purchasing	of	
builder’s rubble 
crusher plants

•	 Biodigestor

•	 	Health	Waste	
Facility

Tons of green waste 
diverted through 
composting

42

Tons of builder’s 
rubble diverted

42

Tons of dry waste 
diverted through 
Separation@Source  
Project (paper, plastic, 
glass, cans)

43

Separation@Source Increased participation 
rate in targeted 
areas where 
Separation@Source 
project is implemented

43

Upgrade of garden 
sites as per the capital 
programme

Number of new sorting 
buy-back centres 
constructed and 
number of garden sites 
upgraded to include 
recycling activities

43

Upgrade and 
maintenance of 
landfill sites

Percentage landfill 
compliance to GDARD 
regulations and 
permit conditions 
as issued by DEA 
and DWAF, related 
to the following 
landfill sites: Robinson 
Deep, Ennerdale, 
Goudkoppies, Marie 
Louise

46
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GOAL ExPLANATION OBJECTIVE ExPLANATION PROJECTS KPI
PAGE 
REFERENCE

Goal 2: 
Grow the 
contribution 
of the waste 
sector in 
the green 
economy

Using the skills and 
willingness of the 
community to participate 
in waste management 
services as well as the 
establishment of co-
operatives and SMMEs in 
the recycle economy of 
Johannesburg, in order 
to ensure job creation, 
poverty alleviation and 
inclusive economic growth.

Objective 2.1: 
To use waste 
as resource 
for poverty 
alleviation 
and create 
job creation 
opportunities

CoJ has high levels of 
unemployment, poverty 
and inequality. Waste 
minimisation provides 
opportunities to use 
waste as a resource 
and these should 
assist communities 
to address poverty. 
Consideration is given 
to the implementation 
of co-production to 
address these challenges. 
Co-operatives/SMEs to be 
appointed through the 
Jozi@Work framework 
to take responsibility 
for cleaning in areas. 
Approach to be 
implemented in an 
incremental manner, 
stating with Soweto in the 
first half of 2014/15 and 
then to be implemented 
in additional areas within 
CoJ.

Food for Waste Number of individuals 
participating in Food 
for Waste project as 
identified from City 
ESP register

45

Number of food 
gardens established 
and managed by 
communities on 
rehabilitated illegal 
dumping sites

44

Jozi@Work Number of new jobs 
created through co-
operatives established

44

Number of new co-
operatives established 
to collect and sell 
recyclables and do 
waste management

44

Formalisation of 
Waste Reclaimers

Number of 
waste reclaimers 
incorporated (city-
wide)

45

Community Cleaning 
Programme (EPWP 
and CWP)

Number of community 
members employed 
through EPWP 
programme

45

Goal 3: 
Promoting 
and ensuring 
the effective 
delivery of 
waste services

Whilst investigating 
and implementing new 
projects that will result 
in waste minimisation, 
efficient services need to 
be delivered to residents.

Objective 3.1: 
To ensure 
effective and 
efficient waste 
services

These services include 
domestic waste removal, 
street cleaning, informal 
settlements as well as 
some public owned 
facilities. The objective 
is to ensure that these 
services are rendered in 
efficient manner and that 
the highest cleanliness 
levels are achieved. This 
will be achieved through 
the appointment and 
management of co-
operatives and managing 
these contracts to ensure 
the required cleanliness 
levels are achieved.

RCR Services Percentage RCR rounds 
completed on time 
(15:30 – 17:00)

47

Inner City Cleanliness level 
of inner city as 
determined by 
GDARD Gauteng 
Waste Management 
Standards1

47

Street Cleaning Cleanliness level 
in outer city based 
on street cleaning 
as determined by 
GDARD Gauteng 
Waste Management 
Standards

47

Hostel Cleaning Cleanliness levels of 
hostels as determined 
by GDARD Gauteng 
Waste Management 
Standards

47

Illegal Dumping Number of illegal 
dumping spots 
eradicated

46
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Strategic Goals continued

1 Cleanliness levels as defined in Section 8.6 of the business plan

GOAL ExPLANATION OBJECTIVE ExPLANATION PROJECTS KPI
PAGE 
REFERENCE

Goal 4: 
Build an 
effective and 
efficient waste 
management 
company

In order to be the leading 
waste management 
company in Africa, it 
is necessary to ensure 
an entity that runs 
efficiently and implements 
the highest levels of 
professionalism. All 
support services should 
contribute to the 
effective functioning of 
the company through 
policy development, risk 
management, strategy 
development, information 
management, financial 
and human capital 
management.

Objective 4.1: 
To optimise 
financial 
management 
and 
sustainability

The entity currently has 
a deficit. In order to be 
a leading company the 
financial position of the 
company needs to be 
addressed.

Commercial 
Revenue Collection 
(including database 
cleanup, improved 
reporting, contracts 
management)

Increased collection 
rate from Pikitup’s 
commercial customers

48

Capital Budget 
Management

Capital budget spent 48

Procurement Spend Percentage BEE spend 49

Percentage women-
owned companies

49

Audit Audit opinion 
obtained from 
Auditor-General

49

Objective 4.2: 
To improve 
customer 
satisfaction 
and change 
behaviour

The behaviour or 
residents impact on the 
success of the initiatives 
related to waste 
minimisation. In addition 
the services rendered 
impact on residents 
and therefore a specific 
focus is placed on the 
management of interfaces 
with the community.

query Resolution Percentage queries 
resolved within time 
frame

49

Health and Safety quarterly health and 
safety inspections 
completed for all 
Pikitup facilities (head 
office, depots and 
landfills, garden sites 
and buy-back centres)

49

Reduction in Disabling 
Injury Frequency Rate 
(DIFR) ratio

49
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Pikitup consider an issue material if it is of such relevance and importance that it could substantially influence our 
ability to create value in the short, medium and long term. Furthermore, highlighting these issues is a critical aspect 
of reporting in accordance with the guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiatives (GRI), King III and the International 
Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC). 

Material issues are established in line with GRI principles and tests of materiality and relevance. Doing so ensures that 
the risks identified are sufficiently important economic, environmental and social concerns, which could substantively 
influence the assessments and decisions of stakeholders. Our material issues are identified as:

•	 Waste	minimisation

•	 Extracting	value	from	waste

•	 Service	delivery

•	 Financial	sustainability

The process to identify these material issues involved the analysis of the following internal and external factors:

Material Issues

Internal
•	 Significant	risks	to	Pikitup	as	defined	by	our	

enterprise risk management (ERM) process

•	 Opportunities	in	Pikitup’s	core	business	
and how they can contribute to sustainable 
development

•	 Concerns	and	expectations	of	our	internal	
and external stakeholders as identified by our 
stakeholder management processes

•	 Audit	findings

•	 Vision,	mission,	values,	goals	and	objectives.

•	 Pikitup’s	governance	framework	and	policy	
environment

External tests
•	 Review	and	benchmarking	or	material	

industry-wide issues

•	 Key	legislation,	principles	and	protocols:

– Including: Municipal Finance 
Management Act (MFMA); Section 46(1) 
of the Municipal Systems Act (MSA); 
King III Code on Corporate Governance 
(King III); International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS); Millennium 
Development Goals; B-BBEE Codes

– City of Johannesburg Growth and 
Development strategy (Joburg 2040 
criteria and objectives)

– National and Provincial outcomes of 
Government

– Changes in the socio-economic 
developmental agenda and priorities of 
National and Provincial Government 17
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Corporate Governance Statement
Pikitup can only prosper in an environment of balanced, 

sound corporate governance and effective leadership. Our 

top management and directors have defined strategy, 

provided direction and established the ethics and values 

that will ensure that we operate in such a way as to 

achieve sustainable performance.

We recognise that achieving good governance is 

a difficult task, however, we believe that we have 

developed the appropriate interrelated elements in our 

governance framework, to ensure that this is achieved:

•	 Compliance	in	terms	of	statutory	requirements,	codes	

and protocols, legislation

•	 Ethics	management	and	anti-corruption	measures	–	
Pikitup also recognises that ethical and responsible 
leadership is required in order to direct the company 
towards the strategic goals discussed in Chapter 1 – 
Leadership and Corporate Profile. The strategic goals 
are informed by the mayoral priorities for the CoJ

•	 Functions	such	as	internal	audit,	company	secretariat,	
information technology, enterprise risk management, 
and stakeholder engagement to ensure sound 
governance

•	 Identifying	appropriate	material	issues	through	
engagement with our stakeholders, and the concerns 
that they have raised

The linkages and alignment between these various elements are depicted in the table below:

MATERIAL 
ISSUES

STRATEGIC 
GOALS MAYORAL PRIORITIES CAPITALS RISKS

Waste 
minimisation

Shift towards 
integrated waste 
management 
and waste 
minimisation

•	 	Sustainable	Human	
Settlements

•	 Resource	Sustainability

•	 Natural	capital •	 	Rapid	
depletion 
of landfill 
airspace

Extracting 
value from 
waste

Grow the 
contribution of 
the waste sector 
in the green 
economy

•	 Engaged	Active	Citizenry

•	 Resource	Sustainability

•	 	Investment	Attraction,	
Retention and Expansion

•	 Green	Economy

•	 	Intellectual	capital	(knowledge-based	
intangibles, tacit knowledge, systems, 
procedures and protocols)

•	 	Human	capital	(our	people’s	
competencies, capabilities and 
experience, and their motivations 
to innovate)

•	 	Rapid	
depletion 
of landfill 
airspace

Service 
delivery

Promoting 
and ensuring 
the effective 
delivery of 
waste services

•	 Engaged	Active	Citizenry •	 	Social	and	relationship	capital	
(the institutions and relationships 
established within and between 
communities and stakeholders to 
enhance individual and collective well-
being)

•	 	Manufactured	capital	(the	fleet	and	
machinery that allow us to perform 
our services in CoJ)

•	 	Intellectual	capital	(systems,	
procedures, protocols and intangibles 
associated with the brand and 
reputation)

•	 Human	capital

•	 	Strikes/protest	
action

•	 	Lack	of	a	
culture of 
performance 
management

Financial 
sustainability

Build an 
effective and 
efficient waste 
management 
company

•	 	Financial	Sustainability	
and Resilience

•	 	Investment	Attraction,	
Retention and Expansion

•	 Green	Economy

•	 Financial	capital •	 	Appropriate	
leadership and 
skills

•	 Financial	loss
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Governance Structures

Board of directors
Pikitup has a unitary Board at year-end comprised of 
11 directors of whom two were executive directors (the 
Managing Director and the Financial Director) and nine 
independent non-executive directors. The non-executive 
directors are independent of Pikitup in that none of them 
holds any shares or capital interest in Pikitup and nor does 
any non-executive director have any business relationship 
with Pikitup (in fact, this is specifically prohibited under 
the MFMA). 

Until February 2015, the Board was chaired by 
Dr N Mabuya. Upon Dr Mabuya’s resignation, 
Dr P Hanekom was appointed as Chairperson of the Board 
at the annual general meeting held on 3 February 2015. 
At the annual general meeting, Bishop DK Adams, 
Adv. G Badela and Ms SR Bogatsu were appointed to the 
Board in the stead of retiring/resigning directors.

The Board met at least quarterly and retained full control 
over Pikitup together with the Managing Director as 
provided for in the regulatory framework. The Board is 
accountable to the CoJ in terms of the Companies Act 
and consequent upon the local government regulatory 
framework, contractually in terms of the MSA Service 
Delivery Agreement and Shareholder Compact concluded 
with the CoJ. 

The Board provides effective leadership based on a 
principled foundation and Pikitup subscribes to high 
ethical standards. Responsible leadership, characterised 
by responsibility, accountability, fairness and transparency, 
has been a defining characteristic of the entity since 
Pikitup’s establishment in 2000. The fundamental 
objective has always been to do business ethically while 
building a sustainable Pikitup that recognises the short- 
and long-term impact of its activities on the economy, 
society and the environment and the value it creates 
for communities through its business activities. In its 
deliberations, decisions and actions, the Board is sensitive 
to the interests and expectations of Pikitup’s legitimate 
stakeholders. In discharging its responsibilities, the Board 
continues to provide direction in the implementation 
of Pikitup’s strategic objectives to ensure continues 
improvement in service delivery.

As stated, Pikitup has during the course of 2014/15 
reviewed and adopted a new Board Charter. In addition, 
Pikitup’s service standards have been restated and 
organisationally a new Service Delivery Agreement 
(consequent on the provisions of the MSA) was entered 
into with the CoJ. The foregoing was consolidated to 

enhance accountability at Board level and a separate 
Shareholder Compact was entered into between the 
Board and Pikitup’s shareholder. 

Over and above the foregoing, Pikitup also adopted 
a new Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI) during 
the period under review which was approved by the 
shareholder at the annual general meeting held in 
February 2015. The MOI is, apart from the institutional 
arrangements recorded therein, a clearer iteration of 
Pikitup’s municipal service delivery mandate and resonates 
with Pikitup’s new Service Delivery Agreement, the 
Shareholder Compact, the Board Charter and the restated 
service delivery standards required of Pikitup. The Board, 
the committees of the Board and individual directors have 
been intimately involved in these processes under the 
leadership of the new Board Chairperson, Dr P Hanekom.

The Board provides quarterly and integrated annual 
reports on Ms Pikitup’s performance and service delivery 
commitments to the CoJ as prescribed in the Service 
Delivery Agreement, the MFMA and the MSA. In order to 
execute its duties and responsibilities efficiently, the Board 
established various committees with specific functions and 
responsibilities. The Board approved the charters of the 
Board committees.

Non-executive directors contribute an independent view 
to matters under consideration at any meeting and add 
to the depth of experience of the Board. The roles of 
Chairperson and Managing Director are separate, with 
responsibilities divided between them. The Chairperson 
has no executive functions. Directors have unlimited 
access to the Company Secretary, who acts as an advisor 
to the Board and its committees on matters including 
compliance with Pikitup policies, applicable statutes, 
regulations and best corporate practices. The Board or any 
of its members may, in appropriate circumstances and at 
the expense of Pikitup, obtain the advice of independent 
professionals. During the course of every year, the Board 
conducts one or more self-assessments. During the year 
under review, the evaluation was conducted by the CoJ 
Governance Department. 

As reported, four non-executive directors were appointed 
at the annual general meeting held on 3 February 2015 
(Bp DK Adams, Adv. G Badela, Ms SR Bogatsu and 
Dr P Hanekom) in the stead of those directors who had 
either resigned during the course of the year or retired 
at the annual general meeting. The table on page 21 sets 
out Pikitup’s directorship during the 2014/15 financial 
year. The table also includes Pikitup’s independent Audit 
Committee members.
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NAME DESIGNATION APPOINTED RESIGNED

Bp DK Adams Independent non-executive director 3 February 2015 Active

Adv. G Badela Independent non-executive director 3 February 2015 Active

M Bahula Independent non-executive director 25 February 2014 30 June 2015

SR Bogatsu Independent non-executive director 18 March 2015 Active

L Brenner Independent non-executive director 14 April 2011 Active

R Buys Independent Audit Committee member 11 March 2013 Active

Dr P Hanekom Independent non-executive director 3 February 2015 Active

W Hattingh Independent Audit Committee member 11 March 2013 Active

Dr N Mabuya Independent non-executive director 14 April 2011 3 February 2015

S Maharaj Executive director 25 February 2014 Active

LJ Matshekga Independent non-executive director 25 February 2014 Active

D Mondlane Independent non-executive director 24 April 2012 29 January 2015

G Mufana Independent Audit Committee member 25 February 2014 Active

Dr N Mutshekwane Independent non-executive director 24 April 2012 3 February 2015

A Nair Executive director 1 October 2012 Active

Dr Y Ndema Independent non-executive director 14 April 2011 2 October 2014

Dr W Nyabeze Independent non-executive director 14 April 2011 Active

Adv. TD Rampai Independent non-executive director 25 February 2014 Active
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dR PAtRICIA HAnEkOM 
Independent non-executive director 
and Board Chairperson

Patricia (Trish) was an Accounting Officer 
in the Gauteng Provincial Government 
for 12 years and has extensive experience, 
skills and knowledge with respect to 
governance and accountability. She has 
served on a number of Boards and Audit 
Committees as well as various Panels 
and Advisory Committees. She currently 
serves on the Boards and Committees 
of the Medical Research Council, the 
Mapungubwe Institute for Strategic 
Reflection, the Cradle of Humankind Trust 
and Maropeng a’Afrika (Pty) Limited. Trish 
also serves on Pikitup’s Operations and 
Service Delivery Committee.

MS AMAndA nAIR
Executive,  
Managing Director

Amanda’s current tenure as Managing 
Director of Pikitup was preceded by 
a short term as the General Manager 
for consulting engineering firm GIBB’s 
Mobility Services Sector. Prior to that, 
she was the CEO of Blue Iq Holdings, 
the development arm of the Gauteng 
Province responsible for implementation 
of economic infrastructure projects. She 
has also been the executive director of the 
CoJ’s Development Planning, Transport 
and Environment Department. Amanda 
holds a BA degree and a master’s degree 
in town and regional planning and 
brings a wealth of experience and a deep 
understanding of policy and strategy 
development to Pikitup. She has led 
countless business planning, budgeting, 
financial management and policy 
processes and demonstrates remarkable 
competence therein.

MR SuREn MAHARAj
Executive,  
Financial Director

Suren joined Pikitup in 2013 as Chief 
Financial Officer and was appointed 
to the Board in 2014. Suren has more 
than 16 years’ experience in finance 
and operations management within 
start-ups and global multi-billion dollar 
organisations in both the private 
and public sectors. He is a chartered 
accountant and has streamlined business 
operations that drive growth and increase 
efficiency and bottom-line profit. He 
is also a Green Belt Digital Six Sigma 
graduate with demonstrated ability in 
developing and implementing financial 
controls and processes in addition to 
productivity improvements and change 
management.

Following below is the professional profiles of Pikitup’s active directors:

Governance Structures continued

From left to right
Back row: Messrs Maropeng Bahula, Lesetsa Matshekga, Lionel Brenner
Middle row: Mr Suren Maharaj, Bishop Dulton Adams, Adv. Ghandi Badela, Adv. Dan Rampai
Front row: Ms Amanda Nair, Dr Patricia Hanekom, Ms Setshengo Bogatsu

Board of directors
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dR WASHInGtOn nyABEzE
Independent non-executive director and 
Chairperson of the Operations and Service 
Delivery Committee

Washington holds a PhD in engineering 
and is a registered, professional engineer. 
He has over 20 years’ experience in 
energy, water resources and infrastructure 
development gained in assignments 
for various local, international and 
public sector clients. He has undertaken 
hydropower and water resources 
engineering work on international river 
basins in southern Africa. He contributed 
to the National Groundwater Strategy and 
the National Water Resources Strategy 
II. He is currently involved in a Drought 
Early Warning and Forecasting System 
for Africa funded by the European 
Union. Washington is Chairperson of 
Pikitup’s Operations and Service Delivery 
Committee.

MR LIOnEL BREnnER 
Independent non-executive director

Lionel is a chartered accountant by 
profession and holds BCom and BCompt 
(Hons) degrees. He is the founding 
director of Dalist (Pty) Limited, a financial 
consultancy that provides corporate 
advisory, business management and 
enterprise development services to a 
range of JSE listed and other businesses. 
Prior to establishing Dalist, Lionel was 
CFO to a number of JSE listed companies. 
Before joining Pikitup, he was a non-
executive director and Audit Committee 
Chairperson of the Johannesburg 
Roads Agency and the Johannesburg 
Metropolitan Bus Services. Lionel is a 
member of Pikitup’s Audit and Risk 
Committee.

MS SEtSHEGO BOGAtSu
Independent non-executive director

Setshego joined the Pikitup Board in 
March 2015. Setshego has extensive 
experience in finance and procurement 
and holds a BCom degree and an MBA. 
She is currently employed as the Senior 
Manager: Corporate Contracts and 
Procurement at Fluor South Africa. Before 
joining Fluor, Setshego was Chief Financial 
Officer at the National Nuclear Regulator 
and has previously worked as a Finance 
Manager for several companies including 
Transnet, Sasol and BMW. Setshego is also 
a member of the Group Remuneration 
Panel at the CoJ and a non-executive 
director for TRS Staffing Solutions 
South Africa. Setshego is the Chairperson 
of Pikitup’s Social, Ethics and Human 
Resources Committee and a member 
of the Operations and Service Delivery 
Committee.

AdV. dAn RAMPAI
Independent non-executive director

Dan was appointed to the Pikitup Board 
in February 2014. He holds BJuris, LLB, 
MBA and MPhil (Ethics) degrees. He is 
currently employed at the WRSETA as 
Executive Manager. He is the founder of 
DR Ethics Conversations (Pty) Limited, a 
company that offers consulting services to 
client companies in every industry. He also 
serves on the Board of Pact SA and on the 
Council of Tshwane North TVET College. 
Dan is a corporate governance, ethics and 
negotiations specialist; he is a published 
author on ethics and has presented 
papers at international conferences on 
ethics within the South African Local 
Government. Dan is a member of Pikitup’s 
Social, Ethics and Human Resources 
Committee.

MR LESEtSA MAtSHEkGA
Independent non-executive director 
and Chairperson of the Audit and Risk 
Committee

Lesetsa is currently employed at the 
Gauteng Partnership Fund as Executive 
Manager: Special Projects. Lesetsa holds 
an MBA degree from Gordon Institute 
of Business Science (UP), a BCom Hons 
degree (Financial Analysis and Portfolio 
Management) from University of Cape 
Town, a BCom (Hons) degree (Economics) 
and a BCom degree (Economics) from 
University of Limpopo (previously known 
as University of the North). He previously 
served as a non-executive director on the 
Board of Wizzit Group (Pty) Limited. He is 
a member of the Institute of Directors in 
Southern Africa. Lesetsa is the Chairperson 
of Pikitup’s Audit and Risk Committee.

AdV. GHAndI BAdELA
Independent non-executive director

Ghandi is a qualified engineer with 
Masters degrees in Electromechanical 
Engineering, Engineering Management 
(Projects, Operations and Product 
Development) and Packaging Technology. 
Furthermore, he holds an MBA and an 
LLB. He is also an experienced business 
person and entrepreneur. He has worked 
in a corporate environment at executive 
level for over 16 years. He is also a non-
executive director of Denel, CSIR and 
past Chairperson of Metrobus. Ghandi 
is a member of Pikitup’s Operations and 
Service Delivery Committee and its Social, 
Ethics and Human Resources Committee.

BISHOP duLtOn AdAMS
Independent non-executive director

Bishop Adams holds an honorary 
doctorate in Theology from the Latin 
University of Theology in Inglewood 
California, and has been a pastor for 
30 years. Before joining the ministry 
on a full-time basis, he worked in the 
retail industry in a general management 
capacity. Bishop Adams participated 
in various national, regional and local 
structures and NGOs and FBOs as well as 
community forums. Bishop Adams is a 
member of the Operations and Service 
Delivery Committee as well as the Social 
and Ethics Committees at Pikitup.

MR MAROPEnG BAHuLA
Independent non-executive director and 
Chairperson of the Social, Ethics and 
Human Resources Committee (resigned)

Maropeng holds BSc and MBL degrees. 
Immediately prior to his resignation, 
he was an associate in consultancy firm 
Competitive Dynamics International 
and before that Value Chain Director at 
JohnsonDiversey where his responsibilities 
extended to central and southern Africa. 
He has also been employed as technical 
and business manager for AEL Mining 
Services and as Environmental Practitioner 
at Eskom. Maropeng is the past 
Chairperson of Pikitup’s Social, Ethics and 
Human Resources Committee. Maropeng 
resigned to take up employment with a 
multinational company.
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Statement of responsibility
The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity 
and fair presentation of the financial statement of the 
entity. The financial statement presented on pages 78 
to 114 has been prepared in accordance with Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and include 
amounts based on judgement and estimates made by the 
management.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
other information in the Integrated Annual Report and 
are responsible for both its accuracy and its consistency 
with the financial statements. The going concern basis 
has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. 
The directors have no reason to believe that the entity 
will not be going concerns in the foreseeable future 
based on the forecast and available cash resources. Refer 
to the Directors’ report (page 74) with regard to the 
appropriateness of the going concern assumption for the 
preparation of the financial statements. The shareholder 
has provided ongoing support with regard to the 
accumulated deficit.

The Auditor-General, who was given unrestricted access 
to all financial records and related data, including 
minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the Board of 
Directors and committees of the Board, has audited 

the financial statement. The directors believe that all 
representations made to the Auditor-General during their 
audit are valid and appropriate. The Auditor-General’s 
reports are presented on page 117 and pages 118 and 
119. The financial statements were approved by the 
Board of Directors (page 70) and signed on its behalf by 
Dr P Hanekom and Ms A Nair.

Committee meeting attendance
The Charters of the Board and its respective committees 
set out the meeting requirements. The Board and each 
committee are required to meet at least once per quarter. 
An annual calendar is prepared in advance of the financial 
year and meetings (apart from special meetings) are also 
arranged in advance. 

As set out in more detail below, the Board reconstituted 
its Board committees during the year. The functions of the 
Audit Committee (AC), Risk and Compliance Committee 
(RAC) and Procurement Oversight Committee (POC) 
were consolidated under a reconvened Audit and Risk 
Committee. The erstwhile Social and Ethics Committee 
was merged with the Human Resource and Remuneration 
Committee into a newly convened Social, Ethics and 
Human Resources Committee. Attendance at meetings 
and other engagements held during the year were 
as follows:

DESCRIPTION AGM BOARD ARC SEHRC OPSCO AC RAC HRR SEC POC COJ

Number of meetings 1 14 3 2 4 6 2 4 2 2 12

Bp DK Adams 1 6 2 2

Adv. G Badela 1 3 2

M Bahula 1 12 2 2 2 2 2 2

SR Bogatsu 1 2 1 1

L Brenner 1 13 3 6 2 3

R Buys 1 2 6

Dr P Hanekom 1 6 1 2 3

Dr W Hattingh 1 1 4

N Mabuya 1 8 3 6

S Maharaj 1 5 1 2 1 1

LJ Matshekga 1 12 3 2 4 1 1

D Mondlane 1 8 2 4 2

G Mufana 1 3 6

Dr N Mutshekwane 1 5 2 2 2

A Nair 1 5 3 2 2

Dr Y Ndema 1 1 3 1

Dr W Nyabeze 1 12 4 1

Adv. D Rampai 1 9 1 2 1 1 2

Governance Structures continued
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In total, excluding CoJ Group Committee and other 
remunerated attendances, Pikitup’s Board and Board 
committees met 40 times during the course of the year. 
The remuneration paid to the directors and independent 
Audit Committee members are reported on below.

Remuneration
Pikitup remunerates the non-executive directors and 
independent Audit Committee members in accordance 
with the policy and in the amounts determined from 
time to time by the CoJ Group Policy on the Shareholder 
Governance of the Board of Municipal Entities. 

The foregoing position was reaffirmed by special resolution 
at the 25 February 2014 annual general meeting. In 
instances where non-executive directors are required to 

attend to the business of Pikitup outside of meetings, they 

are paid a meeting fee for such attendances. The non-

executive directors and independent Audit Committee 

members are paid per meeting and are entitled to an 

annual retainer. The retainer is payable after year-end 

and provided that the director or independent Audit 

Committee member has attended the annual general 

meeting and 60% or more of the scheduled meetings. 

Executive directors and prescribed officers are employees of 

Pikitup and do not receive any additional remuneration by 

reason of their office.

The table below reflects the cost-to-company amounts 

paid by Pikitup to non-executive directors and 

independent Audit Committee members:

Name

Meeting
 fees

R

Retainer 
2014/15

R
Total

R

Bp DK Adams2 43 875 12 334 56 209

Adv. G Badela3 30 149 30 419

M Bahula 132 918 30 418 163 336

SR Bogatsu2 31 258 8 750 40 008

L Brenner 259 880 30 418 290 298

R Buys 30 418

Dr P Hanekom1, 2 129 662 24 447 154 069

W Hattingh

N Mabuya1 245 840 52 900 298 740

LJ Matshekga 159 370 30 418 189 788

D Mondlane 136 223 18 167 154 390

G Mufana 30 418

Dr N Mutshekwane 100 514 18 167 118 681

Dr Y Ndema 52 903 10 167 63 070

Dr W Nyabeze 119 694 30 418 150 112

Adv. TD Rampai 91 258 30 418 121 676

1 Chairpersons of the Board and Audit and Risk Committee receive a higher retainer
2 Dr P Hanekom, Ms SR Bogatsu, and Bp DK Adams were appointed during the year and received a prorated retainer
3 Adv. G Badela did not qualify for a retainer for the 2013/14 financial year
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Governance Structures continued

Senior management’s remuneration
The table below provides the information related to the remuneration of the Managing Director and Executive 
Management reporting directly to the Managing Director.

Designation

Basic 
salary

R

Medical 
aid

R

Pension
 fund

R

Travel 
allowance

R
Leave

R
Bonus

R
Total

R

Managing Director 1 790 398 – 153 064 342 964 – – 2 286 426

Chief Financial Officer 1 579 666 – 106 612 – – 240 698 1 926 976

Chief Operating Officer 1 259 149 27 007 97 445 72 000 – 135 465 1 591 066

Chief Technology Officer 755 333 – 97 500 166 667 66 064 – 1 085 564

ED: Waste Minimisation 1 485 924 – 106 612 – – 135 800 1 728 336

ED: Legal and Compliance 276 602 10 854 16 318 – 57 574 160 710 522 058

ED: Corporate Services 1 580 996 43 416 110 419 – – 237 584 1 972 415

ED: Strategic Services 787 195 – 82 875 – – 12 637 882 707

Board committees
During the year under review, the Board assessed the 
work of the various Board committees. In order to reduce 
duplication of oversight, the Board, on 15 February 2015, 
reorganised the Board committee structure. The erstwhile 
Audit Committee (AC), Social and Ethics Committee 
(SEC), Human Resources and Remuneration Committee 
(HRR), Risk Assurance and Compliance Committee (RAC), 
Procurement Oversight Committee (POC) and Operations 
Committee (OPSCO) were reconvened as the Audit and 
Risk Committee (ARC), Operations and Service Delivery 
Committee (OSD) and Social, Ethics and Human Resources 
Committee (SEHRC).

Audit and Risk Committee
During the 2014/15 financial year, the Audit Committee 
and Risk Committee were combined to form the Audit 
and Risk Committee (ARC). The ARC has combined the 
functions of the Audit Committee, Procurement Oversight 
Committee and the Risk Committee. It is an advisory body 
with a core mandate to assist the Board in reviewing and 
providing an objective view on the functioning of the 
Pikitup’s finance function, it’s accounting and internal 
control mechanisms, supply chain management processes, 
ICT governance, internal audit, fraud prevention, the 
functionality of Pikitup’s performance management 
system, oversight over compliance and litigation and 
enterprise risk management. The ARC exercises its 
functions in close communication with management, 
internal audit and the external auditors. 

At year-end, the members of Pikitup’s Audit and Risk 
Committee were Messrs LJ Matshekga (Chairperson), 
L Brenner, G Mufana, R Buys and W Hattingh. The director 
members of the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) are 

all independent non-executive directors appointed by 
Pikitup’s shareholder. They are Messrs LJ Matshekga 
(Chairperson) and L Brenner. In addition, it is the 
practice for the shareholder also to appoint independent 
Audit Committee members who are neither officials 
nor directors of the company to the Audit Committee. 
Messsrs R Buys, W Hattingh and G Mufana have been 
appointed.

The role of a municipal entity’s Audit Committee is set 
out in Section 166 of the MFMA and the guidelines and 
directives of National Treasury, read with the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2008 (Act No. 71 of 2008) (Companies 
Act). To implement and give effect to the foregoing, 
the ARC’s Charter was reviewed and restated during the 
course of the year and approved by the Board. 

To ensure that the ARC discharges all of its functions, a 
detailed annual work plan has been approved for the 
ARC. Each year, the ARC conducts a self-evaluation and 
also evaluates the performance of the internal audit 
function, the finance function and the performance of 
the external auditor of Pikitup. As recommended by 
King III, the ARC has met with the auditors of Pikitup 
separately from management. The ARC’s report on the 
annual financial statements are also included in this 
report. The ARC met nine times during the year under 
review and reported to the Board on its activities. The 
Board is satisfied that the ARC has adequately discharged 
its functions.

Operations and Service delivery Committee
At year-end, the members of Pikitup’s Operations and 
Service Delivery Committee (OPSCO) were Dr W Nyabeze 
(Chairperson), Bp DK Adams, Mr M Bahula, Adv. G Badela 
and Dr P Hanekom.
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The OPSCO is an advisory body convened by the need 
for stakeholder engagement, education and awareness, 
monitoring and providing strategic direction in order to 
achieve Pikitup’s objectives to assist the Board by closely 
monitoring and advising in relation to matters that 
affect Pikitup’s operational activities and service delivery 
mandate. Differently put, the OPSCO oversees strategy 
formulation and implementation at operational level to 
ensure that operational and environmental management 
within Pikitup is aligned with business strategy and to 
support and guide the Board and Executive Management 
in key operational, environmental and technical initiatives.

The committee must specifically recommend to the Board 
in which areas and through which mechanisms the Board 
can engage at levels beyond the reach of management to 
advocate for changes in policy, improving service delivery, 
obtaining the necessary funding, business-to-business 
partnering with the private sector and other entities and 
institutions in the public sector. 

The foregoing is captured in more detail in the OPSCO 
Charter which was reviewed and approved by the Board 
during the year under review. In order to ensure that the 
OPSCO properly discharges its responsibilities, an annual 
work plan has been developed.

The OPSCO met four times during the year under review 
and reported to the Board on its activities. The Board 
is satisfied that the OPSCO has properly discharged its 
responsibilities during the period under review.

Social, Ethics and Human Resources Committee
At year-end, the members of the Social, Ethics and 
Human Resources Committee (SEHRC) were Mr M Bahula 
(Chairperson), Bp DK Adams, Adv. G Badela and 
Adv. TD Rampai. Ms SR Bogatsu attended by invitation of 
the Board.

The SEHRC is an advisory body convened in terms of the 
provisions of the Companies Act and its regulations. In 
addition, the committee has a particular focus on the 
human capital aspects of Pikitup’s business. In its current 
form it is has incorporated the functions of the erstwhile 
Social and Ethics Committee and the Human Resources 
and Remuneration Committee.

The SEHRC monitors Pikitup’s activities relating to social 
and economic development and Pikitup’s standing in 
terms of the 10 principles set out in the United Nations 
Global Compact, the OECD recommendations regarding 
corruption, the Employment Equity Act and the Broad-
Based Black Economic Empowerment Act. In addition, 
the SEHRC oversees Pikitup’s conduct as a good corporate 
citizen, including its promotion of equality, prevention of 
unfair discrimination, reduction of corruption, contribution 
to development of the communities in which its activities 
are predominantly conducted or within which its services 
are delivered; the environment, health and public safety, 
including the impact of Pikitup’s activities and services.

This SEHRC also advises the Board on remuneration 
policies, remuneration packages and other terms of 
employment for all senior executives and employees. Its 
specific terms of reference also include recommendations 
to the Board on matters relating, inter alia, general 
remuneration policy, bonuses, executive remuneration, 
service contracts and medical and retirement benefits. 

The SEHRC Charter was extensively reviewed during the 
year under review and an annual work plan developed 
to guide the SEHRC’s activities. The SEHRC met four times 
during the year under review and the Board is satisfied 
that the SEHRC has adequately discharged its mandate. 
The SEHRC will also at the 2016 annual general meeting 
table a report on its activities and Pikitup’s social and 
ethical performance.
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Functions

Stakeholder engagement
Pikitup recognises that robust stakeholder engagement 

is essential to ensuring its strategic goals are met. To 

this end, Pikitup has undertaken a process to identify 

its key stakeholders and has developed a stakeholder 

engagement plan. The plan assists the company to 

engage with, and understand the primary concerns of, 

its stakeholders. 

This approach also required Pikitup to identify key 

platforms of engagements with stakeholders and target 

audiences that will foster relationships. Simply put, Pikitup 

embraced the notion of a stakeholder driven business 

geared to mobilise the public at large to be active 

citizens or activists in the management of sustainable and 
integrated waste management solutions. Key strategic 
interventions were identified that were needed to 
reposition the company to optimise partnerships aimed at 
driving the waste minimisation agenda.

Stakeholder mapping and analysis
A power/interest matrix model has been used to evaluate 
the expectations and impact of particular stakeholders, by 
making assessment against the following questions:

•	 How	interested	is	each	stakeholder	group	in	the	
organisation’s decisions?

•	 What	power	and	influence	can	they	exert	on	those	
decisions?

keep satisfied
Labour, Media, Residents, Customers, 

Ratepayer Associations, Service Providers

keep informed
Employees, Industry, Civil Society, NGOs, 

Political Parties, Organised Business, 
Schools, Health Sector, Taxi Association, 

Hawkers, Construction Sector

Manage closely
Shareholders, Boards, Auditor-General, 

DEA, Councillors, Political Parties, 
Section 79 Committee

Mimimal effort
  
  
  
 

Reputational Risk
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Strategies for engagement 
For the 2015/16 financial year, Pikitup has taken a 
stakeholder “driven approach” to strengthen and develop 
relationships with the identified stakeholders. The first 
part will outline generic strategies that are to be deployed 
for each stakeholder engagement and the second 
part a targeted approach that will be taken with each 
specific stakeholder. 

Stakeholder Engagement Committee
In strengthening the overall approach to stakeholder 
engagement, Pikitup has also institutionalised a 
“Stakeholder Engagement Committee” to support this 
new paradigm of stakeholder engagements. This will 
include the identification of clear leads responsible for 
maintaining relationships with stakeholders and the 
frequency of these engagements.

Enterprise risk management
The ARC ensures that there is an effective risk 
management process in place and that internal controls 
are effective and adequately reported on. The committee 
oversees the effectiveness of risk management through 
quarterly risk management reports that are prepared and 
presented by management to the committee. The Board 
conducted a Risk Workshop in November 2014 in which 
it revisited the risks previously identified. The general 
consensus at the Risk Workshop was that given that 
neither Pikitup’s mandate nor its strategy had changed, 
the top risks previously identified remained relevant 
to Pikitup. 

Pikitup actively manages uncertainties (both positive and 
negative) that are significant in relation to its strategic 
objectives and interaction with stakeholders. This process 
is entrenched in Pikitup’s strategic planning and continues 
to mature. Pikitup previously reported that it had 
comprehensively reviewed its enterprise risk management 
(ERM) policies, procedures and practices. Following on that 
review, the ERM Department was restructured to good 
effect during the year under review: the ERM Department 
was located within an interim Governance, Risk and 
Compliance Directorate and additional staff appointed. 

Combined assurance integration
The ERM Department has since acquired automated risk 
management software and, together with management, 
reassessed Pikitup’s risk profile. The reassessment was 
made possible by redefining Pikitup’s approach to risk 
assessments and that process is now interlinked with 
the predetermined objectives of Pikitup and its priority 
and flagship programmes as well as certain projects such 
as Jozi@Work.

With the configuration of the ERM software, it was 
necessary further to improve Pikitup’s ERM policy 
and procedure framework. In summary, the work is 
at an advanced stage and once completed, the risk 
governance framework will be uniform across all levels of 
application, based on a restated risk profile. In addition 
to the foregoing, the ERM Department will become the 
custodians of Pikitup’s Combined Assurance Framework. 
Management is developing a Combined Assurance 
Framework for Pikitup, which framework will be closely 
aligned with that of the CoJ’s policies and procedures. 

The ERM software platform is shared with Pikitup’s 
Internal Audit Department. As a result, the risk-based 
internal audit plan and actual audits are now also 
automated and will be continually updated with 
information drawn from the risk management module. 
In addition, any audit findings (external and internal) will 
also be mapped to resolution through the same platform. 
The Board and management is therefore positioned 
to derive real-time information for improved decision-
making. From a pure governance perspective, combined 
assurance becomes systematised. 

Business continuity plan
The ERM Department has previously prepared a Business 
Continuity Plan and is currently participating in an open 
tender process with the CoJ to obtain assistance with 
the further development thereof. As a subsidiary in the 
CoJ group of companies (entities), Pikitup participates in 
comprehensive policies of insurance obtained at group 
level which effectively transfers a number of adverse 
outcomes to the insurer. 

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) role
The ARC ensures that there is an effective risk 
management process in place and that internal controls 
are effective and adequately reported on. The committee 
oversees the effectiveness of risk management through 
quarterly risk management reports that are prepared 
and presented by management to the committee. 
The Board conducted a Risk Workshop in November 2014 
in which it revisited the risks previously identified. The 
general consensus at the Risk Workshop was that given 
that neither Pikitup’s mandate nor the central gist of its 
strategy had changed, the top risks previously identified 
remained relevant to Pikitup.

Risk management process
Risk is about the effect of uncertainty on objectives and 
maximisation of opportunities. An enterprise risk focus is 
not intended to identify every risk facing an organisation, 
but to identify those that are most significant to its 
ability to achieve and realise its core business strategy 
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Functions continued

and objectives supporting value creation. The Risk 
Management Department advises the business on risk 
management approaches, methodologies and systems, 
monitors that risk management is persistently and 
consistently exercised across the company, and in turn 
reports to various constituted Board committees and 
forums on both the inherent risk and the residual risk 
across the company.

The risk management process was subjected to assessment 
by internal assurers to assess its design, implementation and 
operating effectiveness. The outcome of the internal audit, 
based on the results of audit work planned and completed, 
concluded that management controls with regard to 
enterprise risk management are adequate and effective to 
provide assurance that Pikitup’s objectives will be achieved.

Pikitup’s management is responsible for managing our risk 
and resilience in order to provide greater assurance to all 

our stakeholders. Each top risk has a specific risk owner 
at an individual executive level. These executives evaluate 
the risk profile to determine the enterprise and business 
risk profiles as well as putting risk controls and treatment 
plans in place to manage risks within our approved 
appetite and tolerance levels. 

Risk management is done at departmental level and is 
reported upwards to our centralised Risk Management 
Department. The identified risks are consolidated into an 
integrated risk report focusing on the top risks impacting 
Pikitup at enterprise level, which are reviewed by the 
Executive Committee, the Audit and Risk Committee. 

Significant efforts have been made by management over 
the past 12 months in implementing risk treatment plans 
to manage risks. Tabled below are the top five risks which 
after continuous treatment has moved to within Pikitup’s 
risk tolerance for the particular category of risk.

RISK DESCRIPTIONS
INHERENT 
RISK RATING

RESIDUAL 
RISK RATING

Financial loss Financial loss as a result of fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure, fraudulent activities, and unauthorised 
expenditure and non-compliance with financial/SCM 
regulations leading to irregular expenditure

Appropriate leadership and 
skills

Lack of sufficient and appropriate leadership and skills. 
Availability of labour and suitability of labour profile to 
achieve mandate

Depletion of landfill 
airspace

Rapid depletion of landfill airspace

Lack of a culture of 
performance management 

Lack of a culture of performance management 

Strikes/Protest action Strikes/Protest action

Very high High Moderate Low
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The continuous scanning of the external and internal 
environments in which we operate allows for the early 
identification of emerging events or risks that may 
pose opportunities or threats to our current and future 
business and/or activities. In line with our enterprise risk 
management framework, risks are annually reviewed 
and assessed. Management commenced with the process 
of reviewing the company risk profile based on 2015/16 
business performance objectives and the process was 
ongoing at year-end.

Internal audit function
The internal audit function has a specific mandate from 
the Audit Committee to independently appraise the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the entity’s risk management 
process, internal controls, and governance processes – 
reporting its findings to the Divisional Management, 
Executive Committee, external auditors, the Audit and 
Risk Committee and Board of Directors. The Chief Audit 
Executive reports administratively to the Managing Director 
and to the Audit Committee on a functional basis. The 
mandate of the internal audit function is documented in 
the approved Internal Audit Charter.

The internal audit coverage plan is based on results of 
both the entity-wide risk assessment performed by the 
entity’s Executive Committee, and the approved business 
plan. The coverage plan is updated annually, based on the 
risk assessment, internal and external emerging strategic 
issues and results of audits performed in the previous 
financial year. This ensures that the audit coverage focuses 
on identified internal and external emerging risk.

In addition, the internal audit function is responsible for 
investigating all incidences of fraud, corruption and other 
acts of unethical behaviour. These incidences are reported 
internally and externally via the Group’s anonymous tip-off 
hotline. The internal audit function reports on a quarterly 
basis to the Audit and Risk Committee, and the Executive 
Committee, on the activities undertaken with regards to 
fraud investigation, prevention and detection activities. 
Internal audit also reports on identified trends regarding 
fraudulent acts and other acts of unethical behaviour and 
their impact on the overall entity’s risk profile.

Information technology governance
Pikitup has adopted an Information and Communications 
Technology (ICT) Governance Framework in accordance 
with the guidelines contained in King III. King III recognises 
that ICT has become an integral part of doing business 
today, as it is fundamental to the support, sustainability 
and growth of institutions. ICT cuts across all aspects, 
components and processes in business and is therefore 
not only an operational enabler for an institution, but 
an important strategic asset which can be leveraged to 
create opportunities and to facilitate service delivery. 

Pikitup’s ICT Governance Framework aims to combine the 
consensus of experts into a best practice document to be 
used as a step-by-step approach to develop and implement 
ICT governance (or aspects thereof).

The benefits of the ICT Governance Framework include 
shorter implementation periods, diminished costs, a 
structured development process as well as an improved 
end-product. Going forward, Pikitup intends to build 
on the COBIT framework and Pikitup’s ICT Governance 
Framework will look into the application of COBIT (as a 
comprehensive ICT Governance Framework) to develop, 
implement and maintain an ICT governance system, which 
would cause Pikitup to comply with the ICT governance 
requirements of King III. It will also expand on the use of 
ITIL to support COBIT4.

In January 2013, the Department of Public Service and 
Administration published the implementation guidelines 
for corporate governance of the Information and 
Communication Technology Policy Framework. For the year 
2014, Pikitup focused on phase 1 of the implementation 
which requires the creation of an enabling environment. 
To this end, a draft ICT Governance Policy, Charter and Plan 
(ICT Governance Framework) has been developed. The 
draft will be finalised in the new financial year. However, 
the day-to-day management of ICT is under the leadership 
of the Chief Technology Officer who is responsible for the 
governance of ICT within Pikitup. 

Executive Management through the Executive Committee 
continues to be accountable/responsible for the corporate 
governance of ICT. Pikitup is poised to implement the 
second phase during the next financial year which will 
focus on the enablement of business by ICT and the actual 
implementation of governance and management of ICT. 
It is noted that the framework includes best practices 
such as COBIT and King III. It is expected that with the 
implementation of the ICT Governance Framework, the key 
challenge of alignment experienced during the financial 
year will be addressed. Much of the project that ICT embarks 
on will be aligned to the strategic requirements of Pikitup.

Company secretarial function
The primary function of the Company Secretary is to act 
as the link between the Board and management and 
to facilitate good relationships with the shareholder. 
The Company Secretary is responsible for the general 
administration, more specifically to ensure compliance 
to good corporate governance practices and to provide 
guidance to the directors on corporate governance 
principles and applicable legislation. The Company 
Secretary has certified in terms of Section 268(d) of the 
Companies Act that all statutory returns have been 
submitted to the Companies and Intellectual Property 
Commission.
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Compliance

Statutory requirements
To ensure that accountability and governance 
arrangements are in place, Section 121(2)(c) of the 
Municipal Finance Management Act (MFMA) supports the 
requirements of Section 18(1)(d) of the Municipal Systems 
Act (MSA); taken together it is required that information 
on matters of governance must be communicated to 
stakeholders and communities. This communication is, 
in terms of Section 65(1)(a) of the MFMA and Section 46 
of the MSA undertaken through the compilation and 
publication of an Integrated Annual Report. 

Legislation
The Board is responsible for ensuring that the entity 
complies with the law and applicable codes, standards 
and best-practice directive. Compliance is the basis for 
the management of ethical conduct across all spheres 
of Pikitup’s activities and interaction with internal 
and external stakeholders. To this end, Pikitup has a 
clear Compliance Management Policy supported by a 
procedural framework. 

Whilst relevant and appropriate, the value that can be 
derived from measured Compliance Management Policy 
becomes reduced in the face of limited resources. To 
enhance the measurement of compliance, Pikitup has 
acquired compliance management software which it is 
in the process of implementing. Whilst aimed principally 
at compliance with legislation (external controls), the 
system will also be utilised to better govern and improve 
compliance with Pikitup’s internal control framework. 
Copied below is a list of the principal legislation to which 
Pikitup complies: 

•	 Municipal	Finance	Management	Act	(Act	No.	56	
of 2003)

•	 Municipal	Structures	Act	(Act	No.	117	of	1998)

•	 Municipal	Systems	Act	(Act	No.	32	of	2000)

•	 Preferential	Procurement	Policy	Framework	Act	
(Act No. 5 of 2000)

•	 Broad-Based	Black	Economic	Empowerment	Act	
(Act No. 53 of 2003)

•	 The	Constitution	of	the	Republic	of	South	Africa	Act	
(Act No. 108 of 1996)

•	 Promotion	of	Access	to	Information	Act	
(Act No. 2 of 2000)

•	 Promotion	of	Administrative	Justice	Act	(Act	No.	3	
of 2000)

•	 Protected	Disclosures	Act	(Act	No.	26	of	2000)

•	 Prevention	and	Combating	of	Corrupt	Activities	Act	
(Act No. 12 of 2004)

•	 Companies	Act	(Act	No.	71	2008)

•	 Competition	Act	(Act	No.	89	of	1998)

•	 National	Environmental	Management:	Air	Quality	Act	
(Act No. 39 of 2004)

•	 National	Environmental	Management:	Waste	Act	
(Act No. 59 of 2008)

•	 Environmental	Conservation	Act	(Act	No.	73	of	1989)

•	 Minimum	Requirements	for	Waste	Disposal	by	Landfill	
(2nd Edition, 1998; DWAF)

•	 CoJ	Waste	Management	By-laws	(2013)

•	 National	Road	Traffic	Act	(Act	No.	93	of	1996)

•	 Labour	Relations	Act	(Act	No.	66	of	1995)

•	 Basic	Conditions	of	Employment	Act	(Act	No.	75	
of 1997)

•	 Employment	Equity	Act	(Act	No.	55	of	1998)

•	 Skills	Development	Act	(Act	No.	97	of	1998)

•	 Skills	Development	Levy	Act	(Act	No.	9	of	1999)

•	 Unemployment	Insurance	Act	(Act	No.	63	of	2001)

•	 Unemployment	Insurance	Contributions	Act	(Act	No.	4	
of 2002)

•	 Occupational	Health	and	Safety	Act	(Act	No.	85	
of 1993)

•	 Compensation	for	Occupational	Injuries	and	Diseases	
Act (Act No. 130 of 1993)

•	 National	Health	Act	(Act	No.	61	of	2003)

•	 Income	Tax	Act	(Act	No.	58	of	1962)

•	 Value-Added	Tax	Act	(Act	No.	89	of	1991)

The list is not exhaustive but on analysis represents 
the core legislative duties of a municipal-owned and 
regulated incorporated company carrying out its mandate 
as a waste management and minimisation business.

As stated, Pikitup has acquired compliance management 
software; part of its implementation will be a review 
of Pikitup’s Compliance Management Framework. To 
ensure cogency of reporting, it is imperative that Pikitup 
aligns its Compliance Management Framework with the 
CoJ Compliance Framework recently made available to 
Pikitup. This work is currently under way.
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That being said, Pikitup recently received an independently 
assessed average 90% compliance score in relation to its 
management of landfills. Pikitup is also compliant with 
all its duties in relation to occupational health and safety, 
strictly adheres to the legislation that governs (preferential) 
procurement, human resource practices and reporting, and 
is in good standing with the South African Revenue Service 
and the Compensation Commissioner. 

At that, following on external audits previously conducted 
by the AGSA, Pikitup is materially compliant with its 
duties arising from the municipal regulatory framework 
such as the MFMA and the MSA.

Codes and protocols
Pikitup applies the governance principles contained in 
King III and continues to further entrench and strengthen 
recommended practices in our governance structures, 
systems, processes and procedures. The directors and 
executives recognise and are committed to the principles 
of openness, integrity and accountability advocated by 

the King III. Through this process, stakeholders can derive 
assurance that the entity is being ethically managed 
according to prudently determined risk parameters and in 
compliance with generally accepted corporate practices. 
Monitoring the entity’s compliance with King III, forms 
part of the mandate of the Audit Committee. The entity 
has complied with King III in all material respects during 
the year under review.

The Board of Directors has incorporated CoJ’s Corporate 
Governance Protocol in its Board Charter, which, inter 
alia, regulates its relationship with CoJ as its sole member 
and parent municipality in the interest of good corporate 
governance and good ethics. The Protocol is premised on 
the principles enunciated in King III. Pikitup consolidated 
its position in respect of adherence to King III. The entity’s 
practices are, in most material instances, in line with the 
principles set out in King III. Ongoing steps are, however, 
taken to align practices with King III’s recommendations 
and the Board continually reviews our progress to ensure 
that we continue to improve our corporate governance. 
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Ethical and Responsible Leadership

Corporate citizenship 
The Board and management recognise that the entity is 
formed under a political structure. As such, it has a social 
and moral standing in society with all the attendant 
responsibilities. The Board is therefore responsible for 
ensuring that the entity protects, enhances and invests 
in the well-being of the economy, society and natural 
environment, and pursues its activities within the limits of 
social, political and environmental responsibilities outlined 
in international conventions on human rights. The 
foregoing is inextricably linked with Pikitup’s mandate to 
provide municipal waste management and minimisation 
services as codified in the governance instruments that 
regulate its activities.

Anti-fraud and corruption 
Pikitup adopted a comprehensive approach to the 
management of fraud risk and this policy confirms that 
Pikitup supports and fosters a culture of Zero Tolerance to 
fraud in all its forms.

Fraud represents a significant potential risk to the 
entity’s assets, service delivery efficiency and reputation. 
As such, Pikitup will not tolerate fraudulent or corrupt 
activities, whether internal or external to the entity, and 
will vigorously pursue and prosecute any parties, by all 
legal means available, which engage in such practices or 
attempt to do so.

Fraud prevention is a process that is adopted, in putting 
mechanisms in place, to manage Pikitup’s vulnerability to 
fraud. Such mechanisms are designed to prevent, deter 
and detect fraud. The Board has approved an updated 
and revised Fraud Prevention Policy and Response Plan. 
The Pikitup Communications Department developed a 
fraud prevention policy statement and poster, which 
was translated into three languages, distributed to all 
employees and posted at depots, garden sites, landfill sites 
and head office. The anti-fraud hotline (080 000 2587) 
remains in operation and all reports made thereon, is 
reported directly to the Internal Audit Department and 
the ARC for consideration.

Ethical leadership and management
Pikitup has developed an Ethics Management Programme 
which is supported by the Codes of Conduct prescribed by 
the MSA. The foregoing is amplified by clear direction on 
the annual declaration of financial interests by all directors 
and staff, a policy on the declaration of possible conflicts 
of interest together with an Anti-fraud and Corruption 
Policy. The latter is enhanced by stakeholders being able to 
report, anonymously if necessary, any matter of suspicion 
through Pikitup’s anti-fraud and corruption hotline. As 
explained in more detail elsewhere in this report, the 
Board reconstituted the Social, Ethics and Human Resources 
Committee, which committee, with a fresh mandate and 
under new leadership closely monitors and guides Pikitup’s 
management of ethics and leadership development.
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Sustainability Overview
Pikitup works to ensure the continued relevance and 
sustainability of the company, and to add value to the 
CoJ. The company provides value through a number of 
channels:

Value creation
•	 Creating a clean, healthy environment which is 

conducive to civic pride, investment, and confidence 
in local government. A clean city is achieved through 
waste collection from households, street cleaning, 
collection of illegally dumped materials, and disposal 
of waste at landfills. These activities are implemented 
in a cost efficient and effective manner to ensure value 
for money to the ratepayers.

– Pikitup provides a waste collection service to 
831 352 formal households on a weekly basis, an 
increase in the number from previous years; in 
2012/13, 740 401 households were serviced and in 
2013/14 Pikitup provided a waste collection service 
to 754 821 household. 

– Pikitup is providing a waste refuse management 
service to 164 informal settlements consisting of 
183 895 structures. In the financial year 2012/13 a 
total of 133 informal settlements were provided 
waste collection and 135 informal settlements were 
serviced in the 2013/14 financial year.

– There are 22 hostels within the CoJ where cleaning 
activities such as litter picking, illegal dumping and 
domestic waste collection are performed by Pikitup. 

– In the 2012/13 financial year there were a total of 
775 000 240-litre bins delivered and in 2013/14 a 
total of 23 803 240-litre bins were delivered.

•	 Waste minimisation – Contributing to the 
sustainable development goals and limiting negative 
environmental impacts by changing our business 
model to ensure waste minimisation (reduce waste 
to landfills). This is achieved through encouragement 
of recycling activities, implementation of new 
technologies (e.g. biodigestors, landfill gas extraction, 
health care risk waste facilities, waste to energy, etc.). 

  The new business model also ensures that value 
is extracted from waste – waste is viewed as a 
commodity and a useful resource. The recycled 
waste provides an additional revenue source for the 
company. This reduces reliance on grant funding from 
the shareholder.

•	 job creation – The methodologies used in the 
implementation of waste management activities, 
such as Separation@Source, Jozi@Work and Food for 
Waste, ensure that opportunities are extracted from 
the waste value chain. Through the establishment 

of co-operatives and entrepreneurial development 
initiatives, sustainable jobs are created and new 
business established. This is a direct contribution to 
the National Development Plan to reduce inequality, 
reduce poverty and reduce unemployment. These 
programmes include the establishment of co-
operatives, training as well as ongoing support of the 
co-operatives. Training includes waste related matters 
as well as entrepreneur training and development.

Integrated sustainable waste 
management (ISWM)
ISWM is a concept that has evolved through Pikitup’s 
years of solid waste management experience. The concept 
requires that all key stakeholders are involved in the 
integrated planning of all waste system elements (i.e. 
from the point of generation to ultimate disposal, and 
including all steps of waste reduction, recycling, reuse and 
resource recovery in between these points) and addressing 
all system aspects (e.g. institutional, financial, regulatory, 
social and environmental aspects). Pikitup is mandated 
to manage and dispose of waste in a responsible manner 
(the mandate includes the minimisation of waste to 
landfills, in order to ensure resource sustainability).

Pikitup aims to minimise its negative, and maximise its 
positive environmental, social, and health impacts while 
ensuring the effective and efficient economic delivery 
of waste management services. The main objective of 
Pikitup’s Business Plan is to maximise the benefit of 
each component by minimising costs and maximising 
environmental protection and public acceptance, 
while being sufficiently flexible to adapt to changing 
circumstances.

ISWM planning includes an evaluation of the overall 
system to determine the economic breakpoint for direct 
transport versus transfer, and assessing the number 
and strategic locations of key treatment and disposal 
facilities. All these aspects are considered part of the daily 
operations of Pikitup.

A landfill is a part of every solid waste management system, 
providing disposal space for the residuals of treatment 
facilities, as well as space for all non-treatable wastes. 
Landfills are always needed to provide back-up disposal 
capacity in the event of up-stream facility closures or 
unduly large amounts of waste. Landfill life is extended by 
implementing recycling and resource recovery options, and 
thus initial capacity is never compromised by consideration 
of other disposal facilities. Pikitup has implemented the 
Separation@Source Project in certain areas to encourage 
recycling by residents. The programme was operational 
in four areas of CoJ during the 2013/14 financial year 
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but considerable effort should be made to increase 
participation and to increase accessibility to all areas.

Pikitup initiatives are focused to propose ways to 
encourage a local waste management ethic: to sensitise 
people to put waste out at prescribed times, source 
segregate recyclables, stop littering, and support waste 
reduction efforts. The ISWM strategy is based on the 
“hierarchy of waste management” (i.e. Reduce-Reuse-
Recycle-Compost-Dispose). The hierarchy of waste 
management simply advocates that the best approach to 
waste management is to first and foremost try to reduce 
waste generation and separate potential recyclables 
at source to improve the quality of materials for reuse, 
including organics for composting or anaerobic digestion.

What cannot be reduced should be reused if possible. 
What cannot be reduced or reused should be recycled, 
particularly secondary materials such as metal and paper. 
Wastes that cannot be recycled should be recovered. The 
waste hierarchy leads to reduced quantities requiring 
transfer and disposal; extends landfill lifetimes; reduces 
extraction of non-renewable raw materials; provides local 
generation of material feedstock for industry; reduces 
deforestation; reduces greenhouse gas generation; 
provides valuable recovered resources (e.g. methane gas 
and compost); provides employment and income; and 
directly involves all waste generators in improving the 
environment through waste minimisation and source 
segregation.

Although various programmes have been implemented by 
Pikitup in the 2014/15 financial year and a 160% increase 
was experience in the tonnages of waste diverted, more 
effort will be put into achieving the target to reduce 
waste to landfill by 20% by 2016.

The company is currently reviewing and developing its 
sustainability strategy in order to align it to the new 
organisational objectives. During the year under review, 
the company’s focus has been on the redevelopment of its 
triple bottom line reporting.

Environmental
Greenhouse gas emissions
Pikitup does not monitor its contribution to GHG 
emissions. This is done by the shareholder department, i.e. 
the Environment, Infrastructure and Services Department 
(EISD). An index and methodology has been developed for 
the measurement of GHG but is reported globally for CoJ. 
EISD also manages the project for landfill gas extraction to 
convert to energy, and receives information directly from 
the contractor. In accordance with the permit conditions 
for landfill sites, Pikitup monitors and reports on air 
quality and water quality at the respective landfill sites.

Environmental compliance 
Pikitup strives to have zero impact on the environment 
throughout its operations. Our landfill sites are licensed 
through the National Environmental Management: Waste 
Act of 2008 and Environmental Conservation Act of 1989 
that set out the conditions which we must comply with 
in order to ensure that the environment is protected 
against any degradation or pollution. To comply with 
the set conditions and to ensure that there is minimal 
damage to the environment, legal compliance audits 
are conducted quarterly by the EISD and annually by 
an independent auditor and on an ad-hoc basis by the 
licensing authorities. There has been vast improvement 
in the compliance levels since the 2012/13 financial year. 
The operating landfill sites’ compliance level was 68.5% 
in 2012/13, 80.9% in 2013/14 and increased to 90.3% in 
2014/15. This shows the amount of work that Pikitup 
has done to ensure the protection of the environment in 
which it operates. In addition, inspections are conducted 
on a monthly basis at all depots and landfill sites to 
monitor the level of compliance with the various statutory 
licences and best environmental practices. Pikitup has also 
embarked on the implementation of an Integrated SHE 
Management System and is working towards obtaining 
ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 standards certification. 

The company’s strategy is premised on waste minimisation 
to remedy and minimise the negative environmental 
impact caused by its operations to the environment. These 
programmes are also aimed at socio-economic upliftment 
of communities as they are based on partnerships with 
community small enterprises and co-operatives in the 
provision of these services. The implementation of 
programmes such as the Separation@Source Project which 
recovers recyclable material from the point of generation 
in collaboration with communities, is one of these 
initiatives established by the company to divert waste 
from landfills. This results in the decrease of the number 
of vehicles that transport waste to landfills, thus reducing 
the carbon footprint from the vehicles emitting carbon 
dioxide. Also, this decreases the tonnages of waste going 
to landfill sites and save landfill airspace.

The company is also involved in another initiative,  
Jozi@Work which is also aimed at diverting recyclable 
waste away from landfill sites through partnerships 
between CoJ and the communities. This initiative, 
together with Pikitup’s wider Separation@Source 
programme, has a positive impact on the reduction 
of new materials extracted from Mother Nature and 
thus supports the Circular Economy paradigm. The 
implementation of the Landfill Gas Project (which is a 
greenhouse gas management project) by the EISD at our 
landfill sites decreases the amount of carbon emissions 
emanating from landfills. 

Sustainability Overview continued
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The green waste diversion programme involves chipping 
of the garden waste at the garden sites, which increases 
the volume of green waste per truck load hauled to a 
processing facility and thus reducing the number of trips 
and vehicle emissions generated. Also, the diversion of 
green waste (which is an organic material) has a positive 
impact on the reduction of carbon emissions emanating 
from landfills.

Health and safety 
It is our priority to create a safe and healthy work 
environment. Pikitup has put in place procedures that are 
in compliance with the Occupational Health and Safety 
Act (1993), and Compensation for Occupational Injuries 
and Diseases Act (1993). These procedures determine the 
manner in which Pikitup operates to ensure the safety of 
our employees and the public in areas in which we operate. 

During the period under review there has been a vast 
decrease in the number of injuries within our operations. 
Pikitup’s health and safety performance is a leading 
indicator of how the organisation runs the business. 
There has been a very meaningful improvement across 
our key safety performance metrics and the programmes 
that have been implemented assisted in achieving the 
goals. Even with this improvement, we believe that we 
still have a lot more work to do and our focus is insistent 
to achieve zero harm. We continue to promote through 
our programmes the reporting, investigation, analysis and 
sharing of high potential incidents through the learning 
from incidents processes. 

To ensure that safety is maintained at all times at 
the operational landfills, the operational face at the 
Goudkoppies landfill site has been separated into two 
cells. This was necessary due to the ongoing difficulties 
experienced regarding the reclaimers working on 
the operational face and not adhering to safety rules 
and procedures. In addition to the separate cells 
there is additional security personnel that assists with 
management of reclaimers. These measures have assisted 
us in ensuring that the reclaimers, vehicles and the plant 
are at different areas of the landfill sites at all times thus 
preventing the risk of accidents occurring.

Social development
Various community projects, aimed at maximising Pikitup’s 
positive social and environmental impact in the CoJ, are 
integrated into Pikitup’s core business. These projects form 
part of Pikitup’s core business and are outlined below.

Through the implementation of various initiatives such 
as Separation@Source, Food for Waste, Bin Cleaning and 
others, (discussed in Chapter 3) Pikitup contributes to the 
following strategic interventions:

•	 Health	care	initiatives

•	 Education

•	 Skills	training	and	job	creation

•	 Small	business	development

•	 Environmental	education	and	management

Pikitup is dedicated to the development of youth as 
well as creating opportunities for the youth in the waste 
sector. A Youth Desk was established in the organisation 
with a dedicated youth officer. Some of the achievements 
of the Youth Desk include:

•	 A	total	of	450	beneficiaries	registered	on	the	Bin	
Cleaning Database of whom a total of 316 are youth 

•	 A	total	of	900	youth	participated	in	the	National	Youth	
Service Programme and Global Youth Service Day 

•	 The	Zero	Waste	Youth	Summit	was	hosted	as	part	of	
the National Youth Month programme 

•	 350	beneficiaries	were	trained	on	the	
Entrepreneurship Start-up 1 Bootcamp in partnership 
with the National Youth Development Agency

•	 A	total	of	1	474	work	opportunities	were	created	for	
youth, women and PDIs through the Expanded Public 
Works Programme

Supply chain management and black 
economic empowerment
The entity has adopted supply chain management systems 
in compliance with the provisions of the MFMA and the 
National Treasury: Municipal Supply Chain Management 
Regulations, 2005. An SCM unit was established in 
September 2009 which monitors the implementation of 
the entity’s SCM policies in line with the regulations which 
seeks to modernise financial governance and improve 
accountability and transparency in the entity’s processes. 
A fully-fledged SCM structure was developed in response 
to this. The SCM unit is close to being fully capacitated. 
Pikitup has an SCM Policy and SCM Procedure Manual 
that is reviewed on an annual basis. The entity’s SCM 
policies provide for the exclusion of awards to persons 
in the service of the state subject to the exemptions and 
regulations issued by National Treasury from time to time.

In an endeavour to improve accountability and 
transparency in the Bid process the entity has 
implemented the committee system for bids with separate 
Bid Specification, Bid Evaluation and Bid Adjudication 
Committees having been set out.

The Board has also ensured that the Supply Chain 
Management policy embraced the objectives of broad-
based Black Economic Empowerment and the Managing 
Director, as the Accounting Officer of the company, was 
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Sustainability Overview continued

tasked as the custodian for effective implementation. The 
capital projects implemented during this period under 
review served as a valuable foundation for ensuring 
community participation in our BEE programmes. This 
pace will be enhanced and the company will continue to 
be sensitive to the financial constraints facing emerging 
black businesses.

The entity has made awards of approximately 
R341.9 million in value with almost 83% of the value of 
the tender awards being made to black-owned companies 
and 55% to women-owned companies.

No unsolicited bids were made by the company. The 
MFMA prescribes that no persons in the service of the 
state should be awarded a tender. One of the main 

challenges is not having a central payroll database so as to 
cross-reference any employees who could be working for 
other state departments in the local, provincial or national 
sphere of government.

Pikitup has implemented the municipal bidding form for 
all bidders to declare their interests and in particular if 
they are employees of the state. Further directors and 
shareholders of bidding entities are cross-referenced to 
Pikitup’s payroll as well as that of CoJ. This challenge 
is not unique to the Pikitup environment. With the 
introduction of the Centralised Vendor Database by the 
Office of the Chief Procurement Officer, it is anticipated 
that instances of awarding tenders to an employee of the 
state be minimised.

Supply Chain Management Policy
In an attempt to stabilise the Supply Chain Management unit the following key issues have been identified to address 
the immediate to short-term needs of the unit. 

ACTIVITY ACTION PLAN IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS TO DATE

Registration of 
suppliers, update 
of supplier data, 
monitoring of BEE 
spend

The supplier database is updated 
on a regular basis depending on 
the information being updated, 
particularly tax clearance and BEE 
certificates

New suppliers will be invited to 
register in the new financial year

Continuous Four suppliers have been blocked as 
a result of non-disclosure. We have 
a total of 2 253 suppliers that are 
fully accredited on the SAP system. 
This is as at 30 June 2015. Records 
of suppliers have been updated for 
the quarter under review. A supplier 
development workshop is scheduled 
for July/August 2015.

In May 2015 we invited new suppliers 
onto the database and received 
316 applications.

Three interns have been employed to 
assist with supplier registration and 
updates.

Procurement of 
goods and services 
in terms of the 
acquisition plan

Implement and monitor progress 
on projects in terms of the SCM 
schedule of activities

New SCM acquisition 
plan for 2014/15 
year developed and 
approved

The acquisition plan is being 
monitored for progress in terms 
of Opex and Capex tenders. User 
Department has been engaged 
in terms of ensuring that tender 
initiations are received on time as per 
the plan. A plan is being affected to 
address the delays. The acquisition 
plan for 2015/16 (Opex and Capex) 
has been approved.
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ACTIVITY ACTION PLAN IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS TO DATE

Management of 
inventory and 
distribution of 
stock to depots and 
landfill sites

Implement contracts for strategic 
stock items. Undertake stock count 

30 June 2015 Regular stock counts are being 
performed monthly with perpetual 
stock counts also undertaken. 

Ensure compliance 
to MFMA and SCM 
regulations for the 
procurement of 
goods and services

Review and update SCM policy. 
Update SCM procedures

31 January 2013 and 
11 August 2014

The SCM policy was approved in 
April 2013. This policy would need to 
be reviewed.

The SCM Procedure Manual was 
approved in August 2014. The SCM 
policy and procedure is currently 
under review. Basic SCM workshops 
were held in the last quarter for user 
departments.

Compilation of 
bid specifications; 
evaluation of bids; 
Adjudication and 
awarding of bids

Scheduling of bid meetings for the 
different functions. Re-constitute 
the BAC at the appropriate levels 
for a new term

Ongoing Scheduling of bid meetings for the 
different functions. Re-constitute the 
BAC at the appropriate levels for a 
new term. BAC Charter in process of 
being developed. Acquisition plan 
to include timelines and compulsory 
attendees, i.e. legal, audit and 
finance determined upfront.

Training on supply 
chain policy and 
procedures

Training of Bid Committees. Up-
skilling of SCM officials

30 June 2015 SCM will embark on training of BAC, 
BSC and BEC to ensure adherence to 
SCM framework.

Review of SCM 
structure; Filling of 
18 vacancies

Filling of key positions in SCM 30 April 2015 SCM structure has been completed 
and approved. The following 
positions have been filled: 

•	 2	x	Sourcing	Specialists

•	 1	x	Inventory	Specialists

•	 3	x	Interns

The following positions are in the 
process of being filled:

•	 1	x	Procurement	Analyst

•	 3	x	Stores	Administrator

•	 1	x	Demand	Specialist

•	 1	x	Database	Clerk

BEE spend
The table below summarises the spend per quarter (as a percentage of total spend) on BEE entities as well as women-
owned entities:

CATEGORY ACTUAL q1 ACTUAL q2 ACTUAL q3 ACTUAL q4 TARGETS

Black-owned entities 30% 97% 99.3% 99.60% 75%

Women-owned entities 21% 15% 55.5% 92.95% 25%
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Key Achievements
•	 Although	the	target	for	waste	to	be	diverted	was	not	

achieved, the waste diverted was a 160% increase 
from the 2013/14 financial year. This positive trend 
is due to implementation of infrastructure as well as 
revised strategies implemented for diversion in the 
respective waste streams.

•	 Six	building	rubble	crusher	plants	were	purchased	and	
delivered in the 2014/15 financial year and placed at 
the landfills. This intervention resulted in the annual 
target being exceeded.

•	 Partnerships	with	private	operators	were	concluded	
and assisted in the increase of green waste being 
diverted.

•	 The	compliance	of	landfill	sites	to	permit	and	licence	
conditions increased with more than 10% to a total 
compliance of 90.5%. This increase is due to the 
improved management systems, regular inspections 
and implementation of mitigation plans. In addition, 
the implementation of capital projects ensured 
improved compliance to conditions.

•	 92%	of	the	capital	budget	allocated	in	2014/15	was	
spent by the end of the year and 50% of the budget 
for the 2015/16 year was already committed, compared 
to 34% actual spend in 2013/14. The implementation 
of the five-year capital programme, linked to the 
waste minimisation plan, as well as improved skills and 
capacity in the department resulted in the increase 
in spending.

•	 As	part	of	the	capital	programme,	recycle	bins	
were purchased and implemented in 90% of the 
295 targeted schools in the area. 

•	 The	company	is	increasing	its	focus	on	partnerships	
and stakeholder involvement in order to change 
behaviour and create awareness. During the year 
various successful events were held in collaboration 
with various partners including the Joburg Waste 
Summit, Youth Waste Summit, MD’s Roadshows, 
Team Up to Clean Up campaigns and special day 
events such as Mandela Day. 

•	 Pikitup	provides	a	waste	collection	service	to	831 352	
formal households on a weekly basis. This constitutes 
an 8.6% growth of houses serviced from the 
beginning of the 2014/15 financial year to the end of 
the reporting period. These households were serviced 
and a 97% completion rate was achieved without 
increase in staff or vehicles. Productivity and efficiency 
measures were implemented to ensure service 
standards were adhered to.

•	 There	were	a	total	of	10	220	240-litre	bins	delivered	
within the period under review. The majority of 
new bins were rolled out to formalised areas such as 
Kraaifontein in Midrand, Cosmo City in Randburg and 
Alexandra in Marlboro. 

•	 Pikitup	is	providing	a	waste	refuse	management	
service to 164 informal settlements consisting of 
183 895 structures. Informal settlement cleaning and 
maintenance has been packaged as part of the  
Jozi@Work programme and the implementation roll-
out is aligned with the Jozi@Work roll-out. 

•	 The	query	resolution	rate	increased	to	79%	within	
seven days, this is an increase from 67% in the 
previous year. Better management of the system as 
well as infrastructure interventions contributed to the 
improved performance.

•	 Pikitup	successfully	implemented	the	Jozi@Work	
programme, starting in the Zondi depot area in 
March 2015. Since implementation, 16 co-operatives 
were established and 350 jobs created in the 
waste industry. 

•	 The	Commercial	Service	Strategy	was	approved	and	
implemented, resulting in a profit for the commercial 
services.

Core Business
The core business of Pikitup is to ensure domestic 
waste is collected and disposed of in an efficient 
and effective manner. This includes waste 
management in informal settlements and hostels 
as well as the clearing of illegal dumping. Service 
levels are agreed with the shareholder in terms 
of a Service Level Agreement. In order to ensure 
compliance to permits and to ensure a healthy and 
safe environment, Pikitup is also responsible for the 
management and operation of four landfill sites. 

In terms of the changing nature of the business 
and the strategic alignment to the GDS 2040 and 
Polokwane Declaration, Pikitup has implemented 
various projects to ensure waste to landfill is 
minimised and the Separation@Source programme 
was identifies as a flagship programme in the GDS. 
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Performance Against Service Delivery Business 
Improvement Plan (SDBIP) and CoJ’s IDP Scorecard
The following table depicts the key performance 
indicators (KPIs) for the 2014/15 financial period as 
approved in terms of the Pikitup Business Plan. Comments 
are made on areas where there is a variance between the 
target set and the actual performance as well as proposed 
action plans to address the gaps and ensure that the 
targets are met by the end of the financial year. 

Pikitup is required to compare performance against the 
SDA between the entity and CoJ. However, as the targets 
may change on an annual basis, the indicators and targets 
reflected in CoJ’s IDP and SDBIP scorecards are used. The 
organisational indicators are derived from the strategic 
agenda as set out in the IDP and are then cascaded. Each 
of the executives within Pikitup is managed in terms of a 
performance agreement and the indicators and targets 

from the organisational SDBIP are cascaded to individual 
members of the Executive Management team.

Significant progress against the set targets has been 
made. This indicates important successes by the entity and 
our partner organisations in improving conditions in and 
the economic performance of, in particular, the inner city, 
and the initial focus of the entity’s work. The data shows 
that in almost all instances the entity has met or bettered 
its targets. This can be attributed to solid corporate 
governance, sound management and management 
systems, clearly focused objectives, and efficient and 
effective staff. It also demonstrates the effectiveness of 
the entity’s business model in delivering on the mandate 
of the CoJ to deliver efficient services and ensure a clean 
environment for all residents.

KEY PER-
FORMANCE 
AREA PROJECT/S INDICATOR 

REASONS FOR 
DEVIATION/
COMMENTS

ACTION PLAN 
TO ACHIEVE 
TARGET 
IN NExT 
qUARTER

ACTUAL 
2013/14

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL PER-
FORMANCE 
2014/15

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2015/16

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2016/17

Integrated 
Waste 
Management

Waste diverted 
from landfills; 
Reduce, reuse, 
recycle and 
reclaim

Tons of green 
waste diverted 
through 
composting

Increased 
diversion in 
q4 as the 
contract with 
private entity 
resolved and 
issues related 
to equipment 
resolved. Drop 
in tonnages 
diverted due 
to seasonal 
changes. 88% 
of annual target 
achieved.

To adjust 
quarterly 
targets in line 
with seasonal 
variations. 
Finalisation 
of 10-year 
agreement 
with iLive will 
also contribute 
to increase 
tonnages of 
green waste to 
be diverted.

20 872 tons of 
green waste 
of diverted in 
2012/13

40 000 tons 
for year

35 148 tons of 
green waste

60 000 tons 
for year

120 000 tons 
for year

Builder’s rubble 
crusher plants

Tons of 
builder’s rubble 
diverted

Target exceeded 
due to all 
builder’s rubble 
crusher plants 
being delivered.

Additional 
equipment 
to be made 
available to 
ensure enhanced 
efficiency of 
crusher plants.

New Indicator 20 000 tons 
of builder’s 
rubble 

25 059 tons of 
builder’s 
rubble

50 000 tons 
for year 

100 000 tons 
for year
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KEY PER-
FORMANCE 
AREA PROJECT/S INDICATOR 

REASONS FOR 
DEVIATION/
COMMENTS

ACTION PLAN 
TO ACHIEVE 
TARGET 
IN NExT 
qUARTER

ACTUAL 
2013/14

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL PER-
FORMANCE 
2014/15

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2015/16

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2016/17

Separation@
Source

Tons of dry 
waste diverted 
through 
Separation@
Source Project 
(paper, plastic, 
glass, cans)

Target for the 
year was not 
achieved due to 
some household 
separated 
material being 
taken by 
reclaimers and 
thus being lost to 
the Separation@
Source reporting 
system. Five 
scales have been 
purchased and 
are being tested 
at facilities. 

Reclaimers being 
incentivised 
to sell at 
City-supported 
buy-back 
centres through 
partnerships 
with the private 
sector and by 
providing 20 
more scales to 
the buy-back 
centres.

15 000 tons of 
dry waste in 
2013/14

30 000 tons 
for year

20 808 tons of 
dry waste

60 000 tons 
for year

80 000 tons 
for year

Separation@
Source

Increased 
participation 
rate in targeted 
areas where 
Separation@
Source Project 
is implemented

Delays in the 
roll-out of 
Jozi@Work and 
insufficient 
community 
awareness and 
activations 
impact 
participation 
rates. Initial 
participation 
in new areas 
are low and 
increases as the 
programme 
matures.

Improve 
community 
awareness 
through Jozi@
Work; the 
private operator 
model; and 
influence the 
distribution 
of awareness 
material 
through Pikitup 
touchpoints.

0.2 50% 
participation 
rate

0.21 0.5 0.7

Construction of 
new buy-back 
centres, and 
upgrade of 
garden sites 

Number of new 
sorting buy-
back centres 
constructed 
and number 
of garden 
sites upgraded 
to include 
recycling 
activities

Target was 
not met for 
number of 
buy-back sorting 
centres due to 
Protea North 
community 
rejecting the 
establishment of 
the facility.

Appoint 
contractor for 
the construction 
of Mapetla 
Sorting Buy-
back Centre 
if no further 
objections are 
received.

44 total 
integrated 
waste 
management 
facilities 
operational 
in City of 
Johannesburg

4 new sorting 
buy-back 
centres 
constructed:
Diepsloot, 
Mapetla, 
Orange Farm, 
Protea North

2 new sorting 
buy-back 
centres 
constructed:
Diepsloot, 
Orange Farm

60 total 
integrated 
waste 
management 
facilities 
operational 
in City of 
Johannesburg 
(10 additional 
for year)

70 total 
integrated 
waste 
management 
facilities 
operational 
in City of 
Johannesburg 
(10 additional 
for year)
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KEY PER-
FORMANCE 
AREA PROJECT/S INDICATOR 

REASONS FOR 
DEVIATION/
COMMENTS

ACTION PLAN 
TO ACHIEVE 
TARGET 
IN NExT 
qUARTER

ACTUAL 
2013/14

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL PER-
FORMANCE 
2014/15

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2015/16

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2016/17

Delays in issuing 
of the ROD for 
Mapetla which 
will only be 
finalised in the 
first quarter 
of the next 
financial year. 
ROD received 
and rezoning 
currently under 
way.

Expedite the 
execution of EIAs 
for 10 facilities 
for which Pikitup 
has Use and 
Maintenance 
Agreements.

  

Realisation 
of Value 
throughout 
the Waste 
Value Chain

Jozi@Work Number of new 
jobs created 
through 
co-operatives 
established

Target exceeded, 
with a total 
of 450 jobs 
created for the 
financial year. 
Co-operatives 
in Jozi@Work 
realised that 
additional staff 
was required for 
the anticipated 
number and 
increased staff.

Continuous 
roll-out of 
Jozi@Work to all 
areas within CoJ.

500 200 new jobs 
created

450 new jobs 
created (100 
new jobs 
created in 
Separation@
Source 350 new 
jobs created in 
Jozi@Work)

1 000 new jobs 
created

950 new jobs 
created

Jozi@Work Number of new 
co-operatives 
established 
to collect and 
sell recyclables 
and do waste 
management

Plans are already 
under way to 
roll out 
Jozi@Work in 
phases into the 
next financial 
year.

24 24 new co-
operatives 
established

17 new co-
operatives 
established

59 new co-
operatives 
established

25 new co-
operatives 
established

Food gardens Number of 
food gardens 
established and 
managed by 
communities 
on 
rehabilitated 
illegal dumping 
sites 

Target met. 
All necessary 
consents were 
obtained to 
use the sites 
identified 
and active 
stakeholder 
participation 
by all partners 
ensured target 
was met.

Additional sites 
and participants 
to be identified 
for the 
establishment 
of food gardens 
in the 2015/16 
year.

5 5 new food 
gardens 
established

5 new food 
gardens 
established

5 5

Performance Against Service Delivery Business 
Improvement Plan (SDBIP) and CoJ’s IDP Scorecard continued
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KEY PER-
FORMANCE 
AREA PROJECT/S INDICATOR 

REASONS FOR 
DEVIATION/
COMMENTS

ACTION PLAN 
TO ACHIEVE 
TARGET 
IN NExT 
qUARTER

ACTUAL 
2013/14

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL PER-
FORMANCE 
2014/15

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2015/16

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2016/17

Exchanging 
food for waste

Number of 
individuals 
participating 
in Food for 
Waste project 
as identified 
from City ESP 
register 

Target exceeded. 
Participants 
are identified 
and trained 
and then work 
towards clearing 
areas and 
establishing food 
gardens. The 
methodology 
ensured that all 
participants were 
identified in the 
second quarter.

Additional sites 
and participants 
to be identified 
for the 
establishment 
of food gardens 
in the 2015/16 
year.

142 108 new 
participants 

155 participants 150 200

Formalisation of 
waste reclaimers 

Number 
of waste 
reclaimers 
incorporated 
(city-wide)

Target 
exceeded due 
to stakeholder 
involvement 
and continuous 
communication 
through the 
reclaimers forum 
to communicate 
benefits and 
ensuring 
fears and 
misconceptions 
are addressed.

Continued 
communication 
with reclaimers. 
Forum and 
various co-
operatives 
established.

200 300 new 
reclaimers 
formalised 

599 new 
reclaimers 
incorporated

  

Community 
Cleaning 
Programme 
(EPWP)

Number of 
community 
members 
employed 
through EPWP 
programme

Target exceeded. Funding 
(R3.5 million) has 
been provided 
by CoJ to create 
jobs in CoJ 
through EPWP.

162 400 
community 
workers 
employed to 
clean informal 
settlements 

1 474 EPWP 
workers

450 800
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KEY PER-
FORMANCE 
AREA PROJECT/S INDICATOR 

REASONS FOR 
DEVIATION/
COMMENTS

ACTION PLAN 
TO ACHIEVE 
TARGET 
IN NExT 
qUARTER

ACTUAL 
2013/14

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL PER-
FORMANCE 
2014/15

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2015/16

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2016/17

Provide 
Effective 
and Efficient 
Waste 
Management 
Services

Eradication of 
Illegal Dumping 
Spots 

Number 
of illegal 
dumping spots 
eradicated

The target was 
based on full 
implementation 
of Jozi@Work 
with view that 
co-operatives will 
turn dumping 
spots into useful 
community 
spaces. Delays in 
implementation 
resulted in 
targets not being 
met.

Jozi@Work 
has been 
implemented 
and will be 
rolled out across 
CoJ. Clearing 
and maintaining 
illegal dumping 
sites are included 
in the work 
packages of the 
co-operatives.

New indicator 150 12 200 250

  Only three (3) 
garden sites 
were upgraded 
to include 
recycling 
facilities – 
refurbishments 
of ablution 
facilities, 
security and 
access control at 
garden site were 
prioritised as 
phase 1. 

Phase 2 of 
the garden 
site upgrades 
will include 
the upgrade 
of recycling 
facilities in the 
2015/16 financial 
year.

 4 garden sites 
upgraded: 
Disa, 
Fairlands, 
Bungalore, 
Mondeor

3 garden sites 
upgraded: 
Protea North, 
Mapetla, 
Belona

  

Upgrade landfill 
sites to comply 
with and extend 
landfill airspace 

Percentage 
landfill 
compliance 
to GDARD 
regulations 
and permit 
conditions as 
issued by DEA 
and DWAF, 
related to: 
Robinson Deep, 
Ennerdale, 
Goudkoppies, 
Marie Louise

Target exceeded. 
This represents 
an improvement 
of 10.3% from 
the previous 
financial year. 

Various projects 
have been 
identified in 
the capital 
programme for 
2015/16 that will 
be implemented 
to increase 
compliance. An 
action plan to be 
developed based 
on the results of 
audit to improve 
areas where 
necessary.

68% 80% 90.50% 90% 100%

Performance Against Service Delivery Business 
Improvement Plan (SDBIP) and CoJ’s IDP Scorecard continued
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KEY PER-
FORMANCE 
AREA PROJECT/S INDICATOR 

REASONS FOR 
DEVIATION/
COMMENTS

ACTION PLAN 
TO ACHIEVE 
TARGET 
IN NExT 
qUARTER

ACTUAL 
2013/14

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL PER-
FORMANCE 
2014/15

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2015/16

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2016/17

Building an 
Efficient, 
Effective And 
Viable Waste 
Management 
Company

Regular 
domestic waste 
collection 

Percentage 
RCR rounds 
completed on 
time (15:30 – 
17:00)

Target exceeded. 
Fleet availability 
and increased 
management 
at depots 
ensure timeous 
completion of 
rounds.

Continued 
management 
at operational 
level and 
management 
of fleet to 
meet needs to 
ensure rounds 
are completed 
on time. Round 
balancing to be 
done on regular 
basis.

95% 97% 99.70% 100% 100%

Improve city 
cleanliness levels 
and targeted 
areas city wide – 
(block cleaning 
and waste 
minimisation 
– education 
and awareness, 
street furniture)

Cleanliness 
level of 
inner city as 
determined 
by GDARD 
Gauteng Waste 
Management 
Standards

Target achieved 
due to new 
operational 
plan that was 
developed and 
implemented 
as well as 
additional 
resources 
through Jozi@
Work co-
operatives and 
EPWP workers.

Continued 
monitoring and 
adaptation of 
operational plan 
to maintain 
cleanliness 
levels.

Level 2 Level 1 Level 2 Level 1 Level 1

Cleanliness 
level in outer 
city based on 
street cleaning 
as determined 
by GDARD 
Gauteng Waste 
Management 
Standards

Target exceeded. 
EPWP employees 
were deployed in 
the last quarter. 

Continued 
monitoring and 
adaptation of 
operational plan 
to maintain 
cleanliness 
levels.

Level 3 Level 2 Level 2 Level 1 Level 1

Cleaning of 
Hostels

Cleanliness 
levels of hostels 
as determined 
by GDARD 
Gauteng Waste 
Management 
Standards

Inadequate 
resources for 
cleaning hostels 
resulted in Level 
3 cleanliness.

Jozi@Work 
to include 
co-operatives 
responsible for 
hostel cleaning.

Level 3 Level 2 Level 3 Level 2 Level 1
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KEY PER-
FORMANCE 
AREA PROJECT/S INDICATOR 

REASONS FOR 
DEVIATION/
COMMENTS

ACTION PLAN 
TO ACHIEVE 
TARGET 
IN NExT 
qUARTER

ACTUAL 
2013/14

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL PER-
FORMANCE 
2014/15

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2015/16

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2016/17

Commercial 
Revenue 
Collection

Increased 
collection rate 
from Pikitup’s 
commercial 
customers

Collection 
percentage 
reported is 
compared to 
billing for the 
period and 
not matched 
to actual 
billed. System 
is not enabled 
to provide 
actual figures 
as collection 
figures are based 
on allocation 
method from 
Revenue 
and CRM 
Department.

The SAP project 
team is currently 
reviewing 
reporting 
requirements 
in order to 
measure correct 
outcome.

79% collection 
rate 

85% revenue 
collected from 
actual billed

102% 90% revenue 
collected from 
actual billed

93% revenue 
collected from 
actual billed

Capital budget 
expenditure

Capital budget 
spent

Although the 
target of 96% 
was not met, the 
achievement of 
92% represents 
a huge 
improvement on 
previous years. 
This increase is 
due to better 
management 
and increased 
capacity 
in capital 
planning and 
monitoring and 
management of 
acquisition plans.

The 2015/16 
Acquisition 
Plan has been 
approved and 
has already been 
initiated with 
over 50% of the 
Capex already 
committed.

R181 million  R141 million
(96% 
spending)

R135 million
(92% spending)

R144 million
(100% 
spending)

R123 million
(100% 
spending)

Performance Against Service Delivery Business 
Improvement Plan (SDBIP) and CoJ’s IDP Scorecard continued
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KEY PER-
FORMANCE 
AREA PROJECT/S INDICATOR 

REASONS FOR 
DEVIATION/
COMMENTS

ACTION PLAN 
TO ACHIEVE 
TARGET 
IN NExT 
qUARTER

ACTUAL 
2013/14

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2014/15

ACTUAL PER-
FORMANCE 
2014/15

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2015/16

ANNUAL 
TARGET 
2016/17

Procurement 
spent on BEE 
and women-
owned 
companies as 
a percentage 
of total 
procurement [6]

Percentage BEE 
spend

The positive 
variance is 
largely due to 
expediting of 
and rigorous 
implementation 
of Acquisition 
plans 2014/15.

 75% BEE 75% BEE 83.29% BEE 75% BEE 75% BEE

Percentage 
women-owned 
companies

  25% women 25% women 55.35% women 25% women 25% women

Ensure sound 
financial state 
of company 
related to all 
aspects

Audit opinion 
obtained from 
Auditor-
General

Annual target 
to be concluded 
after audit 
report is received 
from Auditor-
General.

 Unqualified 
Audit with 
matters of 
emphasis

Clean Audit Unqualified 
Audit

Clean Audit Clean Audit

query 
Resolution

Percentage 
queries 
resolved within 
time frame

Improved 
performance is 
due to query 
distribution 
being centralised 
resulting in more 
timely resolution. 
Although the 
target was met 
in quarter 4, the 
slow resolution 
in the first half 
of year impacts 
on annual 
performance.

Continue with 
centralised 
distribution 
of queries 
and ensure 
that all depot 
CRM inboxes 
are manned 
to improve 
resolution 
percentage.

56% queries 
resolved in 
7 days

80% queries 
resolved in 
7 days

79% queries 
resolved in 
7 days

100% queries 
resolved in 
7 days

100% queries 
resolved in 
5 days

Compliance 
with Health and 
Safety Standards

quarterly 
health 
and safety 
inspections 
completed 
for all Pikitup 
facilities (head 
office, depots 
and landfills, 
garden sites 
and buy back-
centres)

Target exceeded.  New 4 quarterly 
inspections

10 inspections 
per facility

4 quarterly 
inspections

4 quarterly 
inspections

Reduced 
number of 
accidents

Reduction in 
Disabling Injury 
Frequency Rate 
(DIFR) ratio

Target met. 
Continuous 
education and 
training assists to 
keep injuries at a 
minimum.

 New 0.8 0.04 0.5 0.3
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Integrated waste management
dry waste 
Separation@Source aims to create a culture change in households to separate household waste and thereby divert this 
waste stream away from landfill in order to meet the targets of CoJ by 2016.

The table on page 7 reflects the amount of recyclables collected where Separation@Source is being rolled out.

Key Performance Areas

New caged recycling trucks

Illegal dumping spot turned into a recycling facility

Bottles ready to be collected in Zandspruit

Rolling of recycling bags
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In the year under review, the programme procured 
1 100 recycling bins for roll-out across CoJ to all depots 
with a special focus on 275 schools.

The bins have been installed in about 90% of the schools 
targeted. Waste from the schools will be collected by 
existing co-operatives working at Pikitup garden sites, 
Jozi@Work and Separation@Source. As part of the roll-out 
of these bins, recycling education was undertaken in these 
schools. The bins are clearly marked for ease of use by 
the schools and will assist further in driving separation at 
source in their homes. These schools have also been paired 
with co-operatives in their area, and will derive an income 
from the sale of recyclables to the co-operative.

Relationships with REDISA were strengthened and REDISA 
agreed on implementing a protocol of collection and 
reporting on tyres collected through Pikitup facilities. In 
addition, REDISA was hosted by the Separation@Source 
co-operatives in efforts to register them as potential 
REDISA depots.

Five scales for the measurement of dry waste by involved 
co-operatives have also been delivered and Pikitup 
employees and co-operatives are being trained to use 
these scales as part of strengthening the data collection 
from co-operatives. This is part of a broader plan to start 
collecting verifiable and objective data on tonnages 
collected and diverted. 

Green waste 
Recycling at garden sites is continuing with 22 
entrepreneurs currently operating at garden sites. 
The garden sites currently employ a total of 56 individuals. 
The three-year green waste off-take agreement has 
delivered encouraging results with a total of 35 148 tons 
(17 487 tons in 2013/14) of green waste being diverted 
from landfills from an annual target of 40 000 tons, which 
is an achievement of 88% of target.

One of the significant contributors to this achievement 
was the establishment of a new model of collating green 
waste by conversion of the Panorama and Ballyclare 
garden sites into hubs that are fed by smaller garden sites 
such as Fairlands and Woodmead.

Waste exchange/Food resilience
A total of 155 beneficiaries have been trained on the 
programme in Orange Farm. Five new sites are being 
planted and the settlement of beneficiaries on these sites 
is going ahead as planned.

Illegal dumping spots have been allocated to each of the 

groups located on the food garden sites to maintain and 

clean these sites. This will allow the depot to focus on 

other areas and thereby alleviate and hopefully totally 

eradicate the dumping spots that have been allocated to 

the project.

The beneficiaries will also undertake low level education 

and awareness in their immediate spot locations to 

sensitise community members not to dump but to divert 

their waste into useful channels such as composting and 

recycling.

Co-operatives in the area have also been informed of 

the programme and encouraged to partner with these 

beneficiaries as they clear the sites.

Realisation of value throughout the 
waste value chain
This section covers the implementation of Jozi@Work at 

depot areas during the quarter under review. The plan is 

linked to a clean city, reduction in illegal dumping, food 

resilience and job creation and involves communities, 

including schools, churches, clinics and business owners.

Waste Group Projects (Pty) Limited was appointed in 

February by CoJ as Capacity Support Agency on Panel 

A566 to provide support services to service providers on 

Jozi@Work programme for a 12-month period. The Service 

Level Agreement (SLA) between Pikitup and Waste Group 

Projects (Pty) Limited was signed at the beginning of 

April 2015 for a 12-month period ending March 2016. This 

agreement provides for Waste Group Projects to oversee 

the implementation of the Jozi@Work programme 

through the appointment of sub-contractors (service 

providers) who would be responsible for the execution of 

the work packages as prescribed by Pikitup. 

The office of the Project Manager has a full-time 

administrative co-ordination arm that deals with all 

procurement, payroll management, inventory and 

logistical support requirements of the service providers on 

a day-to-day basis.

The Training and Development Sector has been sub-

contracted to the ABEMS Training Institute. The company 

runs a waste management training programme that is 

accredited by the local government SETA.
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The following service providers were selected and appointed through the Regional Steering Committee process:

NO AREA SERVICE PROVIDER REG NUMBER

1 Senoane Mc Moffats Construction CC 2004/057193/23

2 Naledi Musa Telecoms (Pty) Limited 2014/115149/07

3 Protea South Tayanja (Pty) Limited 7005235646082

4 Protea North Emaplatini-shanti Heritage Limited Co-op 2013/015024/24

5 Phiri Soweto Environmental forum Co-op 2011/005276/26

6 Lufhereng Mokoena Moeketsi Jacob (Dihloholo) Construction (Pty) Limited 7407275885085

7 Emdeni Reshumile Environmental Co-op 2014/019954/24

8 Chiawelo Andile Moloi Co-op 8809236274086 

9 Mapetla Mafisebi Trading & Projects (Pty) Limited 2012/118134/07

10 Glendridge Zondi Plastics Project (Pty) Limited 2014/130938/07

Key Performance Areas continued

There are a total of four co operatives, one close 
corporation and five companies appointed into the 
programme. A total of 350 jobs have been created for 
12-month period in the implementation of these work 
packages. Furthermore, a total of 66 191 service points are 
covered in these work sites.

A Service Level Agreement has been entered into between 
service providers and CSA to regulate the sub-contracting 
agreement. During the month of April a detailed due 
diligence exercise of each of the appointed entities 
(service provider) was undertaken by the Enterprise 
Development team of the CSA to determine compliance 
aspects in relation governance issues.

A household survey was conducted to assess the 
households allocated to each entity in terms of the service 
currently rendered, the condition of the bins, knowledge 
of recycling activities and whether any is taking place in 
the area, illegal dumping activities and the reasons for 
such. The survey results are fed into the specific training 
outcomes with education and awareness programmes. 

The street cleaning and litter picking programme started 
in May 2015 and each entity has deployed its staff 
according to a specific framework. 

A Change Management Plan has been implemented 
informing Pikitup staff how the change interventions will 
be planned, delivered and managed. This enables Pikitup’s 
leadership to clearly convey the projects’ expected 
benefits, build a tribe of supporters among staff and 
ensure that the change vision becomes a reality. 

The roll-out plan of Jozi@Work will continue in the 
2015/16 financial year and implementation will focus 
on the Avalon informal areas, Alexandra, inner city and 
hostels.

Provide effective and efficient waste 
management services
Operations services for the year under revision covers; 
RCR, street cleaning, illegal dumping, informal 
settlements, hostel cleaning, garden sites, Bulk, Dailies, 
customer data clean-up, inner city, fleet and landfills.

Waste is collected through various activities such as RCR, 
street cleaning and others. A total of 1.3 million tons 
of waste was collected and disposed of by Pikitup. The 
overall growth rate between 2013/14 (1 122 427 tons) 
and 2014/15 (1 319 241 tons) is 17.5%. It should be noted 
that the tonnages collected by Pikitup only refers to 
domestic waste and other waste collection that Pikitup is 
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responsible for. There are, however, other private operators in CoJ and these tonnages do not include private collected 
tonnages.The breakdown of the tonnages per activity is depicted in the table below:

table 3.4: total tonnages collected by Pikitup (2014/15)

Waste disposed per 
activity

Total for 
2013/14 quarter 1 quarter 2 quarter 3 quarter 4

2014/2015
ytd total

RCR 646 019 177 665 185 802 189 434 189 066 741 967

Street cleaning 87 135 25 089 28 169 28 712 29 850 111 820

Illegal dumping 229 709 64 983 63 380 66 242 82 201 276 806

Hostels 825 258 600 821 1 173 2 852

Informal settlements 29 629 8 637 9 777 10 486 11 467 40 367

Garden sites 132 110 31 155 35 997 40 068 38 209 145 429

total 1 122 427 307 787 323 725 335 763 351 966 1 319 241

Solid waste management services 
Pikitup provides a weekly waste collection service to 
831 352 formal houses to date. This constitutes 8.6% 
growth of houses serviced from the beginning of the 
current financial year to the end of the reporting period.

There was an increase of 2% over the financial period 
2013/14. This is due to growth in CoJ and additional areas 
included in the service area. It also includes informal 
settlements that have been formalised during the year.

Illegal dumping
The pattern of illegal dumping has remained consistent 
throughout the reporting period with most of the illegal 
dumping taking place within the southern region. The 
need to reduce illegal dumping waste has become a 
major focal point in Operations and Pikitup has procured 
“builder’s rubble crusher” plants as builder’s rubble 
constitutes most of the illegally dumped waste, especially 
in the southern region. It is therefore expected that in 
the future, the volumes of builder’s waste would reduce. 
Various other initiatives to work with communities to take 
responsibility to clean and maintain these areas will also 
be introduced in the new financial year.

Bulky waste collection was introduced during March 2015. 
This is a free service that is provided to the residents of CoJ. 
It is aimed at diverting items such as old mattresses, large 
electronics, old furniture, etc. away from illegal dumping 
spots to the buy-back centres and recycling where feasible.

Ensuring the effective delivery of waste 
services
Inner city
Cleanliness in the inner city remains a challenge and it is 
acknowledge that the assistance of all departments and 
entities, as well as private institutions and the general 
public would be required to achieve the cleanliness 
levels proposed. Various initiatives are proposed that will 
assist in improving the cleanliness level (e.g. Jozi@Work, 
increasing the density of bins, installing underground bins 
and getting the communities involved). However, there 
remain insurmountable challenges in achieving a level 1 
cleanliness in certain of the areas given the resources 
available to Pikitup and the level 1 cleanliness target had 
to be revisited taking these realities into consideration. 
CoJ should also take steps to de-congest the area by for 
example implementing walk-only streets and enforcing 

number of housing units serviced

4

831 352

3

827 010

2

815 108

1

765 760

quarter
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by-laws. A request was made for the Board to discuss the 
matter with the shareholder. 

Bulk commercial and dailies waste service
The Bulk Commercial unit is responsible for the collection 
and disposal of Bulk (skips) and Dailies (putrescible) waste 
from commercial customers who are billed according to 
circulated tariffs. The Bulk Commercial Service is provided 
by Pikitup in competition with other private waste 
management companies within CoJ.

Through collective team effort, Bulk Commercial’s 
and Dailies’ business viability is showing that it is on 
an upward trend. The team needs to be continually 
motivated and co-ordination with other departments such 
as Sales will ensure efficiency of service.

The trend of positive revenue which started in the first 
quarter of the financial year continued until the end 
of the financial year as evidenced by revenue above 
target again during the fourth quarter. This is attributed 
to the hard work of Bulk Operations which has been 
working tirelessly to ensure that all lifts were done as 
per schedule to achieve the high target set, a concected 
effort to reduce queries and also ensuring that all serviced 
customers are billed. 

Key Performance Areas continued

The Bulk Commercial Service served an average customer 

base of about 1 218 per quarter. During the reporting 

period, averages of 16 700 lifts were done per quarter 

which was well above the target of 15 000 lifts. These 

above average lifts also had a positive impact on revenue 

generated for the year.

The positive trend on revenue continued to gain 

momentum until the end of the financial year, which 

resulted in generated revenue exceeding budgeted 

figures in this financial year.

A movement in the customer database between the 

periods 1 March 2015 to 30 June 2015 occurred. The 

total number of customers as at 31 March 2015 was 

1 945 compared to 1 785 customers as at 30 June 2015. 

The decrease in customers is as a result of the customer 

database clean-up that the department is currently 

performing and there were only four cancellations of 

services during the period. The sales team is currently 

working on a sales strategy to increase the current 

customer base. 

The table below illustrate the total number of customers 

for the last two quarters and year on year: 

Bulk dailies

depot jan – Mar 15 Apr – jun 15 jan – Mar 15 Apr – jun 15

Central Camp 200 177 73 73

Marlboro 412 371 93 94

Randburg 108 98 39 39

Roodepoort 138 110 73 73

Southdale 305 254 57 57

Waterval 55 55 122 125

Norwood – – 101 103

Selby – 152 156

Grand total 1 235 1 065 710 720

New services 17 11 4 11

Cancellations – 3 – 1
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Fleet management
The table below represents the current fleet complement; in addition the column on the right indicates fleet that is new 
or replaced. An average of 98.93% vehicle availability was achieved for the 2014/15 financial year:

Category

2014/15 
fleet 

complement

Replace-
ments/

New

A – Full maintenance lease 101 28 New 

C – Managed maintenance 266 18 New

Ad-hoc rental 194 11 Additional

total 561 57

There are 35 street cleaning tippers currently waiting to be delivered; these vehicles will replace 35 ad-hoc rentals.

Landfill airspace availability
The Disposal Division of Pikitup is responsible for the 
effective management of landfill operations. There 
are four active landfills located throughout CoJ and 
two closed sites located in the north. These landfills are 
managed and controlled in accordance with permits/
licences in terms of Section 20 of the Environment 
Conservation Act, 1989 (Act No. 73 of 1989).

Volumetric topographical survey services were appointed 
to provide a landfill airspace estimation to assist Pikitup 
in the medium and long-term effective management 
and planning for the four operational landfill sites, 
namely: Robinson Deep; Goudkoppies; Marie Louise and 
Ennerdale. The recent landfill surveys were undertaken 
in May 2015 and the following scope was completed in 
this regard:

•	 Confirmation	of	waste	volumes	from	the	date	of	the	
last survey, being 25 June 2015

•	 Calculation	and	confirmation	of	the	remaining	landfill	
airspace

In determining the remaining landfill airspace, the 
surveyor takes into consideration the landfill final 
recommended heights, landfill slope profile of 1 m vertical 
to 3 m horizontal (1:3) and feasible landfill footprints for 
each operational landfill. Also taken into consideration is 
the waste disposal rate at each of the operational landfill 
sites. This information is processed with the aid of the 
MODELMAKER (Digital Terrain Modelling Programme) to 
determine remaining airspace.

Table 3.13 alongside outlines the remaining airspace 
projections for each of the operating sites.

table 3.13: Landfill airspace projections

Landfill site name

Available
 airspace

 (m3)
Lifespan

 (years)

Estimate
 closure

 date

Robinson Deep 4 416 247 6 21 July
Goudkoppies 5 351 715 14 29 July
Marie Louise 1 533 378 5 21 March
Ennerdale 1 038 453 11 26 May

It must be noted that at the Goudkoppies, Marie Louise 
and Ennerdale landfills life expectancy has somewhat 
been prolonged taking into account that the waste 
disposal rate has shown a declining trend from 2011 
to 2015. There is an opportunity for life expectancy to 
be further prolonged at the landfills as waste diversion 
initiatives such as rubble, green waste and reclaimed dry 
waste diversion are being intensified. The impact will be 
closely monitored in the new financial year 2015/16 and 
will be reported on quarterly.

Landfill audits 
To ensure that the landfills are in compliance with the 
landfill site permits and licences, an external auditor 
was appointed in May 2015. The operational landfills 
and closed landfills were audited from 15 June 2015 to 
24 June 2015. The results of the external audits are as 
follows:

Pikitup landfill compliance

Landfill

Audit 
compliance 

score

Robinson Deep 90% 
Goudkoppies 89.6%
Marie Louise 88.5%
Ennerdale 94%
Average % 90.5%* 

* 2014 compliance: 80.2%
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•	 Implement	the	Jozi@Work	programme	throughout	
CoJ and thus increase jobs created. This programme 
is intended to create sustainable jobs in the waste 
industry and thus address unemployment and poverty

•	 Review	of	the	Operating	Model	of	the	company	to	
accommodate Jozi@Work

•	 Roll	out	Separation@Source	to	950	000	households	and	
achieve a 50% participation rate in order to ensure 
diversion of waste from landfill and thus increase 
landfill airspace availability

•	 Establish	10	additional	sorting	facilities/buy-back	
centres to facilitate recycling initiatives

•	 Legislative	compliance	and	environmental	standards	
to be improved through the increase of landfill site 
compliance to permit conditions to full compliance

Recommendations and Action Plans 2015/16
•	 Expansion	of	the	Food	for	Waste	Programme

•	 Increased	levels	of	cleanliness	throughout	CoJ

•	 Measures	introduced	to	decrease	illegal	dumping

•	 Aggressive	and	innovative	approaches	to	marketing	
and education to change the behaviour of residents. 
This includes partnerships with labour, business and 
civil society

•	 Improved	productivity	and	efficiency	in	services	to	be	
an effective service delivery agent

•	 Improved	measures	related	to	the	safety	and	health	of	
workers

•	 Improved	customer	services	with	80%	of	queries	
resolved within seven days
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Financial Performance 

Revenue 
Pikitup’s revenue for the financial year increased from 

R1 794 million in 2014 to R1 910 million in 2015 (a 6% 

increase). 

Results of operations 
Operating expenses increased by 38% or R725 million 

from R1.18 billion (2014) to R1.91 billion (2015). The major 

reason for this increase was the increase in the allowance 

for doubtful debts from 2014. The company adopted a 

revised doubtful debts policy during the 2015 financial 

year. The new policy requires the company’s debtor’s book 

to be assessed on an individual debtor basis to evaluate 

whether any relevant impairment indicators as per the 

policy exist. Once such impairment indicators have been 

identified an assessment has to be made on whether 

such indicators necessitate the impairment of the debt 

in the company’s accounting records. Once impairment 

is established, the total debt of the debtor must be 

impaired. 

Another large contributor to the increase in operating 

expenses was employee costs. These increased 

by 5% (R43 million), from R765 million (2014) to 

R808 million (2015). 

Nonetheless, Pikitup is undertaking cost containment 

initiatives with some level of success. Large decreases in 

operating expenses were achieved in the following areas:

•	 Fleet	and	cleaning	services	decreased	by	R38	million	

(9%) from R434 million (2014) to R396 million (2015). 

•	 Security	spend	decreased	by	R12	million	(41%)	from	

R28 million (2014) to R17 million (2015).

Cash flow 
The company reported a favourable cash balance 
amounting to R53 941 as at end of June 2015. The said 
balance is disclosed in note 8 of the financial statements 
due to the sweeping arrangement with the City of 
Johannesburg.

Statement of financial position 
The audited results of the company reflected a deficit for 
the 2015 year amounting to R65 million and a surplus of 
R543 million (2014 restated) that is attributable in the 
main to the adoption of the revised doubtful debt policy 
and associated tax implications.

The adoption of the new policy had a negative result for 
the 2015 financial year, reducing the accumulated surplus 
to R108 million as at 30 June 2015. Business sentiment 
remains positive to continue growing the accumulated 
surplus.

The solvency of Pikitup has been a challenge since 
incorporation and for the first time in 15 years the 
company reflects a stable solvency position.

Going concern 
We draw attention to the fact that at 30 June 2015 
Pikitup had an accumulated surplus of R124 089 344 
(2014: R179 581 989) and that its total assets exceed its 
liabilities by R167 092 152 (2014: R222 584 797).

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis 
of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance 
future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and 
commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
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Capital Projects
The actual capital expenditure as at 30 June 2015 is 92% of budget which is a substantial improvement from the 34% of 
the last financial year. 

table 3.16: Capital expenditure 2014/15

Capital expenditure: waste management
R’000

2014/15 2015/16

Capital projects Budget
Adjustment 

budget
Actual 

expenditure

Variance 
from original 

budget
 (%)

Total 
budget

Separation at source 13 200 6 000 4 549 24 11 000

Garden sites, sorting buy-back centres 15 000 17 200 15 533 10 10 000

240-litre bins 20 000 17 200 17 199 0 12 000

EISs 1 500 1 000 261 74 1 000

Orange Farm 500 1 500 1 497 – –

Ennerdale landfill site 13 200 5 525 5 447 1 4 850

Goudkoppies landfill site 10 000 5 575 4 961 11 4 850

Marie Louise landfill site 200 2 650 2 069 22 4 850

Robinson landfill site 5 000 5 750 5 578 3 4 850

Kya Sands landfill site 200 3 200 3 006 6 –

Linbro Park transfer station 20 000 500 – 100 500

Kerbside collection 4 000 4 000 3 675 8 3 000

Waste bulk container 18 500 13 279 11 788 11 1 500

Facilities – 183 – 100 –

Street furniture 1 500 1 500 455 70 1 000

Bulldozers, compactors, new plant and 
equipment 1 000 1 500 745 50 10 000

IT hardware and software 14 650 7 100 6 063 15 5 000

Facilities 32 000 52 738 52 2 27 000

Branding and signage 3 000 900 688 24 500

Landfill new cell development 3 000 4 500

New garden sites – Fourways, Northern 
Works, Cosmo City at R700 000 each 2 100 –

Composting 20 000 1 045

Depot Haylon Hill 1 000 –

Depot Midrand 500 –

Incinerator health care renewal 1 000 1 500

total 201 0502 147 300 135 233 8

2  During the adjustment budget process various projects were delayed or cancelled and the capital budget for 2014/15 was therefore 
reduced. The reasons for the delay or cancellation were based on readiness to implement as well as need and priority in terms of 
new strategy.
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During the year the capital programme was reprioritised 
in accordance with the delivery of the strategic agenda of 
the organisation and to ensure delivery of projects. The 
budget allocated to certain projects was moved to other 
areas and thus there is no expenditure on some projects. 
The reprioritisation of projects was approved by the 
respective committees and the Board.

The 2014/15 financial year was used for implementing 
the current Capex Programme as well as for the planning 
of the 2015/16 Capex Programme. This included a new 
approach towards capital planning and execution, wherein 
service providers are appointed for a longer period to 
accommodate the implementation of multi-year projects. 

Most of the service providers appointed in 2014/15 will 

also be engaged in the anticipated projects for 2015/16. 

This will enable Pikitup to increase its capex expenditure 

in the new financial year and beyond.

Indications are that the current Capex budget would be 

fully committed by the end of the second quarter of the 

2015/16 financial year, resulting in a funding shortfall for 

other priority projects that were earmarked for the 2015/16 

financial year of approximately R191 million. It is envisaged 

that the mid-year budget review process will be utilised to 

request further funding for those projects that could still be 

implemented by the end of 2015/16 financial year.

Assessment of Arrears on Municipal Taxes and 
Service Charges

Assessment of municipal taxes and service charges owed to the entity (‘000)
Current 
(0 – 30 

days)
31 – 60 

days
61 – 90 

days
91 – 120 

days
121 – 365 

days
total 

(net balance)

Debtor’s age analysis 
(Less: Allowance for 
impairment) 26 724 888 43 383 992 70 321 101 40 125 664 369 602 287 550 157 932

Amounts owed by entity for service charges
Relevant information was not available.

Statement on amounts owed by government departments and public entities

Name of department
Amounts 

owed
Account 

status Comments

No information is available on amounts owed by government departments and public entities.
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Human Resources and 
Organisational Management
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Our People
Pikitup acknowledges that much of its strength can be attributed to its people. We recognise that our people add more 
value to our organisation than our tangible assets such as cash, land and buildings, plant and equipment. As such, 
our vision is to be the employer of choice in our field and to ensure that the company’s employment practices and 
remuneration policies motivate and retain talented employees and create an attractive environment for all employees. 

The table below provides a breakdown of the company’s employees:

Age category
number of 
employees

Percentage 
of staff 

complement

25 and below 181 3.46

26 – 35 1 360 26.00

36 – 45 1 597 30.54

46 – 55 1 428 27.30

56 – 63 657 12.56

Above 63 7 0.13

total 5 230  

Pikitup’s structure is outlined in the diagram below: 

Functional 
areas:

•	R&D

•	Corporate	
planning

•	Capital	
planning and 
execution

•	Piloting	and	
testing

•	Business	
improvements

•	Environmental	
management

WM 
Strategy and 
Programmes

Functional 
areas:

•	Council	
services

•	Commercial	
operations

•	Fleet	
management

•	Disposal	and	
treatment

•	Contract	
management

COO

Functional 
areas:

•	Legal

•	Compliance

•	Environmental	
compliance

•	Safety

•	Contract	
management

Legal and 
Compliance

Functional 
areas:

•	Budgeting;

•	SCM

•	Cash	flow	
management

•	Accounting

•	Financial	
reporting

CFO

Functional 
areas:

•	Product	
and service 
development

•	Marketing	and	
sales

•	Customer	
relations

•	Revenue	
management

Commercial 
and Customer 

Services

Functional 
areas:

•	HR	(includes:	
OD 
recruitment; 
HR 
management; 
talent 
retention; 
skilling; 
industrial 
relations)

•	Logistics	
(facilities)

•	Security

Corporate 
Services

Functional 
areas:

•	System	design

•	Maintenance

•	Data	
management

•	Business	
intelligence

•	Communications 
technology

Chief 
Technology 

Officer

PIkItuP BOARd OF dIRECtORS

Managing director
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Pikitup has employment policies that it believes are 
appropriate to the business and the market in which 
it operates. All employment policies are periodically 
reviewed to ensure that they remain relevant and 
practical for the changing needs of the current and 
potential employees. Equal employment opportunities 
are offered to all employees, and the company firmly 
endorses the four key areas of employment equity as 
identified by the Employment Equity Act:

•	 Elimination	of	discrimination	in	decision-making

•	 Promotion	of	employee	diversity

•	 Reduction	of	barriers	to	advancement	of	the	
disadvantaged

•	 Introduction	of	measures	and	procedures	for	
transformation

Employment Equity Committees were resuscitated at 
various depots. The depots were assisted in reconstituting 
their own committees. Ongoing training is planned 
for Employment Equity Committees which will assist in 
developing employment equity plans, setting numerical 
goals, implementing, monitoring and evaluating 
employment equity. The committees will also be assisting 
in the development of the new five-year employment 
equity plan that will outline the targets to be achieved in 
each year of the plan.

The committees will be required to assist in conducting an 
analysis of the company’s workforce profile with a view to 
determining the extent to which designated groups are 
under or over-represented within Pikitup. The other critical 
role that these committees will be expected to discharge 
will be to assist in conducting an analysis of employment 
policies, practices, procedures and the working 

Employment Equity
environment with a view to identifying any barriers that 
might exist in the company’s employment practices. 

The following appointments during the year under review 
are noteworthy. Whilst these are important strides, the 
company is putting measures in place to ensure the 
attraction of other under-represented racial groups:

•	 11	females	were	appointed:	

– Four African females were appointed at 
professional level

– Four African females were appointed at middle 
management level

– Two African females were appointed at senior 
management level

– One Indian female was appointed at senior 
management level

•	 16	males	were	appointed:

– One white male was appointed at middle 
management level

– One Indian male was appointed at senior 
management level

– One African male was appointed at executive 
management level

– Three African males were appointed at senior 
management level

– Six African males were appointed at middle 
management level

– Three African males were appointed at professional 
level

– One African male was appointed at semi-skilled 
level
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Pikitup is committed to the maintenance of standards 
by supporting and training staff through its world-class 
skills development programmes. This programme aims 
to develop both technical and people skills required for 
the company to conduct its business on an effective basis. 
Our skills development programmes are in line with the 
requirements of the Skills Development Act and our 
Workplace Skills Plan (WSP) is aligned to our business 
plan with a focus on occupational specific programmes, 
management development and scarce and critical 
skills training.

Training will focus on the development of specific 
competencies relating to our future strategy for the 
organisation. The main thrust of our training will be with 
a view to advancing our waste minimisation strategies, 
particularly in critical areas such as Separation@Source and 
other initiatives guided by the reality that waste has to be 
diverted from landfill sites.

Training continues to be provided through further studies 
as well as various skills programmes offered to employees. 
The following is an indication of the training programmes 
our employees went through, across all occupational 
levels, during the year under review:

•	 127	employees	attended	adult	education	and	training	
(AET) levels one to four. Of these, 55 sat for the 
examination and 25 passed the course

•	 28	middle	managers	attended	HR	Governance	training

Skills Development and Training
•	 31	supervisors	attended	the	Supervisory	Development	

Programme

•	 Nine	employee	wellness	practitioners	attended	
Monitoring and Evaluation training

•	 100	employees	ranging	from	supervisory	level,	team	
leaders and general workers attended Fire Marshall 
training

•	 10	employees	went	through	Leadership	Development	
Programmes at various Institutions of Higher 
Education

•	 A	number	of	general	workers	attended	Occupational	
Health and Safety training

•	 Nine	members	of	the	Job	Grading	Committee	were	
trained on the TASK Job Evaluation system

•	 The	Board	of	Directors	and	Exco	members	attended	
Corporate Governance training

•	 Four	employees	attended	Project	Management	
training

•	 Three	employee	attended	Risk	Management	training

Pikitup’s training and development spend was distributed 
as follows:

•	 Subsidised	education	 R862	088

•	 Training	and	development	 R892	095

•	 Seminars	and	conferences	 R752	407

Performance Management
Performance Management was implemented for all executives and management levels during the year under 
review. In terms of the Performance Management policy, fixed-term contract employees’ final appraisals must 
be done at the end of the fourth quarter of the financial year. Staff appraisals for the 2013/14 evaluation period 
were completed for all fixed-term contract employees. Furthermore, performance contracting for the 2014/15 
period has been completed, and 2015/16 contracting is currently nearing completion. 

The company has also commenced a roll-out process to ensure that all employees in supervisory positions 
are included in the performance management strategy. Training of underperforming officials is also being 
managed with a view to increased performance levels. Performance management is being adopted as a positive 
management strategy rather than a punitive process, and in this way employees feel comfortable to be part of 
the process. 
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Pikitup firmly believes that a robust employee wellness 
service is paramount to maintaining the health and 
well-being of employees. As such, the company has 
implemented a number of employee health and wellness 
programmes during the year, including:

Medical surveillance
This is a planned programme of periodic medical 
examinations to detect illnesses and diseases in the pre-
symptomatic stage and to treat proactively to prevent 
complications and maintain the overall well-being of 
employees.

Medical surveillance was done on high-risk employees 
(bulk and landfill site employees, loaders and drivers) 
between 1 June 2015 and 30 June 2015. A total of 1 280 
employees were assessed. Of the tested employees:

•	 9%	had	chronic	diseases

•	 7%	had	elevated	blood	pressure

•	 2%	had	diabetes

•	 3%	had	impaired	hearing;	of	these,	40%	were	loaders	
and 37% drivers

•	 313	drivers	underwent	multidrug	tests;	5.43%	of	these	
drivers tested positive

The testing enabled Pikitup to outline the below 
employee fitness status metric:

Employees are flagged according to the level of risk 
within their job categories. As such, 95% of employees 
were found fit for duty, of which 25% were declared fit 
with restrictions. Employees declared fit with restrictions 
and temporarily unfit are reviewed internally and will 
undergo annual or more frequent medical surveillance 
on a quarterly basis as they may have conditions such as 
mild hearing loss, mild respiratory function impairment or 
chronic diseases such as diabetes and hypertension that 
require further investigation and follow-up to exclude 
occupational diseases. 

Employees declared fit will undergo annual surveillance, 
while the health education of employees with chronic 
diseases is ongoing in-house. Employees with suspected 
occupational diseases (respiratory and hearing loss) are 
being investigated internally to exclude occupational 
diseases. Protocols have been designed for managing 
occupational and chronic diseases to fast-track the 
management of any cases. Following the positive pick-up 
rate for substance abuse, a protocol was designed to aid 
in the management of such cases.

Medical questionnaire programme 
Pikitup’s Medical Surveillance questionnaire Programme 
was completed in the 2014/15 period. The questionnaires 
covered respiratory disease, musculo-skeletal disease, shift 
work stressors, sleep patterns, stress and fatigue, and risk 
to work and productivity. A comparative analysis will now 

Employee Wellness

the classification of fitness status

job categorisation Fit
Fit with 

restriction
temporarily

unfit total

Loaders 577 (77%) 155 (21%) 18 (2%) 750 (100%)

Drivers 184 (59%) 89 (28%) 40 (13%) 313 (100%)

Landfill site workers 32 (71%) 10 (22%) 3 (7%) 45 (100%)

Bulk 107 (62%) 61 (35%) 4 (3%) 172 (100%)

total 900 (70%) 315 (25%) 65 (5%) 1 280

* All consultations were for periodic medicals
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be done in the different depots using a statistical analysis, 
to determine the number of cases of work/non-work-
related diseases.

Immunisation programme
A flu vaccine campaign for all staff was undertaken during 
the winter months.

Incapacity and absenteeism
The Employee Wellness Department (EWD) has completed 
workshops at all depots within Pikitup regarding 
incapacity and absenteeism. The ageing workforce in 
Pikitup is vulnerable to various stressors and strains 
including chronic diseases which manifest as incapacity, 
poor performance and absenteeism. Committees were 
developed and trained in the management of incapacity 
and absenteeism in all depots.

HIV, tB and StI programme
Following the wellness day events (held in 
September 2014), the HIV prevalence rate in the 

organisation was estimated at 13% in 2014/15. This is 
down from the 20% prevalence rate in 2013/14. 
The majority of cases were in the 36 – 55 age group 
(females: 6%; males: 3.22%). Pikitup is therefore putting 
measures in place to procure an external service provider 
and a dedicated HIV co-ordinator to assist in managing 
HIV within the workplace.

debt management
Debt and garnishee orders training was conducted at all 
depots with support from external service providers (NCR, 
Credit Ombudsman, Department of Gauteng Consumer 
Affairs, National Consumer Commission).

Substance abuse programme
There has been an ongoing education and awareness 
campaign on the above within Pikitup. Monthly support 
group meetings also take place among employees 
discharged from rehabilitation. Education was 
provided to high-risk and vulnerable groups among the 
RCR employees.
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The overarching objective in the period has been 
characterised by, amongst others, realignment of the HR 
functions and preparation for the implementation of the 
HR Service Delivery Model. In the reporting period, the 
following key delivery service areas were prioritised:

•	 Capacitating	line	functions	as	per	the	approved	
organogram

•	 Attracting	critical	skills

•	 Enhancing	HR	compliance	to	the	relevant	legislation,	
regulations and HR policies

Payroll administration
The unit has ensured the accuracy, completeness and 
validity of the payroll by introducing a number of 
controls. These include monthly verification of active 
employees by line managers, reconciliation of the payroll 
and accounting for overtime and acting allowances. 
The controls introduced have produced positive results 
relating to overtime. Overtime has been one of the cost 
drivers in the previous financial years. Furthermore, a 
number of cost saving measures have been introduced 
and these include reduction of overtime hours to be 
worked, re-fleeting and improved fleet management.

Employee benefits
Pikitup is a participating employer in various retirement 
benefit schemes through which it provides post-
employment benefits to all its employees through 
both defined contribution and defined benefit funds. 
The following funds currently provide retirement benefits 
for Pikitup employees:

Staff Costs

defined contribution funds
•	 E-Joburg	Retirement	Fund

•	 Municipal	Employees	Gratuity	Fund

•	 Municipal	Gratuity	Fund

•	 National	Fund	for	Municipal	Workers

•	 Meshawu	National	Local	Authorities	Retirement	Fund

•	 Municipal	Councillors	Pension	Fund

•	 South	African	Municipal	Workers	Union	National	
Provident Fund

defined benefit funds
•	 Johannesburg	Municipal	Pension	Fund

•	 City	of	Johannesburg	Pension	Fund

•	 Municipal	Employees	Pension	Fund

•	 Soweto	City	Council	Pension	Fund

•	 Joint	Municipal	Pension	Fund

•	 South	African	Local	Authorities	Pension	Fund

•	 South	African	Municipal	Workers’	Union	National	
Provident Fund
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Pikitup’s Human Resources unit works to ensure that it employs the right people for the right job at the right time. Every 
effort is made to ensure that the skills needed to enhance Pikitup’s performance are obtained and retained. Pikitup 
appointed 75 employees during the reporting period:

table 4.1: Human Capital Movements during 2014/15
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African Coloured Indian White total

Occupational category Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Male

Top management F 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Senior management E 2 4 0 0 1 1 0 2 10

Professionally qualified and experienced 
specialists and mid-management D 7 12 1 1 0 0 1 3 25

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and superintendents C 9 8 0 0 1 0 0 1 19

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision-
making B 3 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 16

Unskilled and defined decision-making A 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Grand total 22 41 1 1 2 1 1 6 75

Pikitup created over 1 000 opportunities for unemployed youth for special projects aimed at achieving high levels of 
cleanliness within CoJ. Human Resources successes are also attributed to healthy leadership demonstrated within Pikitup. 
The macro structure is 70% capacitated, however, an interim structure to ensure efficacies and improved service delivery 
was also put in place. The interim structure is fully capacitated.

During the year under review, the services of a total of 1 054 employees were terminated for a variety of reasons. 
The graph below shows that the majority of the terminations (almost 14%) were due to contract expiry. 

Human Capital Movement

Percentage of terminations

0.17%

Abscondment

13.75%

Contract  
expiry

1.01%

Death

0.27%

Dismissal

1.78%

Early 
retirement

0.31%

Medical 
boarding

1.24%

Resignation

1.63%

Retirement
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FINANCIAL  
PERFORMANCE

Key achievements

 Unqualified Audit

 Reduction in number of findings raised by the Auditor-General

 Achievement of a surplus through improved revenue generation and cost containment

 Improved internal control environment

Contents
Chief Financial Officer’s Report 69

Director’s Responsibilities and Approval 70

Company Secretary’s Certification 71

Audit and Risk Committee Report 72

Directors’ Report 74

Statement of Financial Position 78

Statement of Financial Performance 79

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 80

Cash Flow Statement 81

Statement of Comparison of Budget  
and Actual Amounts 82

Accounting Policies 84

Notes to the Financial Statements 94

68



Chief Financial Officer’s Report
Pikitup reflected a 

deficit of R3.6 million 

at its first year-end, 

being 30 June 2001. 

The company 

reported annual losses 

continuously resulting 

in an accumulated 

deficit of R199 million 

by 30 June 2007. The 

main contributing factors 

resulting in the situation 

were accounting policy 

changes relating to 

post-retirement benefits, 

landfill rehabilitation provision, finance leases as well as 

deferred tax. All these adjustments affected the financial 

position negatively. The accumulated deficit continued to 

increase to an alarming R311 million by 30 June 2014.

The company adopted a revised provision for doubtful 

debt policy during the 2015 financial year. The new policy 

requires the company’s debtor’s book to be assessed 

on an individual debtor basis to evaluate whether any 

relevant impairment indicators exist. Once impairment 

is established, the total debt of the debtor is considered 

to be impaired and 100% of the debt must be provided 

for as doubtful debt. The previous policy assumed 

impairment to be applied based upon the age buckets of 

the debt.

The adoption of the revised doubtful debt policy resulted 
in a change in the measurement basis of the provision for 
doubtful debts.

The implementation of the new policy is accounted 
for as a change in accounting policy in terms of GRAP. 
The change in accounting policy has been applied 
retrospectively effective 30 June 2014, resulting in a 
positive adjustment of R383 million, which restated 
the accumulated deficit to an accumulated surplus of 
R173 million as at 30 June 2014.

The results of the company reflect a deficit for the 
2015 year amounting to R65 million and a surplus of 
R543 million (2014 restated) that is attributable in the 
main to the adoption of the revised doubtful debt policy 
and associated tax implications.

The adoption of the new policy had a negative result for 
the 2015 financial year, reducing the accumulated surplus to 
R108 million as at 30 June 2015. Business sentiment remains 
positive to continue growing the accumulated surplus.

The solvency of Pikitup has been a challenge since 
incorporation and for the first time in 15 years the 
company reflects a stable solvency position.

S Maharaj
Chief Financial Officer 

Mr Suren Maharaj
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The directors are required by the Municipal Finance 
Management Act (Act No. 56 of 2003) and Companies 
Act of South Africa (Act No. 71 of 2008), to maintain 
adequate accounting records and are responsible for the 
content and integrity of the financial statements and 
related financial information included in this report. It 
is the responsibility of the directors to ensure that the 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs 
of the entity as at the end of the financial year and the 
results of its operations and cash flows for the period 
then ended. The Auditor-General is engaged to express 
an independent opinion on the financial statements and 
was given unrestricted access to all financial records and 
related data.

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, 
guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board.

The financial statements are based upon appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the entity and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control environment. 
To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, 
the Board set standards for internal control aimed at 
reducing the risk of error or deficit in a cost effective 
manner. The standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 
effective accounting procedures and adequate 
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. 

Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval
These controls are monitored throughout the entity and 
all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical 
standards in ensuring the entity’s business is conducted 
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the entity is 
on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all 
known forms of risk across the entity. While operating 
risk cannot be fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to 
minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, 
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied 
and managed within predetermined procedures 
and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that 
the financial records may be relied on for the preparation 
of the financial statements. However, any system of 
internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and 
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement 
or deficit.

The entity is wholly dependent on the CJMM for 
continued funding of operations. The financial statements 
are prepared on the basis that the entity is a going 
concern and that the CJMM has neither the intention nor 
the need to liquidate or curtail materially the scale of 
the entity.

Dr P Hanekom  A Nair 
Chairperson Managing Director

10 December 2015
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Declaration by the Company Secretary in respect of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, 2008

In terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, 2008 (Act No. 71 of 2008) (Companies Act), (as amended) and the 
Municipal Finance Management Act (Act No. 56 of 2003), I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
the company has lodged and/or filled, for the financial year ended 30 June 2015, all such returns and notices as required 
and that all such returns and notices are true, correct and up to date.

F Dekker
Company Secretary

10 December 2015

Company Secretary’s Certification
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The Audit and Risk 
Committee presents 
its report for the year 
ended 30 June 2015 as 
recommended by the 
King III report. The Audit 
and Risk Committee has 
adopted formal terms 
of reference that have 
been approved by the 
Board of Directors. The 
committee has conducted 
and discharged its affairs 
and its responsibilities in 
compliance with its terms 
of reference, King III, 
Section 94(7)(f) of the 

Companies Act, 2008 (Act No. 71 of 2008) (Companies Act) 
and MFMA.

The members of the Audit and Risk Committee are 
Messrs L Brenner, R Buys, W Hattingh, G Mufana and 
LJ Matshekga. The committee held nine meetings during 
the financial year to review matters necessary to fulfil 
its role.

Mr L Brenner resigned as the Chairperson of the Audit and 
Risk Committee and upon this resignation, Mr LJ Matshekga 
was elected as a member and Chairperson of the Audit and 
Risk Committee from February 2015.

Members of the Audit and Risk 
Committee

Name of member
Number of

meetings attended

LJ Matshekga (Chairperson) 3

L Brenner 9

R Buys 8

W Hattingh 5

G Mufana 9

In the conduct of its duties, the Audit and Risk Committee 
reviewed the terms of reference during the period under 
review and performed the following functions:

External audit
•	 	Received	and	reviewed	reports	from	Auditor-General	

concerning the effectiveness of Pikitup’s internal 
control environment, systems and processes

•	 	Made	appropriate	recommendations	to	the	Board	
regarding the corrective actions to be taken as 
consequence of audit findings

Internal audit
•	 	Considered	the	effectiveness	of	internal	audit,	which	

included approving the one-year operational plan 

Audit and Risk Committee Report
and three-year strategic internal audit plans, and 
monitored internal audit’s adherence to its annual 
programme

•	 	Received	and	reviewed	reports	from	the	internal	
auditors concerning the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal controls, systems and processes

•	 	Reviewed	the	adequacy	and	appropriateness	of	
management’s corrective action plan as a consequence 
of audit findings

•	 	Made	appropriate	recommendations	to	the	Board	
regarding the corrective actions to be taken as a 
consequence of the audit findings

The internal audit function reports functionally to the 
Audit and Risk Committee and provides reports at Audit 
and Risk Committee meetings. The Chief Audit Executive 
reports at each Audit and Risk Committee meeting and 
has direct reporting line to the Chairperson of the Audit 
and Risk Committee. The annual audit plan is reviewed 
regularly to ensure it remains relevant and responsive to 
changes in the operating environment. During the year 
under review the Audit and Risk Committee met with 
the Chief Audit Executive and external auditors without 
management being present. During the year under review 
a Chief Audit Executive was appointed. This strengthened 
the Internal Audit Department and has contributed to 
improvement in the internal control environment.

Risk management
Accountability for risk management lies with the Board. 
The risk appetite and tolerance levels are set by the 
Board and reviewed annually. The Board has delegated 
the oversight responsibility to the Audit and Risk 
Committee, which monitors that risk taken are within 
the tolerance and appetite levels. During the year under 
review, the Board held a risk workshop to review the 
top strategic risks. An experienced Chief Risk Officer was 
appointed to strengthen the risk management capability 
of the organisation. Going forward the company will 
procure an ERM solution to further strengthen its risk 
management capability.

Performance evaluation
A self-assessment appraisal for the committee for the year 
under review was conducted. The committee has complied 
with its terms of reference for the year under review.

Furthermore the Audit and Risk Committee:

•	 	Reviewed	the	accounting	practices	adopted	by	
the company

•	 	Reviewed	the	accounting	policies	adopted	by	the	
company and all proposed changes in accounting 
policies and practices, and recommended any changes 
considered appropriate in terms of GRAP to the Board 
for approval

•	 	Reviewed	and	recommended	disclosed	financial	
information for adoption by the Board

Mr Lesetsa Matshekga
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•	 	Monitored	ethical	conduct	by	the	company,	its	
Executives and senior management

•	 	Monitored	the	company’s	compliance	with	all	
applicable legislation and regulations, including the 
Companies Act, the MFMA, and Treasury Regulations

•	 	Reported	on	items	of	unauthorised	and	fruitless	and	
wasteful and irregular expenditure in terms of MFMA

King III recommendations
The Audit and Risk Committee is not aware of any 
corporate governance practices that are non-compliant 
with the requirements of King III.

Assessment of the financial function
The Audit and Risk Committee satisfied itself that 
the Chief Financial Officer has appropriate financial 
experience. The committee continues to make 
recommendations for enhancing the functioning and 
improvement of the finance function to management 
where appropriate.

The committee also considered the Integrated Annual 
Report for the year under review and recommended 
approval thereof to the Board of Directors. The Audit and 
Risk Committee is satisfied that it complies with its legal, 
statutory and delegated responsibilities.

Internal control environment
The Audit and Risk Committee has overseen a process 
by which internal audit performed a written assessment 
of the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal 
control and risk management, including internal 
financial controls.

The Audit and Risk Committee noted that in certain 
instances management was slow to implement the 
corrective actions required. The committee has made 
recommendations for ensuring that the internal control 
environment is improved and better accountability from 
management is established.

In the opinion of the Audit and Risk Committee, 
the internal controls of the company are considered 
appropriate in terms of: 

•	 	Meeting	the	strategic	objectives	of	the	company

•	 	Evaluating	and	mitigating	the	key	risks	facing	the	
company

•	 	Ensuring	compliance	with	applicable	laws	and	
regulations

•	 	Ensuring	that	the	company’s	assets	are	safeguarded

•	 	Ensuring	that	transactions	undertaken	are	correctly	
recorded in accounting records

The Audit and Risk Committee has evaluated the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 and considers 
that they comply, in all material respects, with the 
requirements of the Companies Act, Municipal Finance 
Management Act, the Public Audit Act and the South 
African Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP).

LJ Matshekga
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee

10 December 2015
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The directors submit their report for the year ended 
30 June 2015.

Incorporation 
The entity was incorporated on 28 November 2000 and 
obtained its certificate to commence business on the 
same day. 

Review of activities 
Main business and operations 
The entity is engaged in providing comprehensive 
waste management services on behalf of the City 
of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality to the 
residents and businesses within the City of Johannesburg 
Metropolitan Municipality’s geographic area. 

During the year under review there were no changes in 
the activities of the business. 

Net deficit after taxation of the entity was R55 492 645 
(2014: surplus R549 523 378). 

The entity adopted a revised policy for doubtful debt in 
the period under review which resulted in a change in 
the measurement basis. This is accounted for as a change 
in accounting policy in terms of GRAP 3. The change in 
policy has been applied retrospectively effective from 
30 June 2014. 

Going concern and undertaking of 
support 
We draw attention to the fact that at 30 June 2015, 
the entity had an accumulated surplus of R124 089 344 
(2014: R179 581 989) and that the entity’s total assets 
exceed its liabilities by R167 092 152 (2014: R222 584 797). 

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis 
of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance 
future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and 
commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 

Directors’ Report

Directors’ declaration of personal 
financial interest 
The directors declared that they have no interest in the 
contracts of the company. 

Accounting policies 
The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with South African Statements of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the 
Accounting Standards Board in accordance with the 
Municipal Finance Management Act (Act No. 56 of 2003). 

Share capital 
The company was incorporated with an authorised share 
capital of 1 000 ordinary shares of R1 each which were 
issued at par value. 

According to the company’s register at 30 June 2015 the 
City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality held 
100% of the ordinary share capital of the company. 

There were no changes in the authorised or issued 
contributions from owners of the company during the 
year under review. 

Borrowing limitations 
In terms of the sale of business agreement, Pikitup 
Johannesburg (SOC) Limited does not have the authority 
to borrow funds on its own behalf. All external funding 
is managed under the auspices of the the City of 
Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality Asset and 
Liability Management Committee. 

Management agreement 
The City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality 
operates on a consolidated billing system for its revenue 
and certain of its controlled entities, which includes this 
company. In terms of this system, the City of Johannesburg 
Metropolitan Municipality invoices commercial customers 
on behalf of this company, and collects the receipts 
thereof from these customers. 74



Secretary 
The Secretary of the entity is Mr F Dekker of: 

Business address
Pikitup Building
Corner Bertha and Juta Streets, Braamfontein, 
Johannesburg, 2001

Postal address
Private Bag X74, Braamfontein, Johannesburg, 2017

Corporate governance 
General 
The directors are committed to business integrity, 
transparency and professionalism in all their activities. As 
part of this commitment, the directors support the highest 
standards of corporate governance and the ongoing 
development of best practice. 

Board of Directors 
The Board: 

•	 	Retains	full	control	over	the	entity,	its	plans	and	
strategy

•	 	Acknowledges	its	responsibilities	as	to	strategy,	
compliance with internal policies, external laws 
and regulations, effective risk management and 

performance measurement, transparency and effective 
communication both internally and externally by the 
entity

•	 	Is	of	a	unitary	structure	comprising:	
 –  non-executive directors, all of whom are 

independent directors
 –  Accounting Officer

Chairperson and Accounting Officer
The Chairperson of the Board is a non-executive director.

The roles of the Chairperson and Accounting Officer are 
separate, with responsibilities divided between them, so 
that no individual has unfettered powers of discretion.

Remuneration
The remuneration of the Accounting Officer is determined 
by the shareholder.

The remuneration of the directors is determined by the 
City of Johannesburg as agreed by special resolution at 
the annual general meeting.

Board meetings
The directors meet at least four times per year.

Non-executive directors have access to all members of 
management of the entity.

Board of Directors 
The directors of the entity during the year and to the date of this report are as follows: 

Name Nationality Changes

Dr P Hanekom (Chairperson) South African Appointed 3 February 2015

Bp DK Adams South African Appointed 3 February 2015

Adv. G Badela South African Appointed 3 February 2015

M Bahula South African

SR Bogatsu South African Appointed 18 March 2015

L Brenner South African

Dr N Mabuya South African Retired 3 February 2015

S Maharaj South African

LJ Matshekga South African

D Mondlane South African Retired 29 January 2015

Dr N Mutshekwane South African Retired 29 January 2015

A Nair South African

Dr Y Ndema South African Retired 30 October 2014

Dr WRR Nyabeze South African

Adv. TD Rampai South African
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Board and Board Committee meetings

Board
Committee

Audit and Risk
Committee

Risk Assurance
and Compliance

Committee

Human 
Resources and 
Remuneration

 Committee
Operations
Committee

Dr P Hanekom (Chairperson) 6

Bp DK Adams 5 4 2

Adv. G Badela 2

M Bahula 12 2

SR Bogatsu 2

L Brenner 13 9 2

Dr N Mabuya (Retired) 8 3

LJ Matshekga 10 3 2 3

D Mondlane (Retired) 8 4 2

Dr N Mutshekwane (Retired) 5 2

Dr Y Ndema (Retired) 1 1

Dr WRR Nyabeze 12 1 2

Adv. TD Rampai 8 1

Social and Ethics
Committee

Social, Ethics
 and Human

Resource
Committee

Operations
and Services

Delivery
Committee

Procurement
Oversight

Committee

Dr P Hanekom (Chairperson) 1 2

Bp DK Adams 2 2 2

Adv. G Badela 2

M Bahula 2 2 2

SR Bogatsu 1 1

LJ Matshekga 2

D Mondlane (Retired) 2

Dr N Mutshekwane (Retired) 2 1

Dr WRR Nyabeze 2

Adv. TD Rampai 1 1
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Audit and Risk Committee
The members of the Audit and Risk Committee are 
Messrs L Brenner, W Hattingh, R Buys, G Mafuna and 
LJ Matshekga. The Audit and Risk Committee held 
nine meetings during the 2014/15 financial year to review 
matters necessary to fulfil their role.

Members of the Audit and Risk 
Committee

Number of
 meetings
 attended

Total number of meetings held 9

LJ Matshekga (Chairperson) 3

L Brenner 9

R Buys 8

W Hattingh 5

G Mufana 9

Internal audit
The internal audit function was performed using in-house 
capacity as well as co-sourced assistance from a panel of 
internal auditors. This is in compliance with the Municipal 
Finance Management Act, 2003.

Controlling entity 
The company’s parent is the City of Johannesburg 
Metropolitan Municipality. 

Investment in associates 
Name of 
investment

Purpose of the 
company

Net income/
(loss) after tax

Friedshelf 128 
(Pty) Limited Property company 1 937 483

Pikitup holds 50% equity interest in Friedshelf 128 (Pty) 
Limited whose underlying assets comprise of the building 
used as the head office of Pikitup.

The financial year-end of Friedshelf 128 (Pty) Limited is 
the end of February.

Bankers 
Standard Bank of South Africa. 

The management of the treasury function within the 
company is managed under the auspices of the the City 
of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality Treasury 
Department. The company has a sweeping arrangement 
with the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality 
whereby all cash is swept on a daily basis to the City of 
Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality’s bank account. 

Auditors 
The Auditor-General of South Africa will continue in office 
for the next financial period. 
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Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014

ASSEtS

Current assets

Inventories 3 4 444 031 5 086 656

Loans to shareholder 4 565 129 896 277 426 450

Amount owed by SARS 5 1 777 917 1 777 917

Receivables from non-exchange transactions 6 79 983 996 83 012 989

Consumer debtors 7 550 157 932 717 263 799

Cash and cash equivalents 8 53 941 10 329 438

1 201 547 713 1 094 897 249

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 9 740 328 321 683 048 363

Intangible assets 10 6 737 653 11 473 984

Investment in associate 11 20 045 625 18 108 143

Loans to shareholders 4 110 413 070 104 350 749

877 524 669 816 981 239

total assets 2 079 072 382 1 911 878 488

LIABILItIES

Current liabilities

Loans from shareholder 4 – 91 536 190

Finance lease obligation 13 44 307 255 32 683 030

Payables from exchange transactions 14 489 767 700 307 059 485

Provision 16 20 408 253 30 894 634

554 483 208 462 173 339

Non-current liabilities

Loans from shareholders 4 563 610 717 442 555 786

Finance lease obligation 13 153 097 299 106 623 928

Employee benefit obligation 15 89 724 772 108 254 932

Provision 16 551 064 234 569 685 706

1 357 497 022 1 227 120 352

total liabilities 1 911 980 230 1 689 293 691

Net assets/(liabilities) 167 092 152 222 584 797

NEt ASSEtS/(LIABILItIES)

Share capital 18 1 000 1 000

Owner’s contribution 42 43 001 808 43 001 808

Accumulated surplus 124 089 344 179 581 989

total net assets/(liabilities) 167 092 152 222 584 797

Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2015
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Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014

Revenue
Rendering of services 19 1 215 815 497 1 141 048 329
Rental from facilities and equipment 244 820 275 959
Miscellaneous other revenue 21 697 239 5 905 079
Government grants and subsidies 21 608 007 861 603 748 217
Fair-value adjustments 64 266 361 43 326 255

20 1 910 031 778 1 794 303 839

Other income
Interest received 6 727 311 2 114 384
Income from equity-accounted investment 11 1 937 482 2 260 758

8 664 793 4 375 142

Operating expenses (see below) (1 907 466 637) (1 182 681 402)

Operating surplus 22 11 229 934 615 997 579
Finance costs 25 (66 722 579) (65 078 321)
(Deficit)/surplus before taxation 40 (55 492 645) 550 919 258
Taxation – 1 395 880
(Deficit)/surplus for the year (55 492 645) 549 523 378

Operating expenses
Advertising (1 099 857) (566 443)
Assessment rates and municipal charges (8 387 504) (8 508 338)
Auditors’ remuneration 26 (4 069 734) (2 306 495)
Allowance for doubtful debts (459 625 408) 249 660 881
Bank charges (62 430) (79 124)
Cleaning (1 603 451) (340 755)
Safety equipment (64 108) (373 263)
Conferences and seminars (748 707) (663 921)
Consulting and professional fees (1 065 472) (5 325 188)
Consumables (20 642 313) (20 572 110)
Pollution monitoring (958 815) (707 203)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments (111 864 449) (81 135 227)
Employee costs 23 (808 071 941) (764 632 332)
Entertainment (3 285 279) (1 555 265)
Medical expenses (6 384) –
Sundries (109 450) (1 688 552)
Waste disposal fees (16 591 045) (14 549 166)
Payroll processing (1 407 356) (1 415 986)
Recruitment fees (2 897 870) (1 522 393)
Fleet and cleaning services (396 048 411) (434 057 103)
Hire (639 950) (495 991)
IT expenses (11 297 103) (11 633 829)
Insurance (2 685 898) (1 707 092)
Lease rentals on operating leases (7 507 403) (7 089 786)
Legal expenses (5 312 293) (8 130 351)
Marketing (298 670) (1 259 691)
Assets scrapped (555 520) –
Postage (1 255) (7 176)
Printing and stationery (949 955) (1 346 986)
Repairs and maintenance (3 290 845) (2 422 604)
Security (16 521 830) (28 226 013)
Staff welfare (4 861 271) (9 946 380)
Subscriptions (170 929) (184 583)
Telephone and fax (3 970 004) (4 384 308)
Training (943 731) (773 887)
Environmental education (5 545 596) (11 074 732)
Revenue and customer relations management fees (3 693 459) (3 654 133)
Travelling (610 941) (5 877)

(1 907 466 637) (1 182 681 402)

Statement of Financial Performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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Figures in Rand Note(s)
Share 

capital
Owner’s

contribution
Accumulated

surplus
Total 

equity

Balance at 1 July 2013 1 000 – (369 941 389) (369 940 389)

Changes in net assets

Surplus for the year – – 549 523 378 549 523 378

Owner’s contribution – 43 001 808 – 43 001 808

total changes – 43 001 808 549 523 378 592 525 186

Opening balance as previously reported 1 000 43 001 808 656 081 833 699 084 641

Adjustments

Change in accounting policy – – (482 151 638) (482 151 638)

Prior-year adjustments 33 – – 5 651 794 5 651 794

Balance at 1 July 2014 as restated 1 000 43 001 808 179 581 989 222 584 797

Changes in net assets

Deficit for the year – – (55 492 645) (55 492 645)

total changes – – (55 492 645) (55 492 645)

Balance at 30 June 2015 1 000 43 001 808 124 089 344 167 092 152

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014

CASH FLOwS FROM OPERAtING ACtIvItIES

Receipts

Sale of goods and services 1 841 555 131 1 707 123 355

Interest income 6 727 311 4 483 250

1 848 282 442 1 711 606 605

Payments

Suppliers (2 933 622 578) (2 346 633 861)

Finance costs (31 806 703) (27 201 489)

Taxes on surpluses 28 – 360 653

(2 965 429 281) (2 373 474 697)

Net cash flows from operating activities 27 (1 117 146 839) (661 868 092)

CASH FLOwS FROM INvEStING ACtIvItIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9 (135 045 796) (79 062 457)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 9 82 820 –

Purchase of other intangible assets 10 – (1 626 260)

Net cash flows from investing activities (134 962 976) (80 688 717)

CASH FLOwS FROM FINANCING ACtIvItIES

Interest paid – sweeping 87 232 –

Net movement of shareholder’s loan 122 768 962 97 885 499

Finance lease payments 34 691 258 37 064 802

Net cash flows from financing activities 157 460 220 134 950 301

NEt INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EquIvALENtS (10 275 497) 10 324 497

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 10 329 438 4 941

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 53 941 10 329 438

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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Budget on cash basis
Figures in Rand

Approved
 budget Adjustments

Final 
budget

Actual 
amounts on
 comparable

 basis

Difference
between 

final budget 
and actual

StAtEMENt OF FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE

Revenue

Revenue from exchange 
transactions

Service charges1 1 144 719 999 91 411 001 1 236 131 000 1 215 815 497 (20 315 503)

Rental facilities and equipment 286 616 384 287 000 244 820 (42 180)

Miscellaneous other revenue2 9 175 573 (2 010 573) 7 165 000 21 697 239 14 532 239

Interest received 3 540 000 30 000 3 570 000 6 727 311 3 157 311

total revenue from exchange 
transactions 1 157 722 188 89 430 812 1 247 153 000 1 244 484 867 (2 668 133)

Revenue from non-exchange 
transactions

taxation revenue

Government grants and subsidies3 592 918 000 324 000 593 242 000 608 007 861 14 765 861

Fair-value adjustment3 – – – 64 266 361 64 266 361

total revenue from non-exchange 
transactions 592 918 000 324 000 593 242 000 672 274 222 79 032 222

total revenue 1 750 640 188 89 754 812 1 840 395 000 1 916 759 089 76 364 089

Expenditure

Personnel4 (801 529 636) (42 496 364) (844 026 000) (808 071 941) 35 954 059

Environmental education5 (19 711 890) 10 094 890 (9 617 000) (5 545 596) 4 071 404

Depreciation and amortisation6 (128 976 000) (1 047 000) (130 023 000) (111 864 449) 18 158 551

Finance costs7 (44 678 001) (2 292 999) (46 971 000) (66 722 579) (19 751 579)

Allowance for doubtful debts8 (103 531 000) (82 330 000) (185 861 000) (459 625 408) (273 764 408)

Safety (1 107 237) 296 237 (811 000) (64 108) 746 892

Repairs and maintenance (6 454 348) 1 014 348 (5 440 000) (3 290 845) 2 149 155

Pollution monitoring (1 370 728) (23 272) (1 394 000) (958 815) 435 185

General expenses9 (643 281 348) 27 029 348 (616 252 000) (518 045 475) 98 206 525

total expenditure (1 750 640 188) (89 754 812) (1 840 395 000) (1 974 189 216) (133 794 216)

Operating deficit – – – (57 430 127) (57 430 127)

Income from equity-accounted 
investments – – – 1 937 482 1 937 482

Deficit before taxation – – – (55 492 645) (55 492 645)

Actual amount on comparable 
basis as presented in the budget 
and actual comparative statement – – – (55 492 645) (55 492 645)

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
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1.  Service charges – negative results compared to budget is as a result of fair-value adjustment as per IFRS reporting 
standards applied to the actual results for the financial year which is not applied to budgeting. 

2.  Miscellaneous other revenue – positive results compared to the budget is as a result of income received for EPWP 
workers and the cleansing of Bekkersdal. 

3.  Government grants – to achieve a balanced budget the CoJ budgeting policy requires that the USDG (capital grant) 
budget be classified below the line. Thus actual results for this grouping of CoJ and government grants, which 
specifically include USDG income, are higher than budget.

4.  Personnel costs are closely aligned to budget.

5.  Environmental education – actual expenditure is lower than budgeted due to delayed implementation of the 
Separation@Source and Jozi@Work projects. 

6.  Depreciation shows a positive variance compared to budget due to the capitalisation of CoJ-owned fleet occurring 
later in the financial year than anticipated. 

7.  Finance costs – the cost of landfill rehabilitation exceeded the budget provision which was primarily responsible for 
this expense group being over budget in total. 

8.  The allowance for doubtful debt – the revision in the bad debt policy (finalised and approved post-budget 
submission) has resulted in an unforeseen increase in the requirement for the bad debt provision for the current 
financial year. A credit to the bad debt provision was processed as a prior-year adjustment resulting in overall 
reduction in the provision as a percentage of debt. 

9.  General expenses – a positive result compared to budget is a consequence of stringent cost cutting measures in place 
for the financial year. 
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1.  Presentation of Financial Statements 
The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by 
the Accounting Standards Board in accordance 
with Section 122(3) of the Municipal Finance 
Management Act (Act No. 56 of 2003). 

These financial statements have been prepared 
on an accrual basis of accounting and are in 
accordance with historical cost convention as the 
basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise. 
They are presented in South African Rand. 

A summary of the significant accounting policies, 
as adopted by the entity which have been 
consistently applied in the preparation of these 
financial statements, are disclosed below.

1.1  Significant judgements and sources of 
estimation uncertainty 
In preparing the financial statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts represented in the financial 
statements and related disclosures. Use of available 
information and the application of judgement 
is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual 
results in the future could differ from these 
estimates which may be material to the financial 
statements. Significant judgements include: 

  Fair-value estimation 
The carrying value less impairment provision 
of trade receivables and payables are assumed 
to approximate their fair values. The fair value 
of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is 
estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate 
that is available to the entity for similar financial 
instruments. The discounting rates for the period 
under review is 9.25% (2014: 9.25%). 

  Impairment testing 
The company reviews and tests the carrying 
value of assets when events or changes in 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at 
the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows 
are largely independent of cash flows of other 
assets and liabilities. If there are indications that 
impairment may have occurred, estimates are 
prepared of expected future cash flows for each 
group of assets. Expected future cash flows used 
to determine the value in use of goodwill and 
tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could 
materially change over time. 

  Provisions 
Provisions are raised based on the information 
available. Additional disclosure of these provisions 
are included in note 16 – Provisions. 

Accounting Policies 
for the year ended 30 June 2015

  taxation 
Judgement is required in determining the 
provision for income taxes due to the complexity 
of legislation. There are many transactions 
and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain during the ordinary 
course of business. The entity recognises liabilities 
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates 
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different 
from the amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the income tax and 
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. 

The entity recognises the net future tax benefit 
related to deferred income tax assets to the extent 
that it is probable that the deductible temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Assessing the recoverability of deferred income 
tax assets requires the entity to make significant 
estimates related to expectations of future taxable 
income. Estimates of future taxable income are 
based on forecast cash flows from operations 
and the application of existing tax laws in each 
jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows 
and taxable income differ significantly from 
estimates, the ability of the entity to realise the 
net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the 
reporting period could be impacted. 

  useful lives of assets 
The entity’s management determines the estimated 
useful lives and related depreciation charges for 
the items of property, plant and equipment. This 
estimate is based on industry norm. Management 
will increase the depreciation charge where useful 
lives are less than previously estimated useful lives. 

  Post-retirement benefits 
The present value of the post-retirement 
obligation depends on a number of factors that 
are determined on an actuarial basis using a 
number of assumptions. The assumptions used 
in determining the net cost (income) include the 
discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions 
will impact on the carrying amount of post-
retirement obligations. 

  Effective interest rate 
The company used the City of Johannesburg 
Metropolitan Municipality Treasury borrowing rate 
as a point of departure and basis for discounting 
financial instruments. 

  Allowance for doubtful debts 
The company assesses its trade receivables/
held-to-maturity investments and/or loans and 
receivables for impairment at each reporting 
date. In determining whether an impairment loss 
should be recorded in the statement of financial 
performance, the company makes judgements as 
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to whether there is observable data indicating a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows from a financial asset. 

The provision for impairment is measured as the 
difference between the assets’ carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash 
flow discounted at the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition 

1.2 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-
current assets (including infrastructure assets) 
that are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, rental to others, or for 
administrative purposes, and are expected to be 
used during more than one period. 

The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised as an asset when: 

•	 	it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	or	
service potential associated with the item will 
flow to the entity; and 

•	 	the	cost	of	the	item	can	be	measured	reliably.	

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured 
at cost. 

The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is the purchase price and other 
costs attributable to bring the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are 
deducted in arriving at the cost. 

Where an asset is acquired through a non-
exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at 
date of acquisition. 

Where an item of property, plant and equipment 
is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset 
or monetary assets, or a combination of monetary 
and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is 
initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the 
acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, 
its deemed cost is the carrying amount of the 
asset(s) given up. 

When significant components of an item of 
property, plant and equipment have different 
useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of property, plant and 
equipment. 

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire 
or construct an item of property, plant and 
equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add 
to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement 
cost is recognised in the carrying amount of 
an item of property, plant and equipment, 
the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. 

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses. 

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a 
result of a revaluation, is credited directly to a 
revaluation surplus. The increase is recognised in 
surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a 
revaluation decrease of the same asset previously 
recognised in surplus or deficit. 

Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a 
result of a revaluation, is recognised in surplus 
or deficit in the current period. The decrease 
is debited directly to a revaluation surplus to 
the extent of any credit balance existing in the 
revaluation surplus in respect of that asset. 

Items of property, plant and equipment are 
depreciated over their expected useful lives to 
their estimated residual value. 

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a 
result of a revaluation, is credited directly to a 
revaluation surplus. The increase is recognised in 
surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a 
revaluation decrease of the same asset previously 
recognised in surplus or deficit. 

The useful lives of items of property, plant and 
equipment have been assessed as follows: 

The residual value, and the useful life and 
depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting date. If the expectations 
differ from previous estimates, the change is 
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. 

Reviewing the useful life of an asset on an annual 
basis does not require the entity to amend the 
previous estimate unless expectations differ from 
the previous estimate. 

The depreciation charge for each period is 
recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included 
in the carrying amount of another asset. 

Items of property, plant and equipment are 
derecognised when the asset is disposed of or 
when there are no further economic benefits or 
service potential expected from the use of the 
asset. 

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition 
of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is included in surplus or deficit when the item 
is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the 
carrying amount of the item. 
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1.3 Intangible assets 
An asset is identifiable if it either: 

•	 	is	separable,	i.e.	is	capable	of	being	separated	
or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, 
licensed, rented or exchanged, either 
individually or together with a related contract, 
identifiable assets or liability, regardless of 
whether the entity intends to do so; or 

•	 	arises	from	binding	arrangements	(including	
rights from contracts), regardless of whether 
those rights are transferable or separable from 
the entity or from other rights and obligations. 

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement 
that confers similar rights and obligations on the 
parties to it as if it were in the form of a contract. 

An intangible asset is recognised when: 

•	 	it	is	probable	that	the	expected	future	
economic benefits or service potential that are 
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; 
and 

•	 	the	cost	or	fair	value	of	the	asset	can	be	
measured reliably. 

The entity assesses the probability of expected 
future economic benefits or service potential using 
reasonable and supportable assumptions that 
represent management’s best estimate of the set 
of economic conditions that will exist over the 
useful life of the asset. 

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a 
non-exchange transaction, its initial cost at the 
date of acquisition is measured at its fair value as 
at that date. 

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase 
of an internal project) is recognised as an expense 
when it is incurred. 

An intangible asset is regarded as having an 
indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant 
factors, there is no foreseeable limit to the period 
over which the asset is expected to generate net 
cash inflows or service potential. Amortisation 
is not provided for these intangible assets, but 
they are tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired. For all other intangible assets 
amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis 
over their useful life. 

The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for intangible assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date. 

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset 
with a finite useful life after it was classified 
as indefinite is an indicator that the asset may 
be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for 
impairment and the remaining carrying amount is 
amortised over its useful life. 

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing 
titles, customer lists and items similar in substance 
are not recognised as intangible assets. 

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as 
an intangible asset. 

Amortisation is provided to write down the 
intangible assets, on a straight-line basis, to their 
residual values as follows: 

1.4 Investment in associate 
An investment in an associate is carried at fair 
value and classified as fair value through surplus 
or deficit. 

1.5 Financial instruments 
  Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial instruments are recognised initially when 
the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments. 

The entity classifies financial instruments, or 
their component parts, on initial recognition as 
a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity 
instrument in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. 

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair 
value, except for equity investments for which a 
fair value is not determinable, which are measured 
at cost and are classified as available-for-sale 
financial assets. 

For financial instruments which are not at fair 
value through surplus or deficit, transaction costs 
are included in the initial measurement of the 
instrument. 

  Loans to/(from) economic entities 
These include loans to and from controlling 
entities, fellow controlled entities, controlled 
entities, joint ventures and associates and are 
recognised initially at fair value plus direct 
transaction costs. 

Loans to economic entities are classified as loans 
and receivables. 

Loans from economic entities are classified as 
financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method, less any 
impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable 
amounts. 

On loans receivable an impairment loss is 
recognised in surplus or deficit when there 
is objective evidence that it is impaired. The 
impairment is measured as the difference between 
the investment’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition. 

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent 
periods when an increase in the investment’s 

Accounting Policies 
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued
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recoverable amount can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, subject to the restriction that the 
carrying amount of the investment at the date 
the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what 
the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised. 

  Consumer debtors 
Trade receivables are measured at initial 
recognition at cost or fair value, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. Appropriate 
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts 
are recognised in surplus or deficit when there 
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
or financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments (more than 30 days 
overdue) are considered indicators that the trade 
receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised 
is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the effective interest rate computed at initial 
recognition. 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account, and the 
amount of the deficit is recognised in surplus or 
deficit within operating expenses. When a trade 
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against 
the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are credited against operating expenses 
in surplus or deficit. 

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans 
and receivables. 

An estimate is made for doubtful receivables based 
on a review of all outstanding amounts at year-
end. Bad debts are written off during the year 
in which they are identified. Amounts that are 
receivable within 12 months from the reporting 
date are classified as current. 

  Payables from exchange transactions 
Trade payables are initially measured at cost or fair 
value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

  Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and demand deposits, and other short-term highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
a known amount of cash and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

These are initially and subsequently recorded at 
fair value. Cash and cash equivalents are classified 
as loans and receivable financial instruments. 

  Bank overdraft and borrowings 
Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially 
measured at fair value, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method. Any difference between 
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
settlement or redemption of borrowings is 
recognised over the term of the borrowings in 
accordance with the entity’s accounting policy for 
borrowing costs. 

Other financial liabilities are measured initially 
at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method. Bank 
overdraft and borrowings are classified as loans 
and payables. 

Bank overdrafts are recorded based on the facility 
utilised. Finance charges on bank overdrafts are 
expensed as incurred. 

1.6 tax 
  Current tax assets and liabilities 

In the event that tax is payable it is based on 
taxable surplus for the year. Taxable surplus differs 
from surplus as reported in the statement of 
financial performance because it excludes income 
and expenses that are taxable or tax deductible in 
other years and it further excludes items that are 
never taxable or tax deductible. 

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to 
the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the 
amount already paid in respect of current and 
prior periods exceeds the amount due for those 
periods, the excess is recognised as an asset. 

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current 
and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be paid to (recovered from) the tax 
authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period. 

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except to the extent that 
the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
which at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither accounting surplus nor taxable profit (tax 
loss). 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable surplus will be 
available against which the deductible temporary 
difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset 
is not recognised when it arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting surplus nor taxable profit (tax loss). 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
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period when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period. 

  tax expenses 
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as 
income or an expense and included in surplus or 
deficit for the period, except to the extent that the 
tax arises from: 

•	 	a transaction or event which is recognised, in 
the same or a different period, to net assets; or 

•	 	a business combination. 

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or 
credited to net assets if the tax relates to items 
that are credited or charged, in the same or a 
different period, to net assets. 

1.7 Leases 
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating 
lease if it does not transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

When a lease includes both land and building 
elements, the entity assesses the classification of 
each element separately. 

  Finance leases – lessee 
Finance leases are recognised as assets and 
liabilities in the statement of financial position 
at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the statement of 
financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

The discount rate used in calculating the present 
value of the minimum lease payments is the 
interest rate implicit in the lease. 

Minimum lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance charge and reduction of 
the outstanding liability. The finance charge is 
allocated to each period during the lease term so 
as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on 
the remaining balance of the liability. 

  Operating leases – lessee 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. The difference between the amounts 
recognised as an expense and the contractual 
payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset or liability. 

1.8 Inventories 
Inventories are initially measured at cost except 
where inventories are acquired through a non-
exchange transaction, then their costs are their fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequently inventories are measured at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and 
current replacement cost where they are held for:

•	 		distribution	at	no	charge	or	for	a	nominal	
charge; or 

•	 	consumption	in	the	production	process	of	
goods to be distributed at no charge or for a 
nominal charge. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of operations less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale, exchange or 
distribution. 

Current replacement cost is the cost the entity 
incurs to acquire the asset on the reporting date. 

The cost of inventories comprises all costs of 
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition. 

The cost of inventories of items that are not 
ordinarily interchangeable and goods or services 
produced and segregated for specific projects 
is assigned using specific identification of the 
individual costs. 

The cost of inventories is assigned using the 
weighted average cost formula. The same cost 
formula is used for all inventories having a similar 
nature and use to the entity. 

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts 
of those inventories are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which the related revenue is 
recognised. If there is no related revenue, the 
expenses are recognised when the goods are 
distributed, or related services are rendered. 
The amount of any write-down of inventories to 
net realisable value or current replacement cost 
and all losses of inventories are recognised as 
an expense in the period the write-down or loss 
occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories, arising from an increase in 
net realisable value or current replacement cost, 
are recognised as a reduction in the amount of 
inventories recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the reversal occurs. 

1.9 Impairment of cash-generating assets 
Cash-generating assets are those assets held by the 
entity with the primary objective of generating a 
commercial return. When an asset is deployed in a 
manner consistent with that adopted by a profit-
orientated entity, it generates a commercial return. 

Impairment is a loss in the future economic 
benefits or service potential of an asset, over and 
above the systematic recognition of the loss of 
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the asset’s future economic benefits or service 
potential through depreciation/(amortisation). 

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset 
is recognised in the statement of financial position 
after deducting any accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses thereon. 

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable 
group of assets held with the primary objective 
of generating a commercial return that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets 
or groups of assets. 

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly 
attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding 
finance costs and income tax expense. 

Depreciation/(Amortisation) is the systematic 
allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset 
over its useful life. 

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable 
from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing 
parties, less the costs of disposal. 

Recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-
generating unit is the higher of its fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use. 

Useful life is either: 

•	 	the	period	of	time	over	which	an	asset	is	
expected to be used by the entity; or 

•	 	the	number	of	production	or	similar	units	
expected to be obtained from the asset by the 
entity. 

1.10 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets 
Cash-generating assets are those assets held by the 
entity with the primary objective of generating a 
commercial return. When an asset is deployed in a 
manner consistent with that adopted by a profit-
orientated entity, it generates a commercial return. 

Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than 
cash-generating assets. 

Impairment is a loss in the future economic 
benefits or service potential of an asset, over and 
above the systematic recognition of the loss of 
the asset’s future economic benefits or service 
potential through depreciation/(amortisation). 

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset 
is recognised in the statement of financial position 
after deducting any accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses thereon. 

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable 
group of assets held with the primary objective 
of generating a commercial return that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows from other assets 
or groups of assets. 

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly 
attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding 
finance costs and income tax expense. 

Depreciation/(Amortisation) is the systematic 
allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset 
over its useful life. 

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable 
from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing 
parties, less the costs of disposal. 

Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-
cash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use. 

Useful life is either: 

•	 	the	period	of	time	over	which	an	asset	is	
expected to be used by the entity; or 

•	 	the	number	of	production	or	similar	units	
expected to be obtained from the asset by the 
entity. 

1.11 Share capital 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. 

Equity instruments issued by the company are 
classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into. 

Equity instruments issued by the company are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs. 

1.12  Employee benefits 
  Short-term employee benefits 

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those 
payable within 12 months after the service is 
rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick 
leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as 
medical care), are recognised in the period in which 
the service is rendered and are not discounted. 

The expected cost of compensated absences is 
recognised as an expense as the employees render 
services that increase their entitlement or, in the 
case of non-accumulating absences, when the 
absence occurs. 

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus 
payments is recognised as an expense when there 
is a legal or constructive obligation to make such 
payments as a result of past performance. 

  Defined contribution plans 
Payments to defined contribution retirement 
benefit plans are charged as an expense as they 
fall due. 
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Payments made to industry-managed (or state 
plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with 
as defined contribution plans where the entity’s 
obligation under the schemes is equivalent to 
those arising in a defined contribution retirement 
benefit plan. 

Defined contribution plans are post-employment 
benefit plans under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and 
will have no legal or constructive obligation to 
pay further contributions if the fund does not 
hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits 
relating to employee service in the current and 
prior periods. 

The company’s contributions to the defined 
contribution plans are charged to the statement 
of financial performance in the financial year to 
which they relate. 

The company’s has no further payment obligations 
once the contributions have been paid. 

  Defined benefit plans 
For defined benefit plans the cost of providing the 
benefits is determined using the projected credit 
method. 

Actuarial valuations are conducted on an annual 
basis by independent actuaries separately for each 
plan. 

Consideration is given to any event that could 
impact the funds up to end of the reporting period 
where the interim valuation is performed at an 
earlier date. 

Past service costs are recognised immediately to 
the extent that the benefits are already vested, 
and are otherwise amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the average period until the amended 
benefits become vested. 

To the extent that, at the beginning of the 
financial period, any cumulative unrecognised 
actuarial gain or loss exceeds ten percent of the 
greater of the present value of the projected 
benefit obligation and the fair value of the plan 
assets (the corridor), that portion is recognised 
in surplus or deficit over the expected average 
remaining service lives of participating employees. 
Actuarial gains or losses within the corridor are not 
recognised. 

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement 
of a defined benefit plan is recognised when the 
entity is demonstrably committed to curtailment or 
settlement. 

When it is virtually certain that another party 
will reimburse some or all of the expenditure 
required to settle a defined benefit obligation, 
the right to reimbursement is recognised as a 

separate asset. The asset is measured at fair value. 
In all other respects, the asset is treated in the 
same way as plan assets. In surplus or deficit, 
the expense relating to a defined benefit plan is 
presented as the net of the amount recognised for 
a reimbursement. 

The amount recognised in the statement of 
financial position represents the present value 
of the defined benefit obligation as adjusted 
for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and 
unrecognised past service costs, and reduces by the 
fair value of plan assets. 

Any asset is limited to unrecognised actuarial 
losses and past service costs, plus the present 
value of available refunds and reduction in future 
contributions to the plan. 

The majority of the company employees are 
members of various defined benefit plans, the 
assets of which are held in separate trustee-
administered funds. These retirement funds are 
generally funded by payments from employees, 
the company and the City of Johannesburg 
Metropolitan Municipality. 

For defined benefit plans, the accounting costs are 
assessed and charged to the statement of financial 
performance. The obligation is measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows 
using interest rates of government securities that 
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of 
the related liability. 

Any asset is limited to unrecognised actuarial 
losses, plus the present value of available refunds 
and reduction in future contributions to the plan. 

Actuarial gains and losses are charged to the 
statement of financial performance as the cost 
occur. 

  Other post-retirement obligations 
The entity provides post-retirement health care 
benefits, housing subsidies and gratuities upon 
retirement to some retirees. 

The entitlement to post-retirement health care 
benefits is based on the employee remaining in 
service up to retirement age and the completion 
of a minimum service period. The expected costs 
of these benefits are accrued over the period of 
employment. Independent qualified actuaries carry 
out valuations of these obligations. The entity 
also provides a gratuity and housing subsidy on 
retirement to certain employees. An annual charge 
to income is made to cover both these liabilities. 

1.13 Provisions and contingencies 
Provisions are recognised when: 

•	 	the	entity	has	a	present	obligation	as	a	result	of	
a past event; 
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•	 	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	resources	
embodying economic benefits or service 
potential will be required to settle the 
obligation; and 

•	 	a	reliable	estimate	can	be	made	of	the	
obligation. 

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of 
the expenditure expected to be required to settle 
the present obligation at the reporting date. 

Where the effect of time value of money is 
material, the amount of a provision is the present 
value of the expenditures expected to be required 
to settle the obligation. 

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the liability. 

Where some or all of the expenditure required to 
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by 
another party, the reimbursement is recognised 
when, and only when, it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received if the entity settles 
the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as 
a separate asset. The amount recognised for the 
reimbursement does not exceed the amount of the 
provision. 

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date 
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
Provisions are reversed if it is no longer probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits or service potential will be required, to 
settle the obligation. 

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of 
a provision increases in each period to reflect the 
passage of time. This increase is recognised as an 
interest expense. 

A provision is used only for expenditures for which 
the provision was originally recognised. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
surplus. 

Actual costing figures were used in determining 
the provision for rehabilitation of landfill sites. 
Landfill areas are rehabilitated over years and in 
accordance with the operational plans. The areas 
will stay the same in size for a number of years. 

Provision is made for estimated cost to be incurred 
on the long-term environmental obligations, 
comprising expenditure on pollution control and 
closure over the estimated life of the landfill. 

The increase in the restoration provision due to 
passage of time is recognised as interest in the 
income statements. 

The cost of ongoing programmes to prevent and 
control pollution and rehabilitate the environment 
is recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Provision are measured at the director’ best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the obligation at the reporting date, and are 
discounted to present value where the effect is 
material. 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 30. 

  Decommissioning, restoration and similar liability 
Changes in the measurement of an existing 
decommissioning, restoration and similar liability 
that result from changes in the estimated timing 
or amount of the outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential required to 
settle the obligation, or a change in the discount 
rate, is accounted for as follows: 

If the related asset is measured using the cost 
model: 

•	 	changes	in	the	liability	is	added	to,	or	deducted	
from, the cost of the related asset in the current 
period. 

•	 	the	amount	deducted	from	the	cost	of	the	
asset does not exceed its carrying amount. If 
a decrease in the liability exceeds the carrying 
amount of the asset, the excess is recognised 
immediately in surplus or deficit. 

•	 	if	the	adjustment	results	in	an	addition	to	
the cost of an asset, the entity considers 
whether this is an indication that the new 
carrying amount of the asset may not be fully 
recoverable. If there is such an indication, 
the entity tests the asset for impairment 
by estimating its recoverable amount or 
recoverable service amount, and account for 
any impairment loss, in accordance with the 
accounting policy on impairment of assets as 
described in accounting policy 1.9 and 1.10. 

If the related asset is measured using the 
revaluation model, changes in the liability alter the 
revaluation surplus or deficit previously recognised 
on that asset, so that: 

•	 	a	decrease	in	the	liability	is	credited	directly	to	
revaluation surplus in net assets, except that it 
is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent 
that it reverses a revaluation deficit on the asset 
that was previously recognised in surplus or 
deficit; and 

•	 	an	increase	in	the	liability	is	recognised	in	
surplus or deficit, except that it is debited 
directly to revaluation surplus in net assets to 
the extent of any credit balance existing in the 
revaluation surplus in respect of that asset.

The adjusted depreciable amount of the asset is 
depreciated over its useful life. Therefore, once the 
related asset has reached the end of its useful life, 
all subsequent changes in the liability is recognised 
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in surplus or deficit as they occur. This applies 
under both the cost model and the revaluation 
model.

The periodic unwinding of the discount is 
recognised in surplus or deficit as a finance cost as 
it occurs.

1.14 Revenue from exchange transactions 
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential during the reporting period when 
those inflows result in an increase in net assets, 
other than increases relating to contributions from 
owners. 

An exchange transaction is one in which the 
municipality receives assets or services, or 
has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives 
approximately equal value (primarily in the form of 
goods, services or use of assets) to the other party 
in exchange. 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could 
be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction. 

  Measurement 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of trade 
discounts and volume rebates. 

  Rendering of services 
When the outcome of a transaction involving the 
rendering of services can be estimated reliably, 
revenue associated with the transaction is 
recognised by reference to the stage of completion 
of the transaction at the reporting date. The 
outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably 
when all the following conditions are satisfied: 

•	 	the	amount	of	revenue	can	be	measured	
reliably; 

•	 	it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	or	
service potential associated with the transaction 
will flow to the entity; 

•	 	the	stage	of	completion	of	the	transaction	at	
the reporting date can be measured reliably; 
and 

•	 	the	costs	incurred	for	the	transaction	and	
the costs to complete the transaction can be 
measured reliably. 

When services are performed by an indeterminate 
number of acts over a specified time frame, 
revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the specified time frame unless there is evidence 
that some other method better represents the 
stage of completion. When a specific act is 
much more significant than any other acts, the 
recognition of revenue is postponed until the 
significant act is executed. 

When the outcome of the transaction involving the 
rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, 
revenue is recognised only to the extent of the 
expenses recognised that are recoverable. 

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction at the 
reporting date. Stage of completion is determined 
by services performed to date as a percentage of 
total services to be performed. 

1.15 Revenue from non-exchange transactions 
Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic 
benefits or service potential received and 
receivable by an entity, which represents an 
increase in net assets, other than increases relating 
to contributions from owners. 

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations 
that specify that the future economic benefits or 
service potential embodied in the asset is required 
to be consumed by the recipient as specified or 
future economic benefits or service potential must 
be returned to the transferor. 

Control of an asset arise when the entity can use 
or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its 
objectives and can exclude or otherwise regulate 
the access of others to that benefit. 

Non-exchange transactions are transactions 
that are not exchange transactions. In a non-
exchange transaction, an entity either receives 
value from another entity without directly giving 
approximately equal value in exchange, or gives 
value to another entity without directly receiving 
approximately equal value in exchange. 

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations 
that limit or direct the purposes for which a 
transferred asset may be used, but do not specify 
that future economic benefits or service potential 
is required to be returned to the transferor if not 
deployed as specified. 

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws 
or regulation, or a binding arrangement, imposed 
upon the use of a transferred asset by entities 
external to the reporting entity. 

Transfers are inflows of future economic 
benefits or service potential from non-exchange 
transactions, other than taxes. 

  Recognition 
An inflow of resources from a non-exchange 
transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as 
revenue, except to the extent that a liability is also 
recognised in respect of the same inflow. 

As the entity satisfies a present obligation 
recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow 
of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
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recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying 
amount of the liability recognised and recognises 
an amount of revenue equal to that reduction. 

  Measurement 
Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is 
measured at the amount of the increase in net 
assets recognised by the entity. 

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, 
the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises 
revenue equivalent to the amount of the asset 
measured at its fair value as at the date of 
acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise 
a liability. Where a liability is required to be 
recognised it will be measured as the best estimate 
of the amount required to settle the obligation at 
the reporting date, and the amount of the increase 
in net assets, if any, recognised as revenue. 

1.16 Comparative figures 
Where necessary, comparative figures have been 
reclassified to conform to changes in presentation 
in the current year. 

1.17 unauthorised expenditure 
Unauthorised expenditure means: 

•	 	overspending	of	a	vote	or	a	main	division	
within a vote; and 

•	 	expenditure	not	in	accordance	with	the	purpose	
of a vote or, in the case of a main division, not 
in accordance with the purpose of the main 
division. 

All expenditure relating to unauthorised 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in 

the statement of financial performance in the 
year that the expenditure was incurred. The 
expenditure is classified in accordance with the 
nature of the expense, and where recovered, it 
is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the 
statement of financial performance. 

1.18 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which 
was made in vain and would have been avoided 
had reasonable care been exercised. 

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in 
the statement of financial performance in the 
year that the expenditure was incurred. The 
expenditure is classified in accordance with the 
nature of the expense, and where recovered, it 
is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the 
statement of financial performance. 

1.19 Irregular expenditure 
Irregular expenditure is expenditure that is 
contrary to the Municipal Finance Management 
Act (Act No. 56 of 2003), the Municipal Systems 
Act (Act No. 32 of 2000), and the Public 
Office Bearers Act (Act No. 20 of 1998) or is in 
contravention of the economic entity’s supply 
chain management policy. Irregular expenditure 
is accounted for as expenditure in the statement 
of financial performance and where recovered, it 
is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the 
statement of financial performance. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2. New standards and interpretations 
2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year 

In the current year, the entity has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the 
current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/ Interpretation:

Effective date:
Years beginning 
on or after

Expected 
impact

GRAP 105: Transfers of Functions Between Entities Under Common Control 1 April 2014 None

GRAP 106: Transfers of Functions Between Entities Not Under Common Control 1 April 2014 None

GRAP 107: Mergers 1 April 2014 None

2.2 Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation these financial statements the following standards and interpretations are issued but 
not effective:

GRAP 109: Accounting by Principals and Agents Not yet effective

GRAP 20: Related Parties Not yet effective

GRAP 32: Service Concession Arrangements – Grantor Not yet effective

GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables Not yet effective

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2015 2014

3. Inventories
Equipment stock 198 192 95 686
Bin liners 1 655 423 1 679 216
Protective clothing 1 373 116 1 601 485
Consumable stock 897 837 1 390 806
Compost stock 319 463 319 463

4 444 031 5 086 656

4. Loans to/(from) shareholder
City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality – notional loans in 
respect of post-retirement benefits (non-current assets) 4.1 110 413 070 104 350 749

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality – unsecured (current 
liabilities) 4.2 119 498 902 (75 816 515)

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality – unsecured other 
loans (current assets) 4.3 369 008 195 277 426 450

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality – capex loans 
(non-current liabilities) 4.4 (302 233 383) (181 178 452)

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality – sweeping account 
(current assets) 4.5 76 622 799 (15 719 675)

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality – second unsecured 
loans (non-current liabilities) 4.6 (261 377 334) (261 377 334)

111 932 249 (152 314 777)

Non-current assets 110 413 070 104 350 749
Current assets 565 129 896 277 426 450
Non-current liabilities (563 610 717) (442 555 786)
Current liabilities – (91 536 190)

111 932 249 (152 314 777)

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of loan mentioned above. 
The entity does not hold any collateral as security.

94



Figures in Rand 2015 2014

4. Loans to/(from) shareholder continued

4.1 Notional loans 
Loans at the beginning of the year 104 350 749 99 103 244

Movement 6 062 321 5 247 505

110 413 070 104 350 749

The notional loans relate to the employee benefits obligations (refer to note 16).

4.2 unsecured
In respect of operating expenditure 119 498 902 (75 816 515)

4.3 unsecured other loans
In respect of operating expenditure 369 008 195 277 426 450

4.4 Capex loans
Loans at the beginning of the year (181 178 452) (153 913 752)

Receipts (121 054 931) (27 264 700)

(302 233 383) (181 178 452)

The terms of payments varies between 9% and 14% interest rate per annum 
and the payment terms range between 30 and 40 quarterly instalment. 
The redemption of these loans have been deferred until the solvency of the 
company has been restored. These loans relate to capital loans approved as 
part of the annual capital budget. The Urban Settlement Development Grant 
is disclosed as part of note 21.

4.5 Sweeping account
Opening balance for the year (15 719 675) 83 728 007

Movement for the year 92 342 474 (99 447 682)

76 622 799 (15 719 675)

The sweeping account represent cash that is swept on a daily basis as per 
the sweeping arrangement with the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan 
Municipality.

4.6 Second unsecured loans
Loans at the beginning of the year (261 337 334) (261 337 334)

This represents salaries paid by the shareholder on behalf of Pikitup 
Johannesburg SOC Limited, the redemption of which has been deferred until 
the solvency of the company has been restored.

5. Amount owed by SARS 
This relates to a refund in respect of the 2010 income tax assessment. 

Opening balance 1 777 917 2 138 570

Payments received – (360 653)

total 1 777 917 1 777 917

6. Receivables from non-exchange transactions 
Government grants and subsidies 15 958 153 38 923 189

Other receivables from non-exchange revenue 9 353 005 8 433 878

VAT 54 672 838 35 655 922

79 983 996 83 012 989
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

7. Consumer debtors
Gross balances

Refuse 1 271 884 773 1 191 049 082

Less: Allowance for impairment

Refuse (721 726 841) (473 785 283)

Net balance

Refuse 550 157 932 717 263 799

Refuse

Current (0 – 30 days) 26 724 888 33 017 490

31 – 60 days 43 383 992 15 496 696

61 – 90 days 70 321 101 29 263 391

91 – 120 days 40 125 664 21 976 570

121 – 365 days 369 602 287 617 509 652

550 157 932 717 263 799

The company adopted a revised doubtful debts policy during the 2015 
financial year. The new policy requires the company’s debtor’s book to be 
assessed on an individual debtor basis to evaluate whether any relevant 
impairment indicators as per the policy exist. Once such impairment indicators 
have been identified, an assessment has to be made on whether such 
indicators necessitate the impairment of the debt in the company’s accounting 
records. Once impairment is established, the total debt of the debtor must be 
impaired. The previous policy assumed impairment to be applied based upon 
the age buckets of the debt.

Reconciliation of allowance for impairment

Balance at the beginning of the year (473 785 283) (194 115 241)

Movement in allowance (247 941 558) (279 670 042)

(721 726 841) (473 785 283)

8. Cash and cash equivalents 
The company has a sweeping arrangement with the City of Johannesburg 
Metropolitan Municipality whereby all cash is swept on a daily basis to the 
City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality’s bank account. Petty cash 
is reflected as being on hand. The cash owed to the company by the City of 
Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality is reflected as an amount due from 
the shareholder. 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of: 

Cash on hand 53 941 10 329 438
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Figures in Rand
Cost/

valuation

Accumulated
depreciation

and
accumulated
impairment

Carrying 
value

9. Property, plant and equipment
2015

Land 3 972 399 – 3 972 399

Buildings 207 023 768 (93 255 625) 113 768 143

Plant and machinery 63 508 021 (23 361 656) 40 146 365

Furniture and fixtures 14 647 504 (5 308 156) 9 339 348

Motor vehicles 266 539 226 (73 321 270) 193 217 956

Office equipment 12 360 660 (12 013 903) 346 757

IT equipment 15 515 348 (3 661 916) 11 853 432

Landfill sites 515 996 974 (222 980 315) 293 016 659

Bins and containers 262 612 250 (190 761 614) 71 850 636

Cell phones 370 736 (230 879) 139 857

Signage 5 841 250 (3 164 481) 2 676 769

total 1 368 388 136 (628 059 815) 740 328 321

2014

Land 3 972 399 – 3 972 399

Buildings 190 777 014 (93 204 531) 97 572 483

Plant and machinery 27 196 338 (19 530 700) 7 665 638

Furniture and fixtures 14 457 558 (4 750 508) 9 707 050

Motor vehicles 193 909 247 (45 924 059) 147 985 188

Office equipment 12 792 767 (12 145 180) 647 587

IT equipment 14 945 227 (6 943 353) 8 001 874

Landfill sites 579 146 634 (224 327 483) 354 819 151

Bins and containers 239 944 748 (190 722 964) 49 221 784

Cell phones 754 593 (188 653) 565 940

Signage 6 032 554 (3 143 285) 2 889 269

total 1 283 929 079 (600 880 716) 683 048 363
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued

9. Property, plant and equipment continued

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 

Figures in Rand
Opening
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation total

2015

Land 3 972 399 – – – 3 972 399

Buildings 97 572 483 22 859 907 – (6 664 247) 113 768 143

Plant and machinery 7 665 638 37 475 237 – (4 994 510) 40 146 365

Furniture and fixtures 9 707 050 305 484 (9 261) (663 925) 9 339 348

Motor vehicles 147 985 188 91 009 496 – (45 776 728) 193 217 956

Office equipment 647 587 – (15 029) (285 801) 346 757

IT equipment 8 001 874 5 649 408 (444 484) (1 353 366) 11 853 432

Landfill sites 354 819 151 40 656 384 (61 095 624) (41 363 252) 293 016 659

Bins and containers 49 221 784 28 064 841 – (5 435 989) 71 850 636

Cell phones 565 940 – (82 820) (343 263) 139 857

Signage 2 889 269 34 535 – (247 035) 2 676 769

total 683 048 363 226 055 292 (61 647 218) (107 128 116) 740 328 321

2014

Land 3 972 399 – – – 3 972 399

Buildings 99 336 400 4 849 235 – (6 613 152) 97 572 483

Plant and machinery 3 228 528 5 600 664 – (1 163 554) 7 665 638

Furniture and fixtures 4 272 706 5 881 012 – (446 668) 9 707 050

Motor vehicles 77 277 864 89 086 841 – (18 379 517) 147 985 188

Office equipment 918 283 27 274 – (297 970) 647 587

IT equipment 6 447 554 2 743 715 – (1 189 395) 8 001 874

Landfill sites 352 254 039 45 275 532 – (42 710 420) 354 819 151

Bins and containers 41 021 715 13 597 408 – (5 397 339) 49 221 784

Cell phones – 754 593 – (188 653) 565 940

Signage 2 782 084 333 024 – (225 839) 2 889 269

total 591 511 572 168 149 298 (76 612 507) 683 048 363

The following leased assets are included in property, plant and equipment listed above:

Figures in Rand
Cost/

valuation
Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying 
value

2015

Motor vehicles 195 110 607 (45 963 465) 149 147 142

2014

Motor vehicles 104 822 406 (27 544 542) 77 277 864
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9. Property, plant and equipment continued

Details of properties

Freehold land and buildings is carried at historical cost. The title deeds are registered in the name of the City of 
Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality. A process has commenced to transfer ownership into the name of the 
company.

Freehold land and buildings to the value of R119.7 million were purchased from the City of Johannesburg 
Metropolitan Municipality in terms of the sale of business agreement dated 15 November 2001.

Reconciliation of Capital work-in-Progress

Figures in Rand

Included 
within 

infrastructure

Included 
within

 other PPE total

2015

Opening balance 33 868 257 20 761 671 54 629 928

Additions/capital expenditure 40 656 384 24 826 599 65 482 983

74 524 641 45 588 270 120 112 911

2014

Opening balance 7 458 178 11 424 706 18 882 884

Additions/capital expenditure 26 410 079 9 336 965 35 747 044

33 868 257 20 761 671 54 629 928

Figures in Rand
Cost/

valuation

Accumulated
amortisation

and
accumulated
impairment

Carrying 
value

10. Intangible assets
2015

Computer software 28 589 586 (21 851 933) 6 737 653

2014

Computer software 33 112 205 (21 638 221) 11 473 984

Reconciliation of intangible assets

Figures in Rand
Opening
balance Additions Amortisation total

2015

Computer software 11 473 984 – (4 736 331) 6 737 653

2014

Computer software 14 370 343 1 626 260 (4 522 619) 11 473 984
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued

11. Investment in associate

Figures in Rand 
Listed/

Unlisted

% holding Carrying amount

2015 2014 2015 2014

Name of entity

Friedshelf 128 (Pty) Limited 50.00% 50.00% 20 045 625 18 108 143

The carrying amounts of associates are shown net of impairment losses.

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

Movements in carrying value

Opening balance 18 108 143 15 847 385

Share of surplus included in statement of financial performance 1 937 482 2 260 758

20 045 625 18 108 143

Summary of controlled entity’s interest in associate

Total assets 44 922 281 41 407 313

Total liabilities (6 219 896) (6 871 530)

Revenue 6 014 405 5 641 650

Surplus/(deficit) 4 166 602 4 193 478

Associates with different reporting dates
The financial year-end of the associate is the last day of February. The year-ends of the two entities are more than 
three months apart. The entity made estimates to the accounts of the associate to bring the two year-ends in line 
with each other.

Revaluations are performed by the directors who have extensive experience in the location and category of the 
investment property being valued.

12. Financial assets by category 
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 

Figures in Rand
Loans and

receivables total

2015

Loans to shareholder 675 542 966 675 542 966

Investment of associate 20 045 626 20 045 626

Receivables from non-exchange transactions 79 983 996 79 983 996

Consumer debtors 550 157 932 550 157 932

1 325 730 520 1 325 730 520

2014

Loans to shareholder 381 777 199 381 777 199

Investment in associates 18 108 143 18 108 143

Receivables from non-exchange transactions 83 012 989 83 012 989

Consumer debtors 717 263 799 717 263 799

1 200 162 130 1 200 162 130
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Figures in Rand 2015 2014

13. Finance lease obligation
Minimum lease payments due

– within one year 61 572 083 45 404 096

– in second to fifth year inclusive 182 468 322 129 640 655

244 040 405 175 044 751

Less: Future finance charges (46 635 851) (35 737 791)

Present value of minimum lease payments 197 404 554 139 306 960

Present value of minimum lease payments due

– within one year 34 878 795 32 683 030

– in second to fifth year inclusive 162 525 760 106 623 928

197 404 555 139 306 958

Current liabilities 44 307 255 32 683 030

Non-current liabilities 153 097 299 106 623 928

 197 404 554 139 306 958

The entity leases motor vehicles under a finance lease arrangement with 
the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality.

The lease terms varies between 6 – 10 years and the interest rate was 10% 
(2014: 10%).

The depreciation and finance charges relating to the leased assets is included 
as part of the total depreciation and finance charges respectively.

 

14. Payables from exchange transactions
Trade payables 202 353 890 100 681 710

Accrued leave pay 62 073 903 50 641 040

Accrued bonus 17 805 154 19 182 196

Sundry creditors 207 534 753 136 554 539

489 767 700 307 059 485

15. Employee benefit obligations
Defined benefit plan

Post-retirement benefit plan 

Post-retirement medical aid plan (6 639 997) (5 771 000)

Post-retirement housing plan (29 032) (15 000)

Post-retirement gratuity plan (83 055 743) (102 468 932)

(89 724 772) (108 254 932)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued

15. Employee benefit obligations continued

Post-retirement medical aid plan

Pikitup Johannesburg (SOC) Limited has an obligation to subsidise medical aid contributions in respect of certain 
qualifying staff and pensioners and their surviving spouses. Only pensioners and employees who, on 1 July 2003, 
were aged 50 or older and were members of Lamaf (previously called Jomed) and Munimed medical schemes are 
entitled to this benefit.

The above liability is unfunded. However, the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality has undertaken 
to cover such portion of the liability for the staff of Pikitup Johannesburg (SOC) Limited who are entitled to 
benefits that relate to their service with Pikitup Johannesburg (SOC) Limited since the company’s establishment. 
This amount was determined at 1 July 2003 and has been crystallised in the form of a notional loan account which 
earned interest of R517 000 (2014: R415 000) and against which the company may claim benefit payments made. 
This loan does not constitute an asset and, in terms of GRAP 25, cannot be off-set against the liability.

The City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality operates six accredited medical aid schemes, namely 
Global Health, Hosmed, Munimed, Bonitas, Samwumed and LA Health Pensioner.

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

The fair value of plan assets includes:

Movements for the year

Opening balance (5 771 000) (5 208 000)

Net expense recognised in statement of financial performance (868 997) (563 000)

(6 639 997) (5 771 000)

Net expense recognised in statement of financial performance

Past service cost (168 000) (176 000)

Interest (517 000) (415 000)

Actuarial (gains)/losses (375 012) 28 000

Benefits paid 191 015 –

(868 997) (563 000)

Notional loan account

Opening balance 11 708 354 11 119 573

Interest 697 167 588 781

Amount paid by CoJ (191 015) –

12 214 506 11 708 354

Key assumption used on last valuation

Assumption used on last valuation on 30 June 2015

Discount rate used 6.08% 5.00%

102



15. Employee benefit obligations continued

Post-retirement housing subsidy plan 

Pikitup Johannesburg (SOC) Limited provides housing subsidies in respect of certain qualifying staff members. 
In the event that the housing loan that the subsidy relates to is not fully repaid at retirement date, the subsidy 
will continue into the member’s retirement. The subsidy amount is based on the subsidy being received at the 
date of valuation. The subsidy amount is assumed to remain constant and to continue for a period of 10 years 
after retirement. 

The above liability is unfunded. However, the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality has undertaken 
to cover such portion of the liability for the staff of Pikitup Johannesburg (SOC) Limited who are entitled to 
benefits that relate to their service with the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality since the company’s 
establishment. This amount was determined at 1 July 2003 and has been crystallised in the form of a notional 
loan account which earned interest of R1 000 (2014: R1 000) and against which the company may claim benefit 
payments made. This loan does not constitute an asset and, in terms of GRAP 25, cannot be off-set against the 
liability. 

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position 

The fair value of plan assets includes: 

Movement for the year

Opening balance (15 000) (14 000)

Net expense recognised in the statement of financial performance (14 032) (1 000)

(29 032) (15 000)

Net expenses recognised in the statement of financial performance

Interest (1 000) (1 000)

Actuarial (gain)/losses (13 032) –

(14 032) (1 000)

Key assumptions used

Assumption used on the last valuation on 30 June 2015

Discounting rate 6.08% 5.00%
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued

15. Employee benefit obligations continued

Post-retirement gratuity plan

Pikitup Johannesburg (SOC) Limited provides gratuities on retirement or prior to death in respect of certain 
qualifying staff members who have been in the service of the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality or 
Pikitup Johannesburg (SOC) Limited when they were not members of one of the retirement funds and who meet 
certain service requirements in terms of The City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality since the company’s 
establishment. This amount was determined at 1 July 2003 and has been crystallised in the form of a notional loan 
account which earned interest of R5 556 169 (2014: R4 478 359) and against which the company may claim benefit 
payments made. This loan does not constitute a plan asset and, in terms of GRAP 25, cannot be off-set against the 
liability.

The plan is a post-retirement gratuity benefit plan.

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

The fair value of plan assets includes:

Movement for the year

Opening balance (102 468 932) (94 901 932)

Net expense recognised in the statement of financial performance 19 413 189 (7 567 000)

(83 055 743) (102 468 932)

Net expense recognised in the statement of financial performance

Interest (8 800 000) (7 327 000)

Actuarial (gains)/losses 28 213 189 (2 599 993)

Benefits paid – 2 359 993

19 413 189 (7 567 000)

Notional loan

Opening balance 92 642 395 87 983 450

Interest 5 556 169 4 658 945

98 198 564 92 642 395

Key assumption used

Assumptions used on 30 June 2015

Discount rate used 6.08% 5.00%

Pension benefits

Post-retirement liability

Post-retirement medical aid plan (6 639 997) (5 771 000)

Post-retirement housing subsidy plan (29 032) (15 000)

Retirement gratuity (83 055 743) (102 468 932)

(89 724 772) (108 254 932)

Defined contribution plan

It is the policy of the entity to provide retirement benefits to all its employees. 
A number of defined contribution provident funds, all of which are subject to 
the Pension Funds Act, exist for this purpose.

The entity is under no obligation to cover any unfunded benefits.

The total economic entity contribution to such schemes 88 322 750 66 173 530

Included in the defined contribution plan information above, is the following plan(s) which is/(are) a multi-
employer fund(s) and is/(are) a defined benefit plan(s), but due to the fact that sufficient information is not 
available to enable the entity to account for the plan(s) as a defined benefit plan(s), the entity accounted for this/
(these) plan(s) as a defined contribution plan(s):
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16. Provision 
Reconciliation of provision

Opening
balance Additions

utilised
 during the

 year

Reversed
 during the

 year

Change in
 discount

 factor total

2015

Provision for employee 
settlements 1 162 725 (352 725) – – 810 000

Performance bonus 10 055 393 – 10 289 656 (8 578 653) – 11 766 396

Environmental 
rehabilitation: 
Closed landfill site 144 459 176 – – (1 195 105) 8 077 674 151 341 745

Environmental 
rehabilitation: 
Open landfill sites 425 226 530 – – (61 095 623) 23 746 923 387 877 830

Fleet provision 19 676 516 – – – – 19 676 516

600 580 340 – 9 936 931 (70 869 381) 31 824 597 571 472 487

2014

Legal proceedings – 1 162 725 – – – 1 162 725

Performance bonus 7 687 641 – 8 055 393 (5 687 641) – 10 055 393

Escalation on contracts 63 204 – (63 204) – – –

Environmental 
rehabilitation: 
Closed landfill site 142 229 042 – – (5 016 435) 7 246 569 144 459 176

Environmental 
rehabilitation: 
Open landfill sites 386 660 715 18 865 452 – – 19 700 363 425 226 530

Fleet provisions – 19 676 516 – – – 19 676 516

536 640 602 39 704 693 7 992 189 (10 704 076) 26 946 932 600 580 340

Non-current liabilities (landfill rehabilitation) 551 064 234 569 685 706

Current liabilities 20 408 253 30 894 634

571 472 487 600 580 340

On an annual basis, management has to determine an accurate estimate of the environmental obligation to 
rehabilitate the various landfill sites upon closure. During this process management placed reliance upon the final 
Landfill Airspace Estimation Report as compiled by an independent consulting engineer for the technical data 
utilised in the provision and lifespan estimates.

The calculations of the landfill rehabilitation are based on the following assumptions in line with the permits 
requirements and consistent with prior years:

•	 the	final	side	slopes	for	each	landfill	are	1:3;	

•	 the	cover	to	waste	ratio	is	1:5	for	each	site;

•	 the	growth	rates	for	each	site	are	based	on	zero	growth;

•	 	the	final	landfill	footprint	extends	over	the	entire	landfill	property	size	(excluding	infrastructure	and	a	
20-metre buffer zone between the site boundary and the toe of the landfill; and

•	 	the	density	of	the	waste	is	calculated	using	both	the	survey	and	weighbridge	data.

The final landfill airspace estimation was performed by the topographical surveyor appointed by the company. He 
has extensive experience in the field and an Advance Mine Survey Certificate – M3.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued

17. Financial liabilities by category 
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 

Figures in Rand

Financial
 liabilities at 

amortised cost total

2015 

Loans from shareholder 563 610 717 563 610 717

Payables from exchange transactions 489 767 700 489 767 700

1 053 378 417 1 053 378 417

2014

Loans from shareholder 534 091 976 534 091 976

Payables from exchange transactions 307 059 486 307 059 486

 841 151 462 841 151 462

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

18. Share capital
Authorised

1 000 ordinary shares of R1 each 1 000 1 000

Issued

1 000 ordinary shares of R1 each 1 000 1 000

19. Service charges
Service charges 1 215 815 497 1 141 048 329

20. Revenue
Service charges 1 215 815 497 1 141 048 329

Rental facilities and equipment 244 820 275 959

Miscellaneous other revenue 21 697 239 5 905 079

Interest received – investment 6 727 311 2 114 384

Government grants and subsidies 608 007 861 603 748 217

Fair-value adjustments 64 266 361 43 326 255

1 916 759 089 1 796 418 223

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services 
are as follows:

Service charges 1 215 815 497 1 141 048 329

Rental facilities and equipment 244 820 275 959

Miscellaneous other revenue 21 697 239 5 905 079

Interest received – investment 6 727 311 2 114 384

1 244 484 867 1 149 343 751

The amount included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions is 
as follows: 

Government grants and subsidies 608 007 861 603 748 217

Fair-value adjustments 64 266 361 43 326 255

672 274 222 647 074 472
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Figures in Rand 2015 2014

21. Government grants and subsidies
Operating grants

SETA grant 1 091 482 2 584 550

Operating grants from CoJ 592 918 000 567 020 519

594 009 482 569 605 069

Capital grants

USDG grant 13 998 379 34 143 148

13 998 379 34 143 148

608 007 861 603 748 217

 

22. Operating surplus 
Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following: 

Operating lease charges 

Premises 

– Contractual amounts 7 507 403 7 089 786

Amortisation on intangible assets 4 736 331 4 522 619

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 107 128 118 76 612 608

Employee costs 808 071 941 764 632 332

 

23. Employee-related costs
Basic salaries 552 647 395 528 240 382

Hostel charges 5 045 775 4 308 200

Provident fund contributions 18 253 20 522

Uniforms and protective clothing 8 246 878 8 171 500

Housing benefits and allowances 1 117 572 1 037 749

Overtime payments 54 215 247 53 973 017

Bonus 44 670 820 36 783 042

Hostel recoveries (1 178 087) (249 205)

UIF 5 591 578 5 450 505

WCA 6 390 899 5 130 724

SDL 6 524 334 6 176 540

Leave pay provision charge 16 725 088 6 050 507

Other allowances 3 687 276 3 028 572

Bargaining council levies 374 045 367 370

Gratuities 10 124 627 5 646 442

Unfunded liabilities – Pension funds (27 657 145) (2 439 153)

Defined contribution plans (note 15) 88 322 750 66 173 530

Acting allowances 2 150 311 1 640 223

Public holiday allowance 10 438 649 11 686 597

Casual locomotions 1 409 074 933 056

Permanent locomotions 18 212 660 16 533 890

Casual services 993 942 5 968 322

808 071 941 764 632 332
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

24. Depreciation and amortisation
Property, plant and equipment 107 128 118 76 612 608

Intangible assets 4 736 331 4 522 619

111 864 449 81 135 227

25. Finance costs
Shareholder’s loan account 19 187 579 16 517 320

Interest on fair-value adjustments of expenditure 1 837 085 1 941 703

Interest paid on sweeping 87 232 –

Finance leases 12 619 124 10 684 169

Interest unwinding on rehabilitation of landfill 31 824 597 26 946 932

Net landfill rehabilitation adjustment and other interest 1 166 962 8 988 197

66 722 579 65 078 321

26. Auditors’ remuneration
Internal 1 604 415 297 997

External 2 465 319 2 008 498

4 069 734 2 306 495

 

27. Cash used in operations
(Deficit)/surplus (55 492 645) 549 523 378

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 111 864 449 81 135 227

Adjustment on property, plant and equipment (91 009 496) (89 086 841)

Adjustment on landfills (61 095 624) 18 865 452

Income from equity-accounted investments (1 937 482) (2 260 758)

Finance costs – finance leases 12 619 124 10 684 169

Debt impairment (488 617 092) (279 670 242)

Movements in retirement benefit assets and liabilities (18 530 160) 8 131 000

Movements in provisions (29 107 853) 63 939 738

Movement in tax receivable and payable – 360 653

Changes in working capital:

Inventories 642 625 1 097 457

Consumer debtors (314 964 438) (923 998 625)

Other receivables from non-exchange transactions 3 028 993 (16 037 968)

Payables from exchange transactions (184 547 240) (84 550 732)

(1 117 146 839) (661 868 092)

28. tax refunded
Balance at the beginning of the year 1 777 917 2 138 570

Balance at the end of the year (1 777 917) (1 777 917)

– 360 653
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Figures in Rand 2015 2014

29. Commitments
Commitments in respect of capital expenditure:

Authorised and not yet contracted for

Property, plant and equipment 29 975 797 158 557 000

Landfills and associated environmental assets 2 045 000 32 600 000

32 020 797 191 157 000

Authorised and contracted for

Property, plant and equipment 76 924 203 9 893 000

this expenditure will be financed from:

CoJ loans 106 900 000 187 050 000

Government grants 2 045 000 14 000 000

108 945 000 201 050 000

The commitments relates to the approved capital budget for 2015/16 financial year. The amount disclosed as 
authorised and contracted for relates to multi-year projects where capital funds have already been committed.

 

30. Contingencies 
Economic entity

Freehold land, buildings and servitudes purchased from the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality in 
terms of the sale of business agreement, have not as yet been transferred into the name of Pikitup Johannesburg 
SOC Limited. Transfer duties might be payable by the company on the transfer of property. It is not possible to 
estimate an expected amount. 

The company has a contingent liability to the value of R3.109 million in the main relating to disputed claims with 
respect to service providers. 

31. Related parties 
Relationships

Directors Refer to Directors’ report

Controlling entity City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality

Other members of the Group City of Joburg Property Company SOC Limited

City Power Johannesburg SOC Limited

Johannesburg City Parks NPC

Johannesburg Development Agency SOC Limited

Johannesburg Metropolitan Bus Services SOC Limited

Johannesburg Roads Agency SOC Limited

The Johannesburg Tourism Company NPC

Johannesburg Water SOC Limited

The Metropolitan Trading Company SOC Limited

Roodepoort City Theatre NPC

Joburg Theatre SOC Limited

The Johannesburg Fresh Produce Market SOC Limited

The Johannesburg Zoo NPC

Johannesburg Social Housing Company SOC Limited

Associates Refer to note 11

Members of key management Refer to note 42
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

31. Related parties continued

Related party balances

Amounts included in loans, trade and other receivables regarding related 
parties

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality – 4 091 260

Amounts included in trade and other payables regarding related parties

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality 15 415 787 3 550 008

Johannesburg Social Housing Company SOC Limited 371 185 –

City of Johannesburg Property Company SOC Limited 78 550 –

The Johannesburg Fresh Produce Market SOC Limited 228 236 –

16 093 758 3 550 008

Loans accounts owing by related parties

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality 1 060 557 430 1 205 526 769

Loan account owing to related parties

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality 1 073 131 424 1 320 908 758

Related party transactions

Sales to related parties

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality 592 918 000 548 361 812

Johannesburg Water SOC Limited 310 500 –

Johannesburg City Parks NPC – 10 220

593 228 500 548 372 032

Purchases from related parties

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality 71 302 074 60 096 258

Johannesburg Social Housing Company SOC Limited 4 027 106 3 635 994

City of Johannesburg Property Company SOC Limited 68 903 –

Johannesburg Water SOC Limited – 156 811

The Johannesburg Fresh Produce Market SOC Limited 482 598 –

75 880 681 63 889 063

Other expenses paid to/(received from) related parties

City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality – sweeping account interest 
received (6 640 079) (4 181 284)

32. Change in estimate
Property, plant and equipment

On an annual basis, management has to determine an accurate estimate of the environmental obligations to 
rehabilitate the various landfill sites upon closure. During this process management place reliance upon the final 
landfill airspace estimation report as compiled by an independent consulting engineer for the technical data 
utilised in the provision and lifespan estimates. 

The useful life of landfill sites were estimated in 2014 to be between six and 15 years. In the current period 
management have revised their estimates to between six and 14 years. 

The useful life of the Robinson Deep landfill site changed from seven to six years. Ennerdale landfill site’s 
useful life changed from 12 to 11 years. Marie Louise landfill site’s useful life changed from six to five years. 
Goudkoppies landfill site’s useful life changed from 15 to 14 years. 
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Figures in Rand 2015 2014

33. Prior-period errors 
The retained earnings were restated due to debtor’s adjustments. 

Statement of financial position

Pikitup – Adjustment against opening accumulated deficit 5 651 799 2 855 611

Statement of financial performance

Pikitup – Expense (18 496) –

Pikitup – Revenue 5 633 299 2 855 611

5 614 803 2 855 611

The prior-period errors relate in the main to revenue for the 2013/14 and 2012/13 financial periods. These are 
amounts that were not billed in their respective periods and were identified at year-end.

34. Risk management 
Financial risk management

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including, fair-value interest rate risk, 
cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the company’s financial performance. The company is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality. Risk management is carried out by 
a central Treasury Department within the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality (company treasury) 
under policies approved by the Council. 

Liquidity risk 

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages 
liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities. 

The company’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The company 
manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities. The entity also 
receives an annual subsidy from the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality which mitigates to a large 
extent the liquidity risk of the entity. No defaults or breaches occurred during the year and the entity is in good 
standing with its payables. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, and trade receivables. The company only deposits 
cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counterparty. 

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers 
on an ongoing basis. The company is therefore exposed to credit risk. 

35. Going concern 
We draw attention to the fact that at 30 June 2015, the entity had accumulated a surplus of R124 089 344 and 
that the entity’s total assets exceed its liabilities by R167 092 152. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. 
This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

36. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Opening balance 14 228 432 12 963 497

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – current year – 1 264 935

14 228 432 14 228 432

37. Irregular expenditure
Reconciliation of irregular expenditure

Opening balance 293 442 908 291 258 364

Irregular expenditure – current year 23 423 993 2 184 544

316 866 901 293 442 908

The amount relates to the procurement of bulk containers, furniture and bin liners.

38. Supply chain management 
Deviations in accordance with Regulation 36

Paragraph 12(1)(d)(i) of Government Gazette No. 27636, issued on 30 May 2005, states that a supply chain 
management policy must provide for the procurement of goods and services by way of a competitive bidding 
process. 

Paragraph 36 of the same Gazette states that the accounting officer may dispense with the official procurement 
process in certain circumstances, provided that the accounting officer records the reasons for any deviations and 
reports them to the next meeting of the Board and includes a note to the financial statements. 

There were supply chain management deviations during the year under review resulting from various services 
procured within the entity amounting to R98 954 545. 

Emoluments

Figures in Rand 2015 2014

39. Directors’ emoluments
Dr N Mabuya 298 740 290 950

M Bahula 163 336 129 170

L Brenner 290 298 338 567

Dr P Hanekom (Chairperson) 154 069 –

LJ Matshekga 189 788 42 322

D Mondlane 154 390 197 059

Dr N Mutshekwane 118 681 203 671

Dr Y Ndema 63 070 208 303

Dr WRR Nyabeze 150 112 208 962

Adv. TD Rampai 121 676 47 612

Bp DK Adams 56 209 –

Adv. G Badela 30 419 –

SR Bogatsu 40 008 –

HAB Sutherland (retired) – 130 933

Prof. T Marwala (retired) – 59 513

1 830 796 1 857 062
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39. Directors’ emoluments continued

Executive directors and members of key management

Figures in Rand
Basic

salary

Medical
aid

contribution

Pension 
fund

contribution
travel

allowance Leave Bonus total

2015

Managing Director 1 790 398 – 153 064 342 964 – – 2 286 426

Chief Financial Officer 1 579 666 – 106 612 – – 240 698 1 926 976

Chief Operating Officer 1 259 149 27 007 97 445 72 000 – 135 465 1 591 066

Executive Director: 
Waste Management 1 485 924 – 106 612 – – 135 800 1 728 336

Executive Director: 
Commercial and Customer 
Services 223 498 6 467 11 785 – 49 317 – 291 067

Executive Director: 
Legal and Compliance 276 602 10 854 16 318 – 57 574 160 710 522 058

Executive Director: 
Corporate Service 1 580 996 43 416 110 419 – – 237 584 1 972 415

Chief Technology Officer 755 333 – 97 500 166 667 66 064 – 1 085 564

Chief Audit Executive 1 009 500 – 81 900 132 000 – – 1 223 400

Executive Director: 
Strategic Support 787 195 – 82 875 – – 12 637 882 707

Company Secretary 1 331 232 – 91 381 – – 166 848 1 589 461

12 079 493 87 744 955 911 713 631 172 955 1 089 742 15 099 476

2014

Managing Director 2 017 173 – 103 377 – – – 2 120 550

Chief Financial Officer 1 424 228 – 72 004 – – – 1 496 232

Chief Operating Officer 
(six months) 625 665 12 300 32 906 36 000 – – 706 871

Executive Director: 
Waste Management 1 404 996 – 72 004 – – – 1 477 000

Executive Director: 
Commercial and Customer 
Services 1 253 839 38 801 78 861 – – – 1 371 501

Executive Director: 
Legal and Compliance 1 161 591 42 692 61 718 – – – 1 266 001

Executive Director: 
Corporate Service 1 442 315 42 692 74 575 – – – 1 559 582

Chief Technology Officer 
(10 months) 951 250 – 48 750 – – – 1 000 000

Acting Chief Audit 
Executive 348 400 – – – – – 348 400

General Manager: 
Risk Management 718 511 – 77 040 150 000 – – 945 551

Chief Operating Officer 
(six months) 199 705 4 590 14 978 65 040 – – 284 313

General manager: 
Business Planning 1 219 579 – 62 501 – – – 1 282 080

Company Secretary 1 204 294 – 61 706 – – – 1 266 000

13 971 546 141 075 760 420 251 040 – – 15 124 081

113

PIKITUP JOHANNESBURG SOC LIMITED
2014/15 Integrated Annual Report



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015 continued

2015 2014

40. taxation
Major components of the tax expense

Current tax – 1 395 880

The income tax rate is 28%.

No provision has been made for 2015 tax as the entity has no taxable income.

41. Changes in accounting policy 
The entity consistently applied an allowance for doubtful debt in previous 
periods, however, the entity adopted a revised policy for doubtful debt in the 
current financial year which resulted in a change in the measurement basis. 
This is accounted for as a change in accounting policy in terms of GRAP 3. 
The change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively effective 
from 30 June 2014. It was not practical to apply the policy to periods prior to 
30 June 2014 as the required information was unavailable. 

The aggregate effect of the changes in accounting policy on the financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2014 is as follows: 

Statement of financial position

Consumer debtors

Previously stated – 225 264 128

Adjustment against accumulated deficit – 483 375 609

– 708 639 737

Statement of financial performance

Allowance for doubtful debts

Previously stated – 957 160 892

Adjustment – (483 375 609)

– 473 785 283

Impact on prior-year surplus as previously reported

Surplus for the year – 59 292 053

Change in accounting policy (allowance for impairment) – 483 375 609

Tax impact on surplus – (1 223 971)

Surplus restated – 541 443 691

42. Owner’s contribution
Domestic refuse – consumer debtors 43 001 808 572 014 116

Provision for bad debts – (529 012 308)

total contribution 43 001 808 43 001 808

The owner’s contribution consists of domestic refuse debtors less provision for bad debts, transferred to the entity 
on 1 July 2013. This will ensure that domestic revenue as well as the responsibility, accountability, communication 
and infrastructure relating to domestic revenue is aligned.
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Abbreviations

COID  Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases

SA GAAP  South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

GRAP  Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

IAS  International Accounting Standards

IPSAS  International Public Sector Accounting Standards

MOEs  Municipal Owned Entities

MSA  Municipal Systems Act

MFMA  Municipal Finance Management Act

CoJ  City of Johannesburg

CJMM  City of Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality

USDG  Urban Settlements Development Grant
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AUDITOR-GENERAL’S  
AUDIT FINDINGS

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

Unqualified Audit Opinion

116



Note: The Constitution Section188(1)(b) states that the functions of the Auditor-General includes auditing and reporting 
on the accounts, financial statements and financial management of all municipalities. MSA Section 45 states that the 
results of performance measurement must be audited annually by the Auditor-General.

Refer to the annual financial statements set out in Chapter 5 – Financial Performance and the timescale for the auditing 
of these accounts and the auditing of performance and the production of reports on these matters by the Auditor-
General as set out in this Chapter. 

Pikitup has received unqualified reports for the last five years with emphasis of matters raised. Most of these were 
addressed. Performance information remains a challenge and active steps have been taken to ensure compliance to 
SMART criteria as set out in the Framework for Managing Programme Performance Information. 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Audit opinion Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified unqualified

Auditor-General’s Report for the Current Year
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Report on the financial statements
Introduction
1. I have audited the financial statements of Pikitup 

Johannesburg (SOC) Limited set out on pages 78 
to 114, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of financial 
performance, statement of changes in net assets, cash 
flow statement and the statement of comparison of 
budget information with actual information for the 
year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Accounting officer’s responsibility for 
the financial statements
2. The accounting officer is responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with South African 
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
(SA standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the 
Municipal Finance Management Act of South Africa 
(Act No. 56 of 2003) (MFMA), the Companies Act of 
South Africa (Act No. 71 of 2008) (Companies Act), 
and for such internal control as the accounting officer 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility
3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on my audit. I conducted 
my audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with 
ethical requirements, and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the municipal entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the municipal entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
6. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of 
Pikitup Johannesburg SOC Limited as at 30 June 2015 
and its financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended, in accordance with SA Standards of 
GRAP and the requirements of the MFMA.

Emphasis of matters
7. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is 

not modified in respect of these matters.

Change in accounting policy
8. As disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements, 

Pikitup Johannesburg SOC Limited adopted a revised 
policy for doubtful debts in the current financial year 
which resulted in a change in the measurement basis. 
The change in accounting policy has been applied 
retrospectively effective from 1 July 2013.

Material impairments
9. As disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements, 

material impairments to the amount of R3 874 196 000 
(2014: R5 748 754 000), representing 66% (2014: 
77%) of consumer debtors, were incurred as the 
recoverability of these amounts is doubtful.

Additional matters
10. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is 

not modified in respect of these matters.

Other reports required by the 
Companies Act
11. As part of our audit of the financial statements for the 

year ended 30 June 2015, I have read the Directors’ 
report, the Audit and Risk Committee report and the 
Company Secretary’s Certificate for the purpose of 
identifying whether there are material inconsistencies 
between these reports and the audited financial 
statements. These reports are the responsibility of the 
respective preparers. Based on reading these reports, 
I have not identified material inconsistencies between 
the reports and the audited financial statements. I 
have not audited the reports and accordingly do not 
express an opinion on them.

unaudited disclosure notes
12. In terms of Section 125(2) (e) of the MFMA the 

municipal entity is required to disclose particulars 
of non-compliance with the MFMA. This disclosure 
requirement did not form part of the audit of the 

Report of the Auditor-General 
to the Gauteng Provincial Legislature and the Council of the City of Johannesburg Metropolitan 
Municipality on Pikitup Johannesburg SOC Limited
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financial statements and accordingly I do not express 
an opinion thereon.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements
13.  In accordance with the Public Audit Act of 

South Africa (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the 
general notice issued in terms thereof, I have a 
responsibility to report findings on the reported 
performance information against predetermined 
objectives for selected objectives presented in 
the annual performance report, compliance with 
legislation and internal control. The objective of my 
tests was to identify reportable findings as described 
under each subheading, but not to gather evidence to 
express assurance on these matters. Accordingly, I do 
not express an opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Predetermined objectives 
14. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the 

usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the following selected objectives 
presented in the annual performance report of the 
municipal entity for the year ended 30 June 2015:

•	 Objective	1.1:	Minimise	waste	to	landfill	on	
pages 42 to 44

•	 Objective	1.2:	Use	waste	for	poverty	alleviation	and	
job creation opportunities on pages 44 and 45

•	 Objective	2.1:	Effective	and	efficient	waste	services	
on pages 46 to 49

15. I evaluated the reported performance information 
against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability.

16. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported 
performance information to determine whether 
it was presented in accordance with the National 
Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether 
the reported performance was consistent with the 
planned objectives. I further performed tests to 
determine whether indicators and targets were well 
defined, verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound 
and relevant, as required by the National Treasury’s 
Framework for Managing Programme Performance 
Information (FMPPI).

17. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance 
information to determine whether it was valid, 
accurate and complete.

18. I did not identify material findings on the usefulness 
and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the following objectives:

•	 Objective	1.1:	Minimise	waste	to	landfill

•	 Objective	1.2:	Use	waste	for	poverty	alleviation	and	
job creation opportunities

•	 Objective	2.1:	Effective	and	efficient	waste	services

Additional matters
19.  Although I identified no material findings on the 

usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the selected objectives, I draw 
attention to the following matters:

Adjustment of material misstatements
20. I identified material misstatements in the annual 

performance report submitted for auditing of the 
reported performance information for Objective 2.1: 
Effective and efficient waste services. As management 
subsequently corrected the misstatements, I did not 
identify material findings on the usefulness and 
reliability of the reported performance information.

Achievement of planned targets
21. Refer to the annual performance report on page 57 

for information on the achievement of the planned 
targets for the year.

Compliance with legislation 
22. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that 

the municipal entity had complied with applicable 
legislation regarding financial matters, financial 
management and other related matters. I did not 
identify any instances of material non-compliance with 
specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the 
general notice issued in terms of the PAA.

Internal control
23. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of 

the financial statements, annual performance report 
and compliance with legislation.

24. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal 
control.

Other reports 
Investigations
25. An independent consulting firm performed an 

investigation at the request of the entity. 

  The investigation was initiated based on possible 
overpayments with regards to two contracts awarded 
by the entity. The investigation was concluded and 
resulted in irregular expenditure.

Johannesburg
10 November 2015
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Our review results reveal that action has been taken to address most of the audit findings identified in the Auditor-
General’s report issued in November 2014. The follow-up review reflects the following results:

Area reviewed Findings Resolved Not resolved % unresolved

Revenue 12 8 4 33

Audit of predetermined objectives 1 1 – –

Supply chain management 5 5 – –

Human resource management 2 1 1 50

Finance 9 9 – –

Information technology (IT) 6 2 4 67

total 35 (100%) 26 (74%) 9 26

Historical Audit Findings and Remedial Action

The Board:

•	 Retains	full	control	over	the	entity,	its	plans	and	strategy

•	 Acknowledges	its	responsibilities	as	to	strategy,	compliance	with	internal	policies,	external	laws	and	regulations,	
effective risk management and performance measurement, transparency and effective communication by the entity, 
both internally and externally;

•	 Is	of	a	unitary	structure	comprising:

– non-executive directors, all of whom are independent directors

– Managing Director.

Commitment by the Board of Directors
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